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MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED2

Corporate Profile

ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (“Manpower GRC” or the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the 

“Group”) provides comprehensive workforce solutions and other human resource (“HR”) services to clients located in 

each market in Greater China, namely, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC” or “China” or “Mainland China”), Hong 

Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong”), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Macau”) 

and Taiwan (collectively referred as “Greater China Region”). The Group’s largest stakeholder, ManpowerGroup Inc. 

(“MAN”), is a New York Stock Exchange-listed world leader in workforce solutions and services, which first tapped into 

the Greater China Region in 1997, when it commenced operations in Hong Kong and Taiwan and subsequently entered 

Mainland China in 2003 and Macau in 2007. As at 31 December 2023, the Group served a broad range of corporate and 

government clients in over 290 cities in the Greater China markets, operating over 40 offices.

Inheriting MAN’s global reputation, the Group, with over two decades of dedicated work, developed deep connections 

with both multinational clients and local clients doing business in the Greater China Region and achieved prominent 

brand recognition. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had served over 260 Fortune 500 companies 

and prominent local public and private employers.

Over the years, the Group has sustained a good financial performance and generated reasonable returns for its 

shareholders. On 10 July 2019, Manpower GRC was successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with the stock code 2180 (the “Listing”). Having strong support from MAN, 

Manpower GRC keeps on providing tailored solutions to its clients and expanding its business scale and market share 

and is well positioned to capture the robust growth potential in the HR services market.
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Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights

The below table sets out the key financial highlights of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023:

For the year ended 

31 December Change in

2023 2022 percentage

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) %

Revenue 5,303,592 4,588,460 15.6

Growth rate of Mainland China flexible staffing revenue 25% 23% 2

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 126,476 118,606 6.6

Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company 135,079 131,771 2.5

Average revenue generated per employee 4,124 3,315 24.4

Number of full time employees 1,286 1,384 (7.1)

Number of associates 54,000 49,200 9.8
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
2023 has been a year with challenging global economy and elevated geopolitical tensions around the world. Weaker-
than-expected demand recovery and tough market conditions have been testing our resilience and adaptability along 
the way. Despite all the difficulties, the Group continued to deliver stable and solid growth across all regions in Greater 
China, especially in its flexible staffing business in Mainland China. In addition, the Group had taken a series of active cost 
management measures through its diverse portfolio of services and had realised higher revenue and profit contribution 
from each employee.

For the past three years, the Group has been facing an increasingly competitive market under difficult macro conditions 
including negative impact of COVID and sluggish demand from clients. However, with its experienced management team, 
the Group has delivered impressive performance with total revenue generated from Mainland China in 2023 more than 
doubling that in 2020, Mainland China flexible staffing revenue delivering a solid CAGR of 30%, and all regions including 
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Taiwan achieving positive revenue growth each year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period”), the Group achieved a total revenue of RMB5,304 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 15.6% to the same period of 2022 despite a 29.1% year over year decrease of 
the recruitment and solutions segment due to weak macroeconomy and muted demand across the region. Total revenue 
derived from Mainland China recorded another year of robust growth of 21.6% compared with 2022. Revenue generated 
from the flexible staffing business segment grew by approximately 17.9% on a year over year basis to RMB5,123 million, 
of which the flexible staffing revenue from Mainland China achieved strong fast growth of 25.2% compared with the same 
period last year. Hong Kong maintained stable revenue growth of 3.4% in 2023 with overall shrinking demand, especially 
after the end of COVID-related government projects and with soft market demand pick-up. Taiwan realised revenue 
growth of 5.8% year over year despite being negatively impacted by weak economy and shift away of production.

During the Reporting Period, net profit attributable to owners of the Company increased to RMB126.5 million, 
representing a growth of approximately 6.6% year over year. Adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the Company, 
after taking into account of the stock option expenses, restricted share unit expenses, impairment losses recognised 
in respect of goodwill increased to RMB135.1 million by approximately 2.5% on a year over year basis. A final dividend 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK$0.31 per ordinary share (equivalent to RMB0.28 per ordinary share), 
representing approximately 45% of the Group’s earnings per share, has been proposed by the directors of the Company.

The Group continued to expand its service offerings in Mainland China, particularly in the flexible staffing business with 
State-Owned Enterprises (the “SOE”) clients and in the financial services sector. In addition, the Group has been building 
up its Information Technology Outsourcing (“ITO”) business and has further extended its product portfolio in the view of 
providing comprehensive services in a fast-growing market.

In line with the use of proceeds stated in the prospectus of the Company dated 27 June 2019 (the “Prospectus”), the 
Group has further expanded the scale of its flexible staffing business during the year. The total number of associates 
placed during the Reporting Period increased by 10% from approximately 49,200 at the end of 2022 to 54,000 by the 
end of 2023, among which the total number of associates placed in Mainland China grew significantly by approximately 
25.4%.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to expand into central, western, and eastern China, such as Chengdu 
and Hangzhou, and bolstered its strong market position in tier-one cities such as Shanghai, Beijing, Guangzhou and 
Hong Kong. By implementing active cost management measures and optimising operational efficiency, the Group 
achieved 24.4% growth of average revenue generated per employee on a year over year basis during the Reporting 
Period. Moreover, turnover days of trade receivables remained stable at 52 days and 52 days for the Reporting Period 
and  the same period last year respectively, thanks to the Group’s strong risk control capabilities.

In view of the industry trend of digitalisation, the Group continued to upgrade its internal technological platforms and 
infrastructure. With the optimisation of the Client Relationship Management system and the upgrade of the recruiting 
systems, the Group expects to realise further execution integration of the whole workforce solution platform from 
contract-signing to order execution and other value-adding services in order to achieve higher operational efficiency.

The Group’s efforts in providing customised and professional services to its clients in the Greater China region have been 
recognised with a number of awards, including “2023 Top 100 Human Resource Service Providers” (「2023人力資源
服務機構100強」) award by TopHR, “2023 Flexible Staffing HR Agency – White-collar Positions” (「靈活用工HR臻選服
務機構－白領崗位」) by HREC, and “2023 Asia-Pacific Human Resource Service Award – Innovation and Development 
Award” (「亞太人力資源服務獎－創新發展獎」) by Asia-Pacific Human Resources Development and Service Expo.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK & STRATEGY
Remain Cautious for 2024, More Optimistic in the Medium Term
As the effects of tightening monetary policy take a broader toll, global economic growth is likely to decelerate in 2024. 

Furthermore, trade tension between China and the U.S. and the ongoing geopolitical conflicts in the Middle East and in 

other regions all point to more uncertainties heading into 2024.

In the meantime, China’s economy continues to face problems including contraction of internal and external demand, 

increasing pressure on industrial upgrading, and continuous geopolitical disputes with the U.S.. With limited visibility of 

macroeconomic environment, the Group remains cautious about its business growth in 2024. With that said, however, 

outlook in the medium term is more optimistic on the back of a fast-growing flexible staffing industry, diversification of the 

portfolio of services, and robustness of its business model.

In terms of business performance in different regions, the Group expects continuous stable growth momentum in flexible 

staffing business in Mainland China with extended product portfolio. The outlook of Taiwan market could be further 

negatively impacted by weak economic growth in the West and geopolitical tension in the region. Hong Kong market 

might begin to show signs of recovery on the back of pick-up of economic activities in the city, but still depends on 

overall demand recovery.

Flexible Staffing Remains Our Strategic Focus in 2024
The Group’s strategic focus in 2024 will remain on flexible staffing in Mainland China with industry focus on several key 

fast-growing industries such as new energy, financial services, IT services, healthcare, and consumer & retail. The Group 

believes that it will continue to benefit from the industry growth momentum with a strong global brand and leading market 

position.

On the organic growth front, the Group is proactively expanding its client base into SOE sector, and further widening its 

business offerings and accelerating building up its ITO business to increase market share in Mainland China. In addition, 

the Group will further expand into under-penetrated regions in southern and central China while at the same time shoring 

up its market leading position in tier-one cities to gain more market share and achieve greater economies of scale.

The Group’s strategic investment in associate companies across Mainland China has made steady progress in the last 

few years. The cooperation with regional and local leading human resources companies and leaders has been helping 

the Group broaden its market reach, expand client base and take advantage of the synergy between the parties.

Going forward, the Group will continue to seek opportunities of strategic acquisition and cooperation in order to 

strengthen its leadership position in the workforce solutions market. The focus of the Group’s M&A and cooperation 

strategy will remain on businesses and opportunities with the potential to broaden the Group’s flexible staffing product 

offerings and create synergy between its different business lines.

Upgrade of Internal Technological Infrastructure, Further Investment in Our People
In 2024, the Group will continue to invest in its internal technology platform to enhance productivity and operational 

efficiency. The integration and optimisation of the recruiting systems could further improve the effectiveness of business 

development and create more synergy between different business lines and provide top-class comprehensive workforce 

solutions for our clients.

Last but not the least, the Group is determined to continue to invest in its employees and associates by providing more 

internal training programs, fostering a productive and collaborative workplace, and with combined efforts building a 

stronger brand in the Greater China region.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

KEY OPERATING METRICS
The Group provides comprehensive workforce solutions under three business lines, namely (i) flexible staffing; (ii) 

recruitment solutions (including headhunting and recruitment process outsourcing (the “RPO") services); and (iii) other HR 

services, serving corporate and government clients across the Greater China Region. The following table sets forth the 

Group’s key operating metrics for the years indicated:

For the year ended 

31 December Change in 

2023 2022 percentage

%

Flexible staffing

Number of associates placed during the year (approximately) 54,000 49,200 9.8

Number of candidates in flexible talent database (in thousands) 2,523 2,158 16.9

Recruitment solutions

Number of placements during the year 2,448 4,383 (44.1)

Number of candidates in recruitment services database 

(in thousands) 3,587 3,392 5.7

Number of recruiters 223 301 (25.9)

Overall

Number of full time employees 1,286 1,384 (7.1)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
In 2023, the Group derived its revenue primarily from (i) workforce solution services, including flexible staffing, and 

recruitment solutions, including headhunting and RPO; and (ii) other HR services, including HR consultancy services, 

training and development, career transition, payroll services as well as government solutions. The following table sets out 

a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by business line for the years indicated:

For the year ended 
31 December Change in 

percentage2023 2022
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) %

Revenue
Workforce solutions services
Flexible staffing 5,122,821 4,343,596 17.9
Recruitment solutions 157,828 222,592 (29.1)
Other HR services 22,943 22,272 3.0

Total 5,303,592 4,588,460 15.6

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 15.6% from RMB4,588.5 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022 to RMB5,303.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase was mainly attributable to the 

following:

(i) the increase in revenue generated from flexible staffing by approximately 17.9% from RMB4,343.6 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB5,122.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the 

increase in number of associates placed during the Reporting Period owing to the increasing business from key 

clients and business development from new clients in China; and

(ii) the small increase in revenue generated from other HR services by approximately 3.0% from RMB22.3 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB22.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the 

increase in revenue generated from HR consultancy service of Right Management.

Such increase was partially offset by the decrease in revenue generated from recruitment solutions by approximately 

29.1% from RMB222.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB157.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023, primarily due to the falling demand of hiring services and longer hiring cycles caused by clients’ 

cautiousness in determining the offers to candidates and candidates’ declining willingness to change jobs.

During the Reporting Period, the Group operated in the Greater China Region including the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and 

Taiwan with the PRC contributing the largest part of the Group’s total revenue. The following table sets out a breakdown 

of the Group’s revenue by geographic location for the years indicated:

For the year ended 

31 December Change in

percentage2023 2022

 (RMB’000)  (RMB’000) %

Revenue

The PRC 3,578,853 2,943,683 21.6

Hong Kong and Macau 659,048 637,180 3.4

Taiwan 1,065,691 1,007,597 5.8

Total 5,303,592 4,588,460 15.6
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 18.1% from RMB3,964.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB4,681.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase was generally in line with 

the Group’s flexible staffing revenue growth, which business accounted most of the cost.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of services. The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 0.2% from 

RMB623.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB622.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 

primarily due to the decrease in gross profit generated from recruitment solutions which exceeded the increase in gross 

profit generated from flexible staffing and other HR services.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from approximately 13.6% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 

approximately 11.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023 primarily due to the decrease in revenue generated from 

recruitment solutions which was a high margin business.

The following table sets out the Group’s gross profit margin by business line for the years indicated:

For the year ended 

31 December

2023 2022 Change

(%) (%) (%)

Workforce solutions services

Flexible staffing 9.1 9.4 (0.3)

Recruitment solutions 90.9 89.9 1.0

Other HR services 65.0 62.5 2.5

Overall 11.7 13.6 (1.9)

Selling and administrative expenses

The Group’s selling and administrative expenses primarily include (i) salaries and benefits; (ii) office expenses; (iii) others, 

including travelling, marketing and advertising expense; and (iv) share option and restricted share units expenses.

The Group’s selling expenses decreased by approximately 2.1% from RMB366.7 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022 to RMB358.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the decrease in overall expenses 

related to recruitment solutions.

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately 0.4% from RMB102.3 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB101.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the decrease in expenses 

related to share options and restricted share units granted which were partially offset by the increase in expenses related 

to investment in information technology.

The Group’s selling expenses accounted for approximately 8.0% and 6.8% of its total revenue for the years ended 31 

December 2022 and 2023, respectively, while the Group’s administrative expenses accounted for approximately 2.2% 

and 1.9% of its total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. Both decreases were 

mainly due to the effective cost control implemented by the Group and improvement in operation efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Other income

The Group’s other income primarily includes interest income on bank deposits, dividend income from equity instruments 

at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), government grants and others. The Group’s other income 

increased by approximately 19.1% from RMB16.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB19.2 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily attributable to the increase in interest income on bank deposits.

Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains and losses consist of net exchange gains, impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill, 

other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and others. The Group recorded other gains of RMB6.6 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2022 and RMB4.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was 

primarily attributable to the decrease in net exchange gains earned from the appreciation of USD dollars to New Taiwan 

dollars, while there was a decrease in impairment losses recognised in respect of other intangible assets.

Share of profit of associates

The Group’s share of profit of associates amounted to RMB3.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense primarily consists of China enterprise income tax payable, Hong Kong profits tax 

payable, Macau complementary tax payable and Taiwan income tax payable by its subsidiaries in the respective 

locations.

The Group’s income tax expense decreased by approximately 6.5% from RMB40.6 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB38.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group’s effective income tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately 20.6%, compared to 

approximately 23.1% for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily because a subsidiary of the Group in China has 

been accredited as a High and New Technology Enterprise which was eligible for a preferential corporate income tax rate 

of 15% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company increased by 

approximately 6.6% from RMB118.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB126.5 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023.

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

The Group’s adjusted profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (excluding expenses in relation to stock 

options and restricted share units granted and impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill, other intangible 

assets, property, plant and equipment) increased by approximately 2.5% from RMB131.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB135.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Non-GAAP (Generally-accepted accounting principles) financial measure

Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company is a non-GAAP measure used by the management of the Group to 

provide additional information on its operating performance and is not a standard measure under International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company takes out the expense in relation 

to stock options and restricted share units granted during the year and the impairment losses recognised in respect 

of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, which are not indicators for evaluating the actual 

performance of the Group’s business. The management of the Group believes that such a non-GAAP measure provides 

additional information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating the consolidated results of operations in 

the same manner as the management of the Group. The following table sets forth a reconciliation between the profit for 

the year and the adjusted profit for the year:

For the year ended 

31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 126,476 118,606

Adjustment for:

Expense in relation to stock options and restricted share units granted 7,694 10,423

Impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill, other intangible assets, 

property and equipment 909 2,742

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 135,079 131,771

The definitions of adjusted profit should not be considered in isolation or be construed as an alternative to profit for the 

year or any other standard measure under IFRSs or as an indicator of operating performance. Adjusted profit of the 

Group may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Group expects to continue meeting its operating capital, capital expenditure and other capital needs with proceeds 

from the Listing and cash generated from operations. The Group currently does not have any plans for material additional 

external debt or equity financing and will continue to evaluate potential financing opportunities based on its need for 

capital resources and market conditions.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets amounted to RMB1,011.1 million (31 December 2022: 

RMB926.7 million). Specifically, the Group’s total current assets increased from RMB1,650.5 million as at 31 December 

2022 to RMB1,827.2 million as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s total current liabilities increased from RMB723.8 

million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB816.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase in net current assets was 

mainly due to the increase in trade receivables which was the result from the increase of flexible staffing business.

Cash position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash, together with its restricted bank deposits, time 

deposits with original maturity over three months of RMB984.1 million (31 December 2022: RMB937.8 million). The 

increase in bank balances and cash was primarily due to the cash inflow from operating activities which was partially 

offset by the dividend distribution.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had lease liabilities of RMB39.8 million (31 December 2022: RMB55.9 million). The 

Group had no bank loans or convertible loans during the Reporting Period and as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 

2022: Nil). As a result, the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total bank and other borrowings divided by total equity) as 

at 31 December 2023 was not calculated (31 December 2022: Nil).

Pledge of assets

As disclosed under the section headed “Contingent Liabilities”, as at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledged its time 

deposit in an amount of RMB49.0 million.

Financial risks

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including currency risk, interest rate risk, other price risk, 

credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management and has not 

used any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes.

Currency risk

The inter-company balances of the Company and certain subsidiaries are denominated in US$ which are exposed to 

foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Group will 

closely monitor its foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign currency exposure should 

the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to the Group’s fixed-rate time deposits with original 

maturity over three months and lease liabilities. The Group also exposes to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to 

variable rate restricted bank deposits and bank balances. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments to 

hedge any interest rate risks. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising 

from interest rate movements based on the current interest rate level and outlook.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its unquoted investments measured at FVTOCI. The Group has 

appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk relates primarily to trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from related 

companies and non-controlling shareholders, restricted bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three 

months and bank balances. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty and by geographical 

region. The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, Hong Kong and 

Macau and Taiwan, which accounted for 70%, 18% and 12% of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2023, 

respectively. The Directors believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of 

financial assets included in other receivables, amounts due from related companies and non-controlling shareholders, 

restricted bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities 

and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 

liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

KEY FINANCIAL RATIO
As at 31 December 2023, the current ratio (calculated as total current assets divided by the total current liabilities) of the 

Group was 2.2 times (31 December 2022: 2.3 times).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding surety bonds of RMB49.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB9.7 

million), comprising restricted bank deposits, all of which were pledged as required by certain clients of the Group.

COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant capital and other commitments, long-term obligations 

or guarantee (31 December 2022: Nil).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS
Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding 

loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities, borrowings or other similar 

indebtedness, liabilities under acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages, 

charges, finance leases or hire purchase commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
AND JOINT VENTURES
During the Reporting Period, there were no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies and 

joint ventures by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP
The Group had no significant investments with a value of 5% or above of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 

2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
The Group has no concrete plan for future investments or acquisition of capital assets in place as at the date of this 

annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING
Net proceeds from the Listing (including the exercise of the over-allotment option), after deducting the underwriting 

commission and other estimated expenses in connection with the Listing which the Company received amounted to 

approximately RMB458.2 million. Up to the date of this report, the net proceeds received from the Listing have been used 

and will continue to be used, in a manner consistent with the proposed allocation in the Prospectus with adjustment in 

expected timeline as disclosed below.
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CHANGE OF TIMELINE IN USE OF NET PROCEEDS
Throughout the year in 2023, the Group continued to stay cautious in its development and investment plan after carefully 

considered the ongoing and potentially escalating regional geopolitical tensions, an uncertain global economic outlook, 

and the pressures of re-balancing the economy of Mainland China under the dual circulation policy.

According to the announcement of the Company on 30 March 2021, the Board has resolved to postpone the timeline 

of the unutilised net proceeds to 31 December 2022. According to the announcement of the Company dated 29 March 

2023, the Board has resolved to further postpone the timeline of the unutilised net proceeds from 31 December 2022 to 

31 December 2023. Bearing unforeseen circumstances and adaptability of business to the global economy recovery from 

the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company expects that additional time is required for research and development and future 

investments, strategic mergers and investment and brand building and digital marketing to negotiate with the prospective 

targets and assess their business and financial performance on a conservative basis. According to the announcement 

of the Company dated 28 March 2024, after due and careful consideration of the latest developments, the Board has 

resolved to further extend the timeline for use of the unutilised net proceeds to 31 December 2025. The table below sets 

forth the details of utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2023 and the updated expected timeline for the 

intended use of the unutilised net proceeds:

Categories Specific Plans

Expected
timeline as
stated in the
Prospectus (Note)

Planned use of
net proceeds

as stated in the
Prospectus and

after considering
the additional
net proceeds

from the
exercise of

over-allotment
option

Unutilised
proceeds as at

1 January
2023

Proceeds
utilised during

the financial
year ended

31 December
2023

Actual use of
net proceeds

up to
31 December

2023

Unutilised
net proceeds

as at
31 December

2023

Expected timeline for
fully utilising the
remaining 
proceeds (Note)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Business expansion Expand our business scale 
and market share

12 to 24 months from 
10 July 2019 
(the “Listing Date”)

137,451
(30% of total

net proceeds)

– – 137,451 –

Research and development Invest in a digital workforce 
platform

12 to 24 months from 
the Listing Date

137,451
(30% of total

net proceeds)

89,496 7,789 55,744 81,707 On or before 31 
December 2025

Future investments, strategic 
mergers and investment

Pursue strategic acquisition 
and acquisitions 
opportunities

12 to 24 months from 
the Listing Date

114,527
(25% of total

net proceeds)

80,277 4,000 38,250 76,277 On or before 31 
December 2025

Brand building and digital 
marketing

Investment in offline brand 
building and digital 
marketing to increase 
brand awareness

12 to 24 months from 
the Listing Date

22,924
(5% of total

net proceeds)

7,287 5,621 21,258 1,666 On or before 31 
December 2024

Working capital Working capital and other 
general corporate 
purposes

– 45,847
(10% of total

net proceeds)

– – 45,847 –

Total 458,200
(100% of total
net proceeds)

177,060 17,410 298,550 159,650

Note: The expected timeline for the application of the unutilised net proceeds is based on the best estimate of the future market conditions 
made by the Group. The Directors will reassess the Group’s business objectives and use of proceeds from time to time, and may revise or 
amend such plans where necessary, to ensure it aligns with the Group’s business strategies factoring in the changing market conditions.

As at the date of this report, there has not been any material change to the plan as to the categories of use of the net 

proceeds and the revised expected timeline for unutilised net proceeds will not have any material adverse impact on the 

operations of the Group.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY
The Group’s employees include its own employees and associates. Own employees refer to the employees for the 

Group’s operations, including finance and information technology and excluding those for flexible staffing assignments. 

Associates refer to those who are assigned to work on client premises, typically under client instruction and supervision 

during the term of deployment. As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 1,286 full-time own 

employees and approximately 54,000 associates.

The Group offers its own employees remuneration packages that include salary and bonuses, and determines employee 

remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and years of experience. The Group’s own employees also receive 

welfare benefits, including medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury insurance and other miscellaneous items. 

The Group has established labor unions in the PRC to protect employees’ rights, help the Group achieve its economic 

goals and encourage employees to participate in its management decisions.

The Group’s associates, who are employed on a contract basis, are cross-trained in multiple aspects of staffing as the 

Group provides relevant training to help associates adapt to clients’ positions quickly, including trainings on computer 

skills and other soft skills. Such training equips the associates with the ability to assist the Group’s clients in different 

positions and departments, and helps them find better positions through talent upskill.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 June 2019 as an incentive for eligible employees and Directors of the 

Group, details of which are set out in the section headed “D. Other Information — 1. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix 

IV to the Prospectus.

The Company adopted a restricted share unit scheme on 10 June 2021 (“2021 RSU Scheme”) to recognise and reward 

the eligible participants for their contributions to the Group and attract, retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business 

relationship with the participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group. For 

details of the 2021 RSU Scheme, please see the section headed “Directors’ Report — Restricted Share Units Schemes” 

of this report.

The Company has adopted a restricted share unit scheme on 22 November 2023 (“2023 RSU Scheme”) to recognise 

and reward the eligible participants for their contributions to the Group and attract, retain or otherwise maintain an on-

going business relationship with the participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of 

the Group. For details of the 2023 RSU Scheme, please see the paragraph headed “Restricted Share Units Schemes” 

below.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Mr. CUI Zhihui (崔志輝), aged 47, was appointed as the executive Director and the chief executive officer of the 

Company on 31 March 2021. He is the member of the investment committee of the Company. He is responsible for 

making operational and strategic decisions. Mr. CUI has served as the Group’s chief financial officer from January 2016 

to October 2021 and is responsible for the Group’s management, including overseeing its financial affairs and leading 

the M&A and post management. He also holds directorship in a number of the Group’s subsidiaries. Prior to joining the 

Group, from March 2007 to January 2016, Mr. CUI served as the chief financial officer at Capgemini Business Service 

(China) Co., Ltd. (廣東凱捷商業數據處理服務有限公司), a company specialising in business process outsourcing and 

information technology services, where he was primarily responsible for overseeing the management of financial affairs. 

Mr. CUI obtained a master’s degree in business administration from the City University of Macau in Macau in August 

2001. Mr. CUI was admitted as a fellow of The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in September 2015.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darryl E GREEN, aged 63, was appointed as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and Director on 28 

August 2015 and re-designated as the non-executive Director on 18 January 2019. He resigned as a non-executive 

Director and ceased to be the Chairman and members of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee 

of the Company with effect from 29 June 2023. Mr. GREEN is primarily responsible for providing strategic guidance for 

the overall development of the Group. He has also served as a director of ManpowerGroup Greater China (BVI) Limited, 

ManpowerGroup Greater China (HK) Limited, Manpower Services Hong Kong Limited and ManpowerGroup Solutions 

Holdings Hong Kong Limited. From October 2007 to January 2013, he was the chairman of Manpower China. He served 

as a director of Manpower China until August 2014.

Mr. GREEN first joined the MAN and its subsidiaries (collectively “MAN Group”) in May 2007. From then to December 

2008, he served as the executive vice president for MAN and the president of Asia Pacific region. From January 2009 to 

October 2012, he served as the executive vice president and president of Asia Pacific Middle East region at MAN and 

was promoted to the president at MAN in November 2012. From May 2014 to August 2018, he served as the president 

and the chief operating officer at MAN and was primarily responsible for operational performance of four regions including 

Americas, Asia Pacific Middle East, Southern and Northern Europe. Since July 2007, Mr. GREEN has served as non- 

executive chairman of ManpowerGroup Co., Ltd. in Japan, a subsidiary of MAN.

Prior to joining MAN Group, in November 1999, Mr. GREEN joined Asia Global Crossing Ltd., a telecommunication 

carrier, as the president for Japan. From 2001 to October 2003, Mr. GREEN served as the chief executive officer at 

J-Phone Co., Ltd. in Japan (the name of which was subsequently changed to Vodafone K.K. in October 2003), where he 

was primarily responsible for the overall management and operational performance. From then to June 2004, Mr. GREEN 

served as the chief executive officer at Vodafone K.K. (currently known as SoftBank Corp.), a company specialising in the 

provision of telecommunication services. From June 2005 to May 2007, Mr. GREEN served as the chief executive officer 

at Tata Teleservices Limited, a company specialising in the provision of broadband and telecommunication services. Mr. 

GREEN obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts from Brigham Young University in the United States in April 1984. He also 

obtained a master’s degree of business administration from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth (formerly known as 

Amos Tuck School of Business Administration) in the United States in June 1989.



MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED18

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS, aged 57, was appointed as the non-executive Director on 29 June 2020 and the 

Chairman on 29 June 2023. He is the chairman of the investment committee of the Company and the member of 

the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He was further appointed as a director 

of ManpowerGroup Greater China (BVI) Limited, ManpowerGroup Greater China (HK) Limited, and ManpowerGroup 

Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited on 1 September 2020. The aforementioned companies are subsidiaries of the 

Company of which Mr. MCGINNIS oversees the management. He was named executive vice president and chief financial 

officer of MAN Group in February 2016. As the chief financial officer, he is responsible for MAN’s worldwide finance, 

accounting and internal audit functions. As a member of MAN’s executive leadership team, Mr. MCGINNIS is engaged in 

supporting and developing the Company’s business and finance strategies and driving operational performance across 

all geographies and business lines.

Mr. MCGINNIS joined MAN from Morgan Stanley, where he served from January 2014 through February 2016 as global 

controller responsible for financial accounting and controls, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and 

regulatory reporting, financial planning and analysis, and the finance function for their large U.S. bank. From March 2006 

through January 2014, he served in HSBC North America Holdings Inc. with his last position as a chief financial officer, 

and before that, he served and reached the position of partner at Ernst & Young from 1989 through March 2006.

Mr. MCGINNIS is a graduate of Loyola University Chicago and holds a bachelor of business administration in public 

accounting (May 1989). He is a certified public accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants.

Mr. MCGINNIS is a member of the executive board of City Year Milwaukee, a non-for-profit organization that partners 

with educators while supporting and mentoring children.

Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29 June 2023. He is a 

member of the audit committee of the Company. He has been the head of legal for the Asia-Pacific and Middle East 

for ManpowerGroup Inc. (“MAN”), effective from January 2016. As the regional general counsel, he is responsible for 

strategic transactions in the region as well as compliance and legal affairs for MAN’s operations in Japan, Australia, India, 

Singapore, Thailand, the Philippines, Malaysia, the Middle East, Korea and Vietnam.

A member of MAN’s global leadership team, Mr. JONES also played a key role in executing the listing of the Company 

on the Stock Exchange in 2019.

Mr. JONES was admitted to the bar in New York in 1994 and has extensive experience with capital markets transactions, 

public companies and leading global investment banks. Prior to joining MAN, Mr. JONES worked at leading global 

law firms and as in-house counsel at several companies. Prior to assuming his current role at MAN and concurrently 

thereafter, Mr. JONES has been a professor at Doshisha Law School in Kyoto, Japan. Before that he was a counsel at 

Latham & Watkins LLP from November 2002 to July 2003, Global Crossing Japan/Asia Global Crossing from March 

2000 to October 2002, and Simpson Thacher & Bartlett from October 1993 to February 2000.

Mr. JONES has been a director for ManpowerGroup Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of MAN since 2008. Since June 2019, Mr. 

JONES has also served as a non-voting corporate auditor on the board of Kansai Paint Co., Ltd., which is listed on the 

Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock code: 4613).

Mr. JONES obtained a Bachelor’s degree in arts from the University of California, Berkeley in 1986, a Master’s degree in 

law from Tohoku University in 1990 and a Master’s degree in law and Juris Doctor degree from Duke University School 

of Law in 1993.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao (張迎昊), aged 47, was appointed as the Director on 28 August 2015 and was re-designated 

as the non-executive Director on 18 January 2019. He is the member of the remuneration committee, the nomination 

committee and the investment committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang has been working at Beijing Panmao Investment 

Management Co., Ltd. (北京磐茂投資管理有限公司) since January 2019. From August 2004 to January 2009, Mr. 

Zhang worked at China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (中國人壽保險股份有限公司), a company that specialises in insurance 

services, where he last served as the division manager in the investment management department. From January 2009 

to August 2011, Mr. Zhang worked at CITIC Private Equity Funds Management Co., Ltd. (中信產業投資基金管理有限
公司) (“CITICPE”), a company that specialises in asset management. From September 2011 to December 2018, Mr. 

ZHANG worked at Shanghai Panxin Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (上海磐信股權投資管理有限公司). From 

2016 to 2017, Mr. ZHANG served as the director of BEST Inc., a company later listed on the NYSE (stock code: BSTI) 

and specialising in logistics and supply services in the PRC. Since November 2016, Mr. Zhang has also served as the 

director of CIIC Guanaitong (Shanghai) Technology Co., Ltd. (中智關愛通（上海）科技股份有限公司), an employee benefit 

solutions provider listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations Co., Ltd. (stock code: 871282). Mr. Zhang 

currently serves as the non-executive director of ANE (Cayman) Inc., (安能物流集團有限公司), a company listed on the 

Stock Exchange (stock code: 9956). Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economic geography and urban and 

rural planning from Henan University (河南大學) in the PRC in July 1998. Mr. Zhang also obtained a master’s degree 

in management from The University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom in November 2001 and a master’s degree in 

finance from The University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in November 2002.

Mr. ZHAI Feng (翟鋒), aged 56, was appointed as the Director on 28 August 2015 and was re-designated as the 

non-executive Director on 18 January 2019 and is primarily responsible for providing strategic guidance for the overall 

development of the Group. He is the member of the audit committee of the Company.

He currently serves as the non-executive director of Beauty Farm Medical and Health Industry Inc. (stock code: 2373), 

a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since January 2023 and he has been working at Shanghai 

Daozhijian Enterprise Service Co., Ltd. (上海道至簡企業服務有限公司) since June 2022. From September 2020 to June 

2022, he served as the non-executive director of Yonghe Medical Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2279), a company listed 

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

From July 1991 to November 2012, Mr. ZHAI worked at Procter & Gamble (China) Sales Co., Ltd. (寶潔（中國）有限
公司), a company specialising in the production and sale of consumer products, where he last served as the president 

of sales in Greater China. Mr. ZHAI was a managing director at Shanghai Panxin Mezzanine Investment Management 

Company Limited (上海磐信夾層投資管理有限公司) from January 2013 to December 2018. Mr. ZHAI worked at Beijing 

Panmao Investment Management Co., Ltd. (北京磐茂投資管理有限公司) from January 2019 to May 2022. Mr. ZHAI has 

served as the director of Shaanxi Tourism Culture Industry Holding Co., Ltd. (陝西旅遊文化產業股份有限公司) (“Shaanxi 

Tourism”), an integrated tourism company (stock code: 870432), and CIIC Guanaitong (Shanghai) Technology Co., Ltd. 

(中智關愛通（上海）科技股份有限公司), an employee benefit solutions provider (stock code: 871282), both listed on the 

National Equities Exchange and Quotations Co., Ltd., since December 2015 and November 2016, respectively. Since 

October 2014, he has served as the director of Weihai Guangwei Composites Co., Ltd. (威海光威複合材料股份有限公司), 

a company principally engaged in research, development and production of carbon fiber and composite materials and 

listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300699). Since December 2017, he has served as the director of 

Beijing Hualian Department Store Co., Ltd (北京華聯商廈股份有限公司), a company principally engaged in operation and 

management of shopping mall and cinema and listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000882). Mr. ZHAI 

obtained a bachelor’s degree in environmental engineering from Tongji University (同濟大學) in the PRC in July 1991.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong (楊永亮), aged 61, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 15 

March 2019. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and the member of the audit committee 

and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. YEOH is responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. 

Mr. YEOH has over 29 years of experience in public service, private sector and capital markets. Since January 2023, 

he has served as the Managing Director of Baozun Asia Pte Ltd., the Singapore subsidiary of Nasdaq and Hong Kong 

Exchange dual listed e-commerce service provider Baozun Inc., (NASDAQ: BZUN and Stock Code: 9991.hk) where 

he is responsible for Baozun’s business in Asia outside of mainland China. Prior to this, he has served as the director 

of corporate development at Phillip Securities Pte Ltd., a retail stock broker in Singapore, where he was primarily 

responsible for business development. Prior to taking up his current position, he worked at Economic Development 

Board of Singapore and was promoted as the regional director (Europe) in April 1994. In September 1997, he was 

seconded to National Computer Board of Singapore as the director of industry and manpower development while he also 

served as the chief information officer at Economic Development Board of Singapore. In May 1998, he was appointed as 

the assistant chief executive (industry) at National Computer Board of Singapore. In January 2000, he joined WPV/SA/

NSTB Fund as the general partner, a fund established by Warburg Pincus and National Science and Technology Board 

of Singapore focused on IT investment in Singapore. In August 2000, Mr. YEOH was appointed as the non-executive 

director of Boardroom Limited, a professional business services provider listed on the Singapore Exchange (stock code: 

B10), and served as its managing director and chief executive officer from January 2003 to September 2006. Mr. YEOH 

obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from University of Malaya in Malaysia in August 1986, and master’s degree 

in business administration from The City University of London in the United Kingdom in April 1995.

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie (黃文麗), aged 54, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 15 March 

2019. She is the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company and the member of the audit committee and 

remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. WONG is responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. 

Ms. WONG has over 31 years of experience in management, marketing and sales, operations and product innovation. 

From September 2017 to October 2019, she served as chief executive officer, Greater China at Inchcape Hong Kong 

Limited, a distributor and retailer in the premium and luxury automotive sectors. Since November 2019, Ms. WONG 

joined L’Oreal Group, a world leader in the Beauty Industry, and she has been appointed as global brand president with 

effect from 1 September 2022. From July 1992 to June 2013, she worked at Procter & Gamble Company, a global fast 

moving consumer goods group listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: PG), holding positions including 

assistant brand manager, brand manager, marketing director, general manager and vice president. From October 2013 

to March 2017, she served as the chief executive officer at Water Oasis Group Limited, a beauty services and product 

provider listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1161). Ms. WONG obtained a bachelor’s degree 

of business administration in marketing from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1992.

Mr. Victor HUANG (黃偉德), aged 52, was appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive Director on 15 

March 2019. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and the member of the remuneration committee 

and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. HUANG is responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. HUANG has over 30 years of experience in finance, accounting and transaction services. He joined 

PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong in January 1993 and became its partner in July 2005. From July 2014 to 

August 2017, he served as partner at KPMG in Hong Kong. From February 2020 to November 2020, he served as an 

independent non-executive director of China Bright Culture Group, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 1859). From December 2018 to December 2020, he served as an independent non-executive 

director of Trinity Limited (in liquidation), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 891). 

From November 2020 to November 2021, he served as an independent non-executive director of Evergrande Property 

Services Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6666). From February 

2018 to February 2024, he served as an independent non-executive director of LBX Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd., a 

company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603883).
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Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HUANG currently holds the following positions of companies listed in the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock 

Exchange respectively:

Company Name Stock Exchange Stock Code

Position 

(Appointment Date)

Scholar Education 

Group

the Stock Exchange 1769 

(Main Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(11 June 2019)

Chairman of audit committee 

(11 June 2019)

Member of nomination committee 

(11 June 2019)

Member of remuneration committee 

(11 June 2019)

Topsports International 

Holdings Limited

the Stock Exchange 6110 

(Main Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(20 June 2019)

Member of audit committee 

(20 June 2019)

Member of nomination committee 

(20 June 2019)

Qingdao Haier 

Biomedical Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Stock 

Exchange

688139 

(Science and Technology 

Innovation Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(21 August 2018)
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Company Name Stock Exchange Stock Code

Position 

(Appointment Date)

New Times Energy 

Corporation Limited

the Stock Exchange 0166 

(Main Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(19 June 2020)

Chairman of audit committee 

(28 August 2020)

Member of nomination committee 

(28 August 2020)

Member of remuneration committee 

(28 August 2020)

COSCO SHIPPING 

Energy Transportation 

Co., Ltd.

the Stock Exchange 1138 

(Main Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(22 June 2020)

Chairman of audit committee 

(22 June 2020)

Member of nomination committee 

(22 June 2020)

Shandong Hi-Speed 

New Energy Group 

Limited (formerly 

known as Beijing 

Enterprises Clean 

Energy Group Limited)

the Stock Exchange 1250

(Main Board)

Independent non-executive director 

(19 May 2022)

Chairman of audit committee 

(19 May 2022)

Member of remuneration committee 

(19 May 2022)

Mr. HUANG obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in economics and business from University of California, Los Angeles 

in the United States in September 1992. He was admitted as an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society of Accountants) in June 1996. He was also certified 

as a qualified independent director of the Shanghai Stock Exchange in June 2018 and a member of The Hong Kong 

Chartered Governance Institute.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. CUI Zhihui (崔志輝), aged 47, served as the Group’s chief financial officer from January 2016 to October 2021. He 

has been appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 31 March 

2021. For Mr. CUI’s biography, please refer to the paragraph “Executive Director” in this section.

Mr. TANG Jiayi (湯佳一), aged 47, has been appointed as the Group’s chief financial officer and is responsible for 

managing mergers and acquisition, investors relations, finance and legal functions with effect from 15 October 2021. 

He has extensive experience in finance management. He has resigned as the chief financial officer of the Company with 

effect from 30 September 2023. Prior to joining the Company, he had been a partner of Tongyuan Tech Co., Ltd., a 

leading bio-tech company with a focus on medical food development. From July 2012 to April 2020, Mr. TANG had been 

serving as the Finance Director, Asia Pacific in Genus Plc (a company listed on the London Stock Exchange, stock code: 

GNS.L), a world leader in animal genetics. Mr. TANG has not held any directorships in any other listed public companies.

Mr. TANG obtained a master’s degree in Master of Business Administration from the ENPC SIMBA program and a 

bachelor’s degree in Economics from the International Business College of Shanghai University. Mr. TANG was admitted 

as a Certified Public Accountant of People’s Republic of China in 2000.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. GAO Xingyue (高星月) was appointed as the joint company secretary on 18 January 2019. Ms. GAO has served 

as strategic manager of Manpower China since September 2018 and is responsible for capital operation and company 

secretarial matters, investor relations, strategic management and external and internal coordination affairs. Prior to joining 

the Group, from June 2016 to June 2018, she served as senior associate at Guoguang Global Asset Management Co., 

Ltd. (國廣環球資產管理有限公司), an asset management company where she was primarily responsible for merger and 

acquisition activities, due diligence, deal structuring and post-investment management. Ms. GAO obtained a bachelor’s 

degree of arts in accounting and finance from University of Exeter in the United Kingdom in July 2014 and a master’s 

degree of science in project and enterprise management from University College London in the United Kingdom in 

November 2015.

Ms. Tsui Sum Yi (徐心兒) was appointed as the joint company secretary on 4 September 2020. Ms. TSUI is currently a 

Senior Manager of Corporate Services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. She has over ten years of experience 

in providing company secretarial services to numerous private and listed companies. Ms. TSUI is an associate member 

of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute in 

United Kingdom.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the 

Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance 

Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code on corporate governance since the Listing and has 

complied with the code provisions sets out in the Corporate Governance Code throughout the Reporting Period, except 

for the deviation from code provision F.2.2 as detailed below.

Pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) should 

attend the annual general meeting (the “AGM”). However, Mr. Darryl E GREEN, who acted as the Chairman until the 

conclusion of the AGM, was unable to attend the AGM held on 29 June 2023 due to his other prior engagement. Mr. 

GREEN invited Mr. CUI Zhihui, an executive Director to chair and answer questions from Shareholders at the AGM.

The Board recognised the importance of corporate culture and shared value of the Group, with which the corporate 

citizens can identity. A strong corporate culture underpins long-term operation, economic success and sustainable 

growth of the Group and enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable performance and fulfil its role as a 

responsible corporate citizen. Strong corporate culture is also a powerful talent acquisition and retention tool for our 

recruiting business. The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture that is built on its Vision, 

Mission and Values.

During 2023, the Company continued to strengthen its cultural framework by focusing on the following:

• Vision: Empower business partners with long term vitality with human resources

• Mission: Unleash the power of human potential

• Values: Integrity, accountability, synergy and innovation

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and requires all employees to identify and to reinforce. 

All of our new employees are required to attend orientation and training programs so that they can better understand 

our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In 

addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts to provide training to our management personnel 

to improve their relevant knowledge and management skills. The corporate culture, structure and policies are displaced 

in public area of the Company’s workplace, employees’ office access cards and stationaries. Events and activities in 

relation to promote corporate culture including debate competition and corporate culture T-shirt design competition are 

held to enhance corporate culture awareness among employees.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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Board composition

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of one executive Director, namely Mr. CUI Zhuihui, four non-executive 

Directors, namely Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES, Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS, Mr. ZHANG Yinghao and Mr. ZHAI Feng 

and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie and 

Mr. Victor HUANG. An updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the websites of the 

Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively. Their names and biographical details are set out in the “Biographies of 

Directors and Senior Management” section of this report. The overall management and supervision of the Company’s 

operation and the function of formulating overall business strategies were vested in the Board. There are no financial, 

business, family or other material relationships among members of the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has at all times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules 

relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non- 

executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management 

expertise. Their names and biographical details are set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” 

section of this report. The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-third of the Board, 

complying with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a 

listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the Board.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval of 

all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitor the performance of the 

senior executives. The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the 

contribution required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate 

coverage for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Darryl E GREEN and Mr. CUI Zhihui respectively 

from 1 January 2021 to 29 June 2023 and Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS and Mr. CUI Zhihui respectively from 29 

June 2023 to 31 December 2023. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning 

and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily 

management and operations generally.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Director along with other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities 

for implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day 

management and operations of the Group. Executive Director and senior executives meet regularly to review the 

performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and 

operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of management including circumstances 

where management should report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that 

they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The 

Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group are 

published in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 

which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors 

have prepared the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment 

and their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of independent non-executive Directors 

include bringing an impartial view and judgment on issues of the Company’s strategies, performance and control; and 

scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring performance reporting.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise and 

management experience and have made positive contributions to the development of the Company through providing 

their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of one year.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has been assessed in accordance with the applicable 

Listing Rules and each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written confirmation of 

independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all 

independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules and are independent.

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to good corporate governance. The Company has in place 

effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that independent views.

The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one third of the independent non-executive Directors and 

the members of the Audit Committee are mainly independent non-executive Directors which exceed the independence 

requirements under the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee 

are all chaired by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors are 

subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The 

independence of each independent non-executive Director is assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by 

the Board at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External independent professional advice is 

available to all Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary.

The independent non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to devote 

sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board. The Company has also established channels through formal 

and informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can express their views in an open manner, and in a 

confidential manner, should circumstances requires.

The Company has reviewed and considered the implementation of the mechanisms in relation to the Board’s 

independence to be effective during the Reporting Period.
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Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The 

Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board 

level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable 

development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including 

but not limited to talent, skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The Company will also take into consideration 

its own business model and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and 

candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In accordance with the board diversity policy, the measurable objective is selection of Board candidates shall be based 

on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including 

but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and 

professional experience.

The Board comprises eight members, including one female independent non-executive Director. The Directors also 

have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and experience. Four directors have experiences of executive leadership and 

strategy, there are three directors who are financial management expertises and one director with working experiences 

and knowledge in risk management. Directors obtained degrees in various majors including economics in accounting, 

business administration, commerce, economic geography and urban and rural planning and environmental engineering. 

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing more than 

one-third of the Board members. Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age, among which, two directors are in the 

age group of 41-50; five directors are in the age group of 51-60; and one in the age group of above 60. The Company 

has taken and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group, including but without 

limitation at the Board and senior management levels. Taking into account the business model of the Group and its 

specific needs as well as the presence of one female Director out of a total of eight Board members, the Board targets to 

maintain at least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity and considers 

that the composition of the Board satisfies the board diversity policy. The nomination committee will propose a pipeline of 

potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of the Board members and compliance with relevant 

codes governing board diversity under the Listing Rules. The nomination committee will review the board diversity policy 

and its diversity profile at least once annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) for the Reporting Period is 24% (Male): 76% (female). 

The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in 

workforce. For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with the relevant 

data, please refer to the disclosure in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years 

commencing from 31 March 2021 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either 

party on the other. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance to 

the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

Each of the non-executive Directors, other than Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES, has entered into a letter of appointment 

with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. Each of the non-executive 

Directors, other than Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES,  has further entered into a revised letter of appointment with the 

Company for a term commencing on 9 September 2021 and ending on 9 July 2022 and shall thereafter continue to last 

for another period of three years unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party 

on the other. Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term 

of three years commencing from 29 June 2023 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served 

by either party on the other. All non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual 

general meeting in accordance to the Articles of Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial 

term of one year commencing from the Listing Date. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has further entered 

into a revised letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year from 9 September 2021 unless extended 

pursuant to mutual agreement between the Company and the independent non-executive Director or terminated by 

not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The letter of appointment of each 

independent non-executive Directors have been renewed for another term of 1 year commencing from 9 September 

2022 and ending on 8 September 2023 and shall thereafter continue to renew for another period of one year on annual 

basis unless otherwise. All independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at 

the annual general meeting in accordance to the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors 

for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an 

annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The Articles of Association also provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an 

additional to the Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be 

eligible for re-election at such meeting.

The members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles 

of Association, by ordinary resolution remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Articles of Association or in any agreement between the Company and 

such Director (but without prejudice to any claim for damages under any such agreement).

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company (the 

“AGM”) in 2024 has a service contract or appointment letter with the Company which is not determinable within one year 

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

At the AGM held on 29 June 2023, Mr. CUI Zhihui, Mr. Darryl E GREEN and Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie retired in 

accordance with the Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association and Mr. CUI and Ms. WONG were re-elected as Directors 

at the AGM.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Darryl E GREEN resigned as a non-executive director with effect from 29 June 2023. 

Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES was appointed as a non-executive Director by the Shareholders at the AGM with effect 

from 29 June 2023.
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Directors’ training and professional development

Every newly appointed Director has been given a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment.

Subsequently, the Company has provided timely technical updates, including the briefing on the amendments to the 

Listing Rules and the news release published by the Stock Exchange to the Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors received updates on the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements 

and the latest development of the Group’s business and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional 

development to develop their knowledge and skills. Training seminars on regulations and updates were also provided to 

all Directors.

Pursuant to the requirements of the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors have 

provided the Company with records of the training they received to ensure that their contributions to the Board remain 

informed and relevant.

A summary of training received by Directors during the Reporting Period according to the records provided by the 

Directors is as follows:

Seminar on

regulations updates and

corporate governance

matters

Reading materials

relating to

regulatory update

Executive Director

Mr. CUI Zhihui ✓ ✓

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darryl E GREEN 

(resigned on 29 June 2023) ✓ –

Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES 

(appointed on 29 June 2023) ✓ ✓

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS ✓ ✓

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao ✓ ✓

Mr. ZHAI Feng ✓ ✓

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong ✓ ✓

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie ✓ ✓

Mr. Victor HUANG ✓ ✓
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial 

performance of the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of communications. 

Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that Board meetings shall be held at least four times 

a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional meetings would be arranged, if and when required. The date of 

each meeting is decided in advance to enable the Directors to attend the meeting in person.

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in establishing the meeting agenda 

and each Director may request inclusion of items in the agenda. A notice of at least 14 days is given to all Directors for 

all regular Board meetings. Relevant information is circulated to all Directors normally three days in advance of the Board 

meetings.

The management will submit relevant reports to the Directors for review as part of meeting materials for every regular 

Board meeting. After the briefing given to the Directors, the management will answer any enquiry made by the Directors. 

The Board may make informed assessment on the financial and other information submitted to them for their approval. 

Sufficient time will be allowed for the Directors to discuss.

The Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising from Board meetings and that they receive 

adequate information in a timely manner in order to assist them to make informed decisions and discharge their duties as 

Directors. Upon reasonable request, the Directors and Board Committees will have access to independent professional 

advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense in carrying out their duties.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors have made active contribution to the affairs of the Group and five Board 

meetings were held to consider, among other things, various transactions contemplated by the Group, to review the 

Group’s operations and developments, to review and approve investment proposals and to review and approve the 

interim results and annual results and report of the Group. According to Article 16.23 of the Articles of Association, 

a Director shall not vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract or 

arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in which he or any of his close associates (or, if required by the Listing 

Rules, his other associates) has any material interest.

Meeting minutes of the Board and Board Committees are recorded in appropriate details and draft minutes are circulated 

to the respective Board members for comments before being approved by the Board and Board committees. All minutes 

are kept by the Company Secretaries and are open for inspection by the Directors on reasonable notice.
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Attendance record of Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Company held four Board meetings, two audit committee meetings, one remuneration 

committee meeting, one nomination committee meeting, and one Shareholders’ meeting. A meeting between Chairman 

and independent Directors was held during the Reporting Period without presence of other non-executive Directors. The 

attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board and the Board committees held during the Reporting Period is 

set out below:

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings eligible to attend

AGM Board

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Investment 

Committee

Chairman

meeting with

Independent

non-executive

directors

Executive Director

Mr. CUI Zhihui 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 N/A

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darryl E GREEN (resigned on 

29 June 2023) 0/1 1/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A N/A

Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES 

(appointed on 29 June 2023) 1/1 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS 1/1 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A 0/0 1/1

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao 1/1 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 0/0 N/A

Mr. ZHAI Feng 0/1 3/4 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie 0/1 4/4 2/2 0/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

Mr. Victor HUANG 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should 

attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Darryl E GREEN 

and Mr. Zhai Feng, non-executive Directors, and Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie, independent non-executive Director did not 

attend the AGM held on 29 June 2023 due to other business commitments. However, there were sufficient number of 

Directors, including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, presented at 

the AGM to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in code provision of the Corporate 

Governance Code including:

• to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

• to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 

Directors;

• to review and approve the strategy of environmental, social and governance and relevant policies; and

• to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and 

Corporate Governance Report).

The Board had performed the above duties during the Reporting Period.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established four committees, being the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination 

committee and the investment committee (collectively the “Board Committees”) for overseeing particular aspects of the 

affairs of the Group. All Board Committees have been established with specific terms of reference, which are available 

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively. All the Board Committees should report to the 

Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are 

able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The duties and 

work done by the foregoing Board Committees for the Reporting Period are detailed below.

Audit committee

The Company established the audit committee in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with written terms 

of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 5 

June 2019. The primary duties of the audit committee are to assist the Board by providing an independent view of the 

effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems of the Group, to oversee 

the audit process, to develop and review the policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the 

Board.

The audit committee consists of two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES and Mr. ZHAI Feng and 

three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie and Mr. 

Victor HUANG. Mr. Victor HUANG has been appointed as the chairman of the audit committee, and is an independent 

non-executive Director with the appropriate professional qualifications.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance duties to the audit committee for performing the functions set 

out in the code provision of the Corporate Governance Code.
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Audit committee (Continued)

According to the requirement under the code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the Corporate Governance Code, members of the 

audit committee should liaise with the board and senior management and the audit committee must meet, at least twice 

a year, with the issuer’s external auditor.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee held two meetings with the senior management and external auditor of 

the Company in March and August 2023 respectively. The agenda of which is set out as following:

• reviewing annual results of 2022 and 2022 annual report, interim results of 2023 and 2023 interim report;

• reviewing and discussing the risk management and internal control systems and opinion of independent auditor;

• reviewing the continuing connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 6 months ended 30 

June 2023; and

• reviewing the independence of external auditor of the Company and considering the re-appointment of external 

auditor of the Company.

The attendance record of individual Directors of the audit committee meetings is set out on page 31 of this report.

Remuneration committee

The Company established the remuneration committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules with written 

terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 

5 June 2019. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to establish and review the policy and structure of 

the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration 

package of the Directors and employee benefit arrangement. The remuneration of all of the Directors and senior 

management is subject to regular monitoring by the remuneration committee to ensure that levels of their remuneration 

and compensation are appropriate.

The remuneration committee consists of two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS and Mr. 

ZHANG Yinghao, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Ms. WONG 

Man Lai Stevie and Mr. Victor HUANG. Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong has been appointed as the chairman of the 

remuneration committee.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee held one meeting to review the remuneration structure of the 

Directors and senior management of the Group and appraisal system of the key positions of the Group and discuss the 

proposed grant of restricted share units (the “RSU”). While considering the grant of RSU, the remuneration committee 

had evaluated the remuneration of the grantees to comparable market peer and the value of grant to the grantees. After 

considering those factors, the remuneration committee recommended the proposed grant of RSU to the grantees to the 

Board for approval to appreciate the grantees’ devotion and commitment to the Company which align with the purposes 

of the 2021 RSU Scheme (as defined in this report). The remuneration committee also discussed and recommended 

the Board the remuneration of the new non-executive Director. The attendance record of individual Directors of the 

remuneration committee meetings is set out on page 31 of this report. Details of the remuneration payable to each 

Director for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements on page 

154 of this report.
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Directors’ remuneration policy

The remuneration policy is adopted by the Board of the Company to establish a formal and transparent procedure for 

developing the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management, such that 

the remuneration packages offered by the Company can be competitive, adequate (but not excessive) and in line with 

current market practices to attract, retain, motivate and reward our Directors and senior management, thereby having 

sufficient, experienced and competent manpower on board to achieve the Company’s corporate goals and objectives. 

With this policy, the Company endeavors to assure internal and external equity and long-term value creation.

The remuneration committee is mandated to formulate the Group’s remuneration policy for the Board’s approval, and to 

make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s annual salary adjustment, the annual performance bonus and share 

award.

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually by the remuneration committee with reference to companies of 

comparable business or scale, and any changes are subject to the Board’s approval based on the recommendation of 

the remuneration committee.

Remuneration Structure

The remuneration package comprises fixed and variable components, ensuring an appropriate and balanced 

remuneration package that links shareholders’ interests with those of Directors:

Fixed Components

Base Salary or Director’s Fee: Base Salary or Director’s Fee is determined on the basis of the expectation of senior 

management or Directors, job nature of the position, including responsibility, complexity, the remuneration packages 

offered by companies comparable to the Company and other market conditions.

No director’s fee is paid to both executive Director and non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors receive a fixed Director’s fee including the fee for chairing committee meetings. 

Their remuneration are reviewed annually with reference to companies of comparable business and scale by the 

remuneration committee and approved by the Board.

Variable Components

Long-term incentive scheme: long-term incentives serve to motivate, recognise and reward non-executive directors for 

their valuable contributions to the Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and Restricted Share Units Schemes as incentive to eligible 

participants, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted Share Units 

Schemes” respectively.
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Variable Components (Continued)

Remuneration payable to members of senior management

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the annual remuneration of members of the senior 

management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Number of

members

of senior

management

RMB5,000,000 to RMB5,500,000 1

RMB1,500,000 to RMB2,000,000 1

2

Nomination committee

The Company established the nomination committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate 

Governance Code set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on 5 June 2019. The primary duties of the nomination 

committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of members of the Board.

The nomination committee consists of two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS and 

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Ms. 

WONG Man Lai Stevie and Mr. Victor HUANG. Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie has been appointed as the chairman of the 

nomination committee.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee convened one meeting in March 2023. The agenda of which is 

set out below:

• reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

• assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

• considering and recommend to the Board the proposal for re-election of the retiring Directors;

• reviewing the Board diversity policy and the director nomination policy of the Company; and

• considering and recommending Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES to the Board as the new non-executive Director and 

the audit committee member in accordance with the director nomination policy and board diversity policy of the 

Company.
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Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination policy

The Company adopted a director nomination policy in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code. The director 

nomination policy sets out the selection criteria and process and the procedures for the selection and appointment of 

new Directors and re-election of Directors at general meetings.

The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying candidates for directorship, including recommendations 

from Board members, management, and professional search firms. In addition, the nomination committee will consider 

candidates for directorship properly submitted by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates for directorship 

by the nomination committee may include, without limitation, review of resume and job history, personal interviews, 

verification of professional and personal references and performance of background checks. The Board will consider 

the recommendations of the nomination committee and is responsible for designating the candidates for directorship 

to be considered by the Shareholders for their election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing the 

suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or as an additional to the Board members, subject to 

compliance of the constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of Director should be confirmed by letter 

of appointment and/or service contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of Directors.

The nomination committee should consider the following qualifications as a minimum to be required for a candidate in 

recommending to the Board to be a potential new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

• the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

• proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

• skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

• the ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company’s success;

• an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for a member of the Board and the commitment of 

time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

• independence: the candidates for independent non-executive directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as 

required under the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity with the provisions of the Listing 

Rules.

The nomination committee may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company 

and the Shareholders as a whole.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Investment committee

The investment committee was established on 9 December 2021 for the purpose of, among others, considering potential 

investment projects and handling investment affairs of the Company. The primary duties of the investment committee are 

to provide market expertise and make recommendations to the Board on the investment project and asset allocation of 

the Company.

The investment committee consists of three members, two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. John Thomas 

MCGINNIS and Mr. ZHANG Yinghao, and one executive Director, namely, Mr. CUI Zhihui. Mr. MCGINNIS has been 

appointed as the chairman of the investment committee.

During the Reporting Period, the investment committee did not convene any meetings in December 2023, due to the 

fact that the members of investment committee brought up investment related matters to the Board in 2023 to allow all 

Directors to discuss and make recommendations to investment strategy of the Company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
SYSTEM
Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the 

Company and the Group. In preparation of the financial statements, IFRSs have been adopted and the appropriate 

accounting policies have been consistently used and applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced 

assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the Shareholders, and make appropriate 

disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Pursuant to code provision C.5.9 of the Corporate Governance 

Code, the management would provide such explanation and information as well as business development and also with 

management accounts and regular updates to the Board as will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of 

the financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s external auditor, are set out 

in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 109 to 113 of this report.

Risk management and internal control system

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective risk management and internal 

control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually. The internal control 

system covers all major aspects of the Group’s operations, including, among others, operations, procurement, financial 

reporting, human resource, legal and compliance, information technology, budgeting and accounting processes.

With respect to the Group’s risk management and internal control measures, the Group has a set of comprehensive 

policies and guidelines which set out details regarding the internal control standards, segregation of responsibilities, 

approval procedures and personnel accountability in each aspect. The Group also carries out regular internal assessments 

and training to ensure its employees are equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and guidelines. Such 

systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aim to 

provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. Under its framework, 

general management, finance and accounting departments are primarily responsible for the design, implementation and 

maintenance of the risk management and internal control systems, while the Board and the audit committee oversee the 

actions of management and monitor the effectiveness of these systems and to safeguard the Group’s assets.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
SYSTEM (Continued)
Risk management and internal control system (Continued)

The Company does not have an internal audit function while the Company has developed a quality assurance function 

responsible for some of internal audit functions in its business operations. The primary responsibility of quality assurance 

function is to ensure the authenticity of orders and the rationality of billings by establishing procedures of client review, 

candidate review and order review embedded in daily operations. The Board is currently of the view that there is no 

immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the 

Group’s business. It was decided that the Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group and for 

reviewing its effectiveness and the Board would conduct the review annually.

The Group engaged an external consultant specialising in identifying and evaluation of significant risk of its business 

and operations. The external consultant does not have any connection with the Group and the Board believes that 

their involvement could enhance the objectivity and transparency of evaluation process. In conjunction with the 

Group’s various departments and senior management, the external consultant conducts an annual assessment on risk 

management and internal control systems of the Group together with suggestion and solutions and submit to the Board 

for their consideration.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and 

dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

• has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the 

“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012;

• has maintained a list of employees and personnel that may have access to or possess inside information of the 

Company when preparing the Company’s financial reports;

• has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which set out the procedures and controls for the 

assessment of potential inside information and the handling and dissemination of inside information. The procedures 

have been communicated to the senior management and staff of the Company, and their implementation was 

monitored by the Company; and

• has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the public through channels such as financial reports, 

public announcements and its website.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has also enhanced its control on human resource cycle in China and Hong Kong 

region by establishing and implementing policies and procedures on recruitment process and payroll approval process.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis by the audit 

committee and the executive Director, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the Board. 

During the Reporting Period, these systems were reviewed and considered effective and adequate.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2023. A 

statement by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu about their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is included in 

the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 109 to 113 of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remunerations payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit 

services and non-audit services are approximately RMB2,885,000 and RMB1,050,000 respectively. The amount for 

2023 non-audit services consisted mainly of reviewing the group’s interim result. The audit committee of the Company 

was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2023 did not affect the independence of the auditor.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
The Joint Company Secretaries are responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring 

that Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Ms. GAO Xingyue, the Joint Company Secretary of the Company, is a full-time employee of the Company and familiar 

with the day-to-day affairs of the Company.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong 

laws, the Company also engages an external service provider, Ms. TSUI Sum Yi, to provide secretarial service. Her 

primary contact person at the Company is Ms. GAO.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. GAO and Ms. TSUI have confirmed they have undertaken not less than 15 hours of 

relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biographies of Ms. GAO and Ms. TSUI are set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section 

on page 23 of this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition 

of one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, 

on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of the Company which as at that date carry the right to vote at 

general meetings of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of 

the Company for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction 

of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such 

requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) 

himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a 

result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association regarding procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals 

at general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director. Shareholders may follow the procedures 

set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Enquiries to the Board

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board indicate Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns 

to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 

Rooms 2303–04, 9 Chong Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 

and understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company recognises the importance of 

timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed 

investment decisions.

The Company adopted the shareholders communication policy, which set out the framework the Company has put in 

place to promote effective communication with shareholders so as to enable them to engage actively with the Company 

and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner. The shareholders communication policy will be reviewed 

on a regular basis by the Board.

The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors 

and other stakeholders. These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, 

notices, and other announcements; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum 

for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the 

Group available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv) the Company’s website offering 

communication channel between the Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong 

serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters; and (vi) convening investor meeting and/or analyst 

briefings, which led by our executive Directors and investor relations team with existing and potential investors.

The Company held its annual general meeting on 29 June 2023. A total number of three shareholders, including their 

proxies or representatives attended the AGM and shares voted is 82.5% of the total issued shares of the Company. All 

resolutions proposed at the AGM were passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and shareholders engagement in the general meeting held 

during the year, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented during 

2023 and is effective.



Annual Report 2023 41

Corporate Governance Report

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There had been no change to the Company’s constitutional documents during the Reporting Period. The Company’s 

latest Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s 

website.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 
DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in 

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the guidelines for the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the 

Company since the Listing.

Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with 

the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the Company are also bound by the Model Code, which 

prohibits them to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/she possesses inside information in relation to 

those securities. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers and employees was noted by 

the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 

Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of HR 

services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2023 by its principal 

activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group on pages 145 to 150 of this report.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the section headed “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” of this report and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

of the Group on pages 114 to 115 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group, including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance using key performance 

indicators and a discussion of likely future developments in the business of the Group, is set out in the section headed 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 16 of this report. In addition, discussions on the Group’s 

environmental protection policies, performance and relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and major 

stakeholders is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this report. Particulars 

of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2023 

are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements on page 205 of this report. An account of the Company’s 

key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the sections headed “Management 

Discussion and Analysis — Employees, Remuneration Policy and Training” and “Directors’ Report — Major Customers 

and Suppliers” of this report. These discussions form part of the Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

There are certain principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group in the normal course of business include: (i) 

geographical events such as  a re-escalation in US-China tensions, the long tail of the COVID-19 outbreak and high 

inflation rate, which affect the demand of the Group’s services; (ii) failure to retain existing clients and attract new clients; 

(iii) failure to compete successfully in a rapidly evolving market in which the Group operates and (iv) failure to maintain, 

protect and enhance the brands. However, the above is not exhaustive and investors are advised to make their own 

judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

In order to manage the Group’s exposure to the aforementioned risks and to attract or retain clients, the Group has 

strived and will continue to strive to provide high-quality services or solutions valued by the business customers.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws 

and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the Reporting Period, 

there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATION
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from operations by geographical locations of customers for the year ended 31 

December 2023 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Changes to the property and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the issued shares of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out on page 205 of this 

report. In respect of Company, the amount of reserves available for distribution under the Companies Act of the Cayman 

Islands as at 31 December 2023 was RMB0.4 billion.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of the Group’s financial position as at that 

date are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position on pages 114 to 117 of this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to 

the Shareholders, provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the declaration and distribution of dividends 

does not affect the normal operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining 

the dividend amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital 

requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst 

the Board will review from time to time for determination on proposed dividend with the above factors taken into account, 

there can be no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.31 per Share (equivalent to RMB0.28 per Share) 

amounting to a total of HK$64.3 million (equivalent to RMB58.1 million) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “2023 

Proposed Final Dividend”), representing approximately 45% of the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company 

for the year ended 31 December 2023. The 2023 Proposed Final Dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders 

at the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 26 June 2024. The 2023 Proposed Final Dividend will be declared and paid in 

Hong Kong dollars.

There is no arrangement that a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Name of Director Position

Mr. CUI Zhihui Executive Director

Mr. Darryl E GREEN (resigned on 29 June 2023) Non-executive Director

Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES (appointed on 29 June 2023) Non-executive Director

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS Non-executive Director

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao Non-executive Director

Mr. ZHAI Feng Non-executive Director

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong Independent non-executive Director

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Victor HUANG Independent non-executive Director

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy 

in the Board or as an additional member of the Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting after his 

appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. In addition, in accordance with Article 16.19 of the 

Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is 

not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation 

provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at 

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at 

which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Mr. ZHANG Yinghao and Mr. 

John Thomas MCGINNIS shall retire at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Wednesday, 26 June 2024 (the “2024 

AGM”).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years 

commencing from 31 March 2021 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either 

party on the other. He is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance to 

the Articles of Association.

Each of the non-executive Directors, other than Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES, has entered into a letter of appointment 

with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. Each of non-executive Directors, 

other than Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES,  has further entered into a revised letter of appointment with the Company for 

a term commencing on 9 September 2021 and ending on 9 July 2022 and shall thereafter continue to last for another 

period of three years unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the 

other. Mr. Colin Patrick Alan JONES has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three 

years commencing from 29 June 2023 unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either 

party on the other. All non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general 

meeting in accordance to the Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial 

term of one year commencing from the Listing Date. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has further entered 

into a revised letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year from 9 September 2021 unless extended 

pursuant to mutual agreement between the Company and the independent non-executive Director or terminated by 

not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. The letter of appointment of each 

independent non-executive Directors have been renewed for another term of 1 year commencing from 9 September 

2022 and ending on 8 September 2023 and shall thereafter continue to renew for another period of one year on annual 

basis unless otherwise. All independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at 

the annual general meeting in accordance to the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract or 

appointment letter with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other 

than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS
Details of remuneration of the Directors during the Reporting Period are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
A remuneration committee was set up to make recommendations on the Company’s emolument policy and structure 

for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group on the basis of their merit, qualifications and 

competence.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and Restricted Share Units Scheme as incentive to eligible 

employees, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted Share Units 

Schemes” respectively.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out in the section headed 

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Reporting Period, save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Report — Continuing 

connected transactions” of this report, none of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing 

Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might compete with the business of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
MAN and CM Phoenix Tree Limited declared that during the Reporting Period it had complied with the undertakings 

given under the MAN Deed of Non-competition and CPE Deed of Non-competition, respectively, as disclosed in the 

Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors did not notice any incident of non-compliance of such undertakings and have 

reviewed the status of compliance with the undertakings under the MAN Deed of Non-competition by MAN and CPE 

Deed on Non-competition by CM Phoenix Tree Limited and confirmed that such non-competition undertakings have 

been complied with during the Reporting Period.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN
Details of retirement benefits plan of the Group for the relevant year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid employees for the relevant year are set out in notes 11 and 12 

to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION
The change in Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set out 

below:

Mr. Victor HUANG retired as independent non-executive director of LBX Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd. (stock code: 603883), 

a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 22 February 2024.

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao has been appointed as non-executive director of ANE (Cayman) Inc., a company listed on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9956) since August 2024.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme on 5 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share 

Option Scheme is subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the participants to optimise their performance efficiency for 

the benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with the 

participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

(2) Participants

Any individual, being a full-time or part-time employee, executive, officer, or director (including non-executive 

director and independent non-executive director) of the Group who the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their 

sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is entitled to be offered and granted options.

(3) The maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option 

Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the day on which trading of 

the Shares commences on the Stock Exchange, and such 10% limit represents 20,000,000 Shares. The number of 

the options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 13,202,000 Shares (representing approximately 

6.4% of the Company’s issued shares as at the date of this report).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(4) The maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted 

under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and 

outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of 

the Company for the time being.

(5) Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may, subject to the terms and conditions upon which such option is granted, be exercised in whole or 

in part by the grantee giving notice in writing to the Company in such form as the Board may from time to time 

determine stating that the option is thereby exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised.

(6) Vesting period of options granted under the Share Option Scheme

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, the Board has the sole discretion to 

determine the vesting schedule and vesting conditions (including, without limitation, conditions as to performance 

criteria to be satisfied by the participant and/or the Group) for any grant of option to any participant, which shall be 

stated in the grant letter.

(7) Amount payable on application or acceptance of the option

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an 

option is HK$/RMB/MOP/NTD1.

(8) Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board in its 

absolute discretion, but must be at least the higher of:

(i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of 

offer of the option, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in 

securities;

(ii) the average of the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets 

for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

(9) The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, 

save that no option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted. No option may be granted 

more than ten years after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the 

Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 

ten years from the date of its adoption. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately six years 

and three months as at the date of this report.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. 

Other information — 1. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the share option granted

The following table sets forth the particulars of the movements of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme 

during the Reporting Period:

Changes during the year

ended 31 December  2023

Grantees Date of grant

Exercise

price per

Share Exercise period

Outstanding

as at

1 January

2023 Granted Exercised

Lapsed/

Forfeited

Outstanding

as at

31 December

2023

(HK$) (Note a)

Mr. CUI Zhihui 

(Executive Director)

20 Sep 2019 (Note b) 10.94 20 Sep 2022 – 20 Sep 2025 150,000 – – – 150,000

8 April 2020 (Note c) 8.76 8 April 2022 – 8 April 2025 131,250 – – (18,750) 112,500

8 April 2020 (Note c) 8.76 8 April 2023 – 8 April 2026 150,000 – – (37,500) 112,500

9 April 2021 (Note d) 10.00 9 April 2022 – 9 April 2025 175,000 – – (25,000) 150,000

9 April 2021 (Note d) 10.00 9 April 2023 – 9 April 2026 200,000 – – (50,000) 150,000

31 March 2022 (Note e) 8.61 31 March 2023 – 31 March 2026 200,000 – – (50,000) 150,000

31 March 2022 (Note e) 8.61 31 March 2024 – 31 March 2027 200,000 – – – 200,000

Other Employees 20 Sep 2019 (Note b) 10.94 20 Sep 2022 – 20 Sep 2025 1,474,500 – – (372,000) 1,102,500

8 April 2020 (Note c) 8.76 8 April 2022 – 8 April 2025 782,750 – – (175,625) 607,125

8 April 2020 (Note c) 8.76 8 April 2023 – 8 April 2026 1,073,000 – – (464,375) 608,625

9 April 2021 (Note d) 10.00 9 April 2022 – 9 April 2025 1,036,625 – – (242,375) 794,250

9 April 2021 (Note d) 10.00 9 April 2023 – 9 April 2026 1,415,500 – – (621,250) 794,250

31 March 2022 (Note e) 8.61 31 March 2023 – 31 March 2026 1,632,500 – – (821,375) 811,125

31 March 2022 (Note e) 8.61 31 March 2024 – 31 March 2027 1,632,500 – – (551,000) 1,081,500

Total 10,253,625 – – (3,429,250) 6,824,375

Notes:

a. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date the options were granted on 20 September 2019, 8 April 2020, 9 April 2021 

and 31 March 2022 was HK$10.68 per Share, HK$8.8 per Share, HK$10.0 per Share and HK$8.36 per Share respectively.

b. The options shall be vested on 20 September 2022 conditional upon fulfilment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the 

Company’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit.

c. The 50% of options shall be vested on 7 April 2022 and another 50% of options shall be vested on 7 April 2023 conditional upon fulfilment 

of the revised performance targets resolved by the Board on 9 April 2021.



Annual Report 2023 49

Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the share option granted (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

d. The options shall be vested in two tranches. The 50% of the options (the “Tranche 1 options”) shall be vested on 8 April 2022 and another 

50% of the options (the “Tranche 2 options”) shall be vested on 8 April 2023. The 25% of Tranche 1 options and Tranche 2 options shall 

be vested with no performance targets and 75% of Tranche 1 options and Tranche 2 options shall be vested conditional upon fulfilment of 

the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Company’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit.

e. The options shall be vested in two tranches. The 50% of the options (the “Tranche 1 options”) shall be vested on 30 March 2023 and 

another 50% of the options (the “Tranche 2 options”) shall be vested on 30 March 2024. The 25% of Tranche 1 options and Tranche 2 

options shall be vested with no performance targets and 75% of Tranche 1 options and Tranche 2 options shall be vested conditional upon 

fulfilment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Company’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit.

f. The estimated fair values of the options granted on 20 September 2019, 8 April 2020, 9 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 are approximately 

RMB4,370,000, RMB3,762,000, RMB5,703,000 and RMB5,066,000 respectively.

g. For the model used in determining the value of the options, please refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial statements on page 176  of 

this report. For the accounting standard and policy adopted, please refer to note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements on page 134 

of this report.

h. The weighted average closing price immediately before the exercise date is not applicable because no option was exercised during the 

Reporting Period.

i. There are no participants with options granted in excess of the individual limit and no grants to suppliers of goods and services.

j. In respect of the Share Option Scheme, the number of share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 9,746,375 

Shares as at 1 January 2023 and 13,175,625 Shares as at 31 December 2023.

k. The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 

December 2023 divided by the weighted average number of the Shares in issue for the year ended 31 December 2023 is 3.3%.

l. No share options were cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted or agreed to be granted under the Share Option Scheme during 

the Reporting Period.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME
Details of the 2021 Restricted Share Unites Scheme

The Company adopted a restricted share units scheme (“2021 RSU Scheme”) on 10 June 2021 (the “Adoption Date I”) 

with the major terms and details set out below:

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the 2021 RSU Scheme is to recognise and reward the participants for their contributions to the 

Group and attract, retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with the participants whose 

contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

(2) Eligibility

Participants of the 2021 RSU Scheme include any full-time or part-time employee, director (including any executive 

or non-executive director) and officer of any member of the Group but excluding any excluded participant.

(3) Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to the terms of the 2021 RSU 

Scheme, the 2021 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for ten (10) years commencing on the Adoption Date I. 

The remaining life of the 2021 RSU Scheme is approximately seven years and two months.
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the 2021 Restricted Share Unites Scheme (Continued)

(4) Appointment of the Trustee

The Company has entered into the trust deed dated 10 June 2021 (the “Trust Deed I”) to appoint Unity Trust 

Limited as the trustee (the “Trustee”) to assist with the administration of the 2021 RSU Scheme and the vesting of 

awards to be granted pursuant to the 2021 RSU Scheme. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and 

belief having made all reasonable enquiries, the Trustee is an independent third party.

Subject to compliance with the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme, the Listing Rules, the memorandum and articles 

of association of the Company and other applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Company may at any time at 

its sole and absolute discretion (i) instruct the Trustee to purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market); 

and/or (ii) allot and issue new Shares to the Trustee for the purpose of satisfying the RSU that are vested under 

the 2021 RSU Scheme. The Trustee shall hold any Shares so allotted, issued or purchased until such Shares are 

transferred to the grantees or to the nominee account in accordance with the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme and 

the Trust Deed I.

The Company shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the Trustee to enable the Trustee to satisfy its 

obligation in connection with the administration of the 2021 RSU Scheme.

(5) Grant and acceptance

On and subject to the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme and the Listing Rules, the Board may at any time during 

the term of the 2021 RSU Scheme make an offer of the grant of award to any participant of such number of RSUs 

as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine. The Board will notify any selected participant and specify in 

the grant letter (i) the name of the selected participant; (ii) the manner of acceptance of the award; (iii) the number 

of RSUs granted and the number of underlying Shares represented by such RSUs; (iv) the vesting schedule and 

vesting conditions (if any); and (v) such other terms and conditions of the grant as the Board shall determine.

A selected participant may accept an offer of grant of RSUs in such manner and within such period as set out in the 

grant letter. Upon acceptance of an offer, the selected participant would become a grantee under the 2021 RSU 

Scheme.

(6) Vesting

Subject to the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme, the Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting schedule 

and vesting conditions (including, without limitation, conditions as to performance criteria to be satisfied by the 

participant and/or the Group) for any grant of award to any participant, which shall be stated in the grant letter.

Within a reasonable time after the vesting conditions (if any) and schedule have been fulfilled or waived, the 

Board shall send a vesting notice to the relevant grantee setting out, inter alias, (a) the extent to which the vesting 

conditions (if any) and schedule have been fulfilled or waived; (b) the number of Shares (and, if so clearly specified 

in the grant letter by the Board in its entire discretion, the cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/

or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) the grantee will receive; (c) 

any trust arrangement of the Shares to be obtained by the grantee (if applicable); and (d) the lock-up arrangement 

or other restrictions for such Shares (if applicable).

Subject to the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme and the grant letter, the RSUs which have vested shall be satisfied, 

within a reasonable period from the vesting date of such RSUs, by the Board directing and procuring the Trustee 

to transfer the Shares underlying the award (and, if so clearly specified in the grant letter by the Board in its entire 

discretion, the cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and 

non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) to the grantee or to the nominee account.
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the 2021 Restricted Share Unites Scheme (Continued)

(7) Maximum number of underlying Shares

No RSU shall be granted pursuant to the 2021 RSU Scheme if as a result of such grant (assumed accepted), the 

aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to the 2021 RSU Scheme (excluding RSUs that 

have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme) will exceed 2.5% of the 

number of Shares in issue from time to time. The number of the RSUs available for grant under the RSU Scheme 

was 1,497,500 RSUs (representing approximately 0.72% of the Company’s issued shares as at the date of this 

report).

(8) Amount payable on acceptance of the RSU

Grantees are not required to make any payment in respect of the RSUs granted.

(9) Rights attached to Awards

Neither the grantee nor the Trustee shall enjoy any right of a Shareholder by virtue of a grant of RSUs pursuant to 

the 2021 RSU Scheme, unless and until such Shares underlying the RSUs are actually issued or transferred to the 

grantee or the nominee account operated by the Trustee on behalf of the grantees (as the case may be) upon the 

vesting of the RSUs. The Board shall have the sole and absolute discretion to determine whether or not a grantee 

shall have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of 

non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the RSUs.

For further details of the 2021 RSU Scheme, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10 June 

2021 and 16 June 2021.

Details of the 2023 Restricted Share Unites Scheme

The Company has adopted the 2023 RSU Scheme on 22 November 2023 (the “Adoption Date II”) with the major terms 

and details set out below:

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 RSU Scheme is to recognise and reward the participants for their contributions to the 

Group and attract, retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with the participants whose 

contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

(2) Eligibility

Participants of the 2023 RSU Scheme include any full-time or part-time employee, director (including any executive 

or non-executive director) and officer of any member of the Group, the Company’s associated corporation(s) and 

investee company(ies) but excluding any excluded participant.

(3) Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to the terms of the 2023 RSU 

Scheme, the 2023 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for ten (10) years commencing on the Adoption Date II. 

The remaining life of the 2023 RSU Scheme is approximately nine years and seven months.



MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED52

Directors’ Report

RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the 2023 Restricted Share Unites Scheme (Continued)

(4) Appointment of the Trustee

The Company has entered into the trust deed dated 22 November 2023 (the “Trust Deed II”) to appoint Unity Trust 

Limited as the trustee (the “Trustee”) to assist with the administration of the 2023 RSU Scheme and the vesting of 

awards to be granted pursuant to the 2023 RSU Scheme. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and 

belief having made all reasonable enquiries, the Trustee is an independent third party.

Subject to compliance with the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme, the Listing Rules, the memorandum and articles 

of association of the Company and other applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Company may at any time at 

its sole and absolute discretion instruct the Trustee to purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) for 

the purpose of satisfying the RSUs that are vested under the 2023 RSU Scheme. The Trustee shall hold any Shares 

so allotted, issued or purchased until such Shares are transferred to the grantees or to the nominee account in 

accordance with the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme and the Trust Deed II.

The Company shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the Trustee to enable the Trustee to satisfy its 

obligation in connection with the administration of the 2023 RSU Scheme.

(5) Grant and acceptance

On and subject to the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme and the Listing Rules, the Board may at any time during 

the term of the 2023 RSU Scheme make an offer of the grant of award to any participant of such number of RSUs 

as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine. The Board will notify any selected participant and specify in 

the grant letter (i) the name of the selected participant; (ii) the manner of acceptance of the award; (iii) the number 

of RSUs granted and the number of underlying Shares represented by such RSUs; (iv) the vesting schedule and 

vesting conditions (if any); and (v) such other terms and conditions of the grant as the Board shall determine. A 

selected participant may accept an offer of grant of RSUs in such manner and within such period as set out in the 

grant letter. Upon acceptance of an offer, the selected participant would become a grantee under the 2023 RSU 

Scheme.

(6) Vesting

Subject to the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme, the Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting 

schedule and vesting conditions (including, without limitation, conditions as to performance criteria to be satisfied 

by the participant and/or the Group) for any grant of award to any participant, which shall be stated in the grant 

letter. Within a reasonable time after the vesting conditions (if any) and schedule have been fulfilled or waived, the 

Board shall send a vesting notice to the relevant grantee setting out, inter alias, (a) the extent to which the vesting 

conditions (if any) and schedule have been fulfilled or waived; (b) the number of Shares (and, if so clearly specified 

in the grant letter by the Board in its entire discretion, the cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/

or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) the grantee will receive; (c) 

any trust arrangement of the Shares to be obtained by the grantee (if applicable); and (d) the lock-up arrangement 

or other restrictions for such Shares (if applicable).

Subject to the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme and the grant letter, the RSUs which have vested shall be satisfied, 

within a reasonable period from the vesting date of such RSUs, by the Board directing and procuring the Trustee 

to transfer the Shares underlying the award (and, if so clearly specified in the grant letter by the Board in its entire 

discretion, the cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-

scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) to the grantee or to the nominee account.
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the 2023 Restricted Share Unites Scheme (Continued)

(7) Maximum number of underlying Shares

No RSU shall be granted pursuant to the 2023 RSU Scheme if as a result of such grant (assumed accepted), the 

aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to the 2023 RSU Scheme (excluding RSUs that 

have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the terms of the 2023 RSU Scheme) will exceed 10% of the 

number of Shares in issue from time to time. The number of the RSUs available for grant under the 2023 RSU 

Scheme was 20,750,500 RSUs (representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued shares as at the date of 

this report).

(8) Amount payable on acceptance of the RSU

Grantees are not required to make any payment in respect of the RSUs granted.

(9) Rights attached to Awards

Neither the grantee nor the Trustee shall enjoy any right of a Shareholder by virtue of a grant of RSUs pursuant to 

the 2023 RSU Scheme, unless and until such Shares underlying the RSUs are actually issued or transferred to the 

grantee or the nominee account operated by the Trustee on behalf of the grantees (as the case may be) upon the 

vesting of the RSUs. The Board shall have the sole and absolute discretion to determine whether or not a grantee 

shall have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the RSUs.

For further details of the 2023 RSU Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 22 November 

2023.

Details of the Restricted Share Units granted

On 30 March 2023, the Board approved the grant of an aggregate of 2,492,000 RSUs (the “2023 RSU Awards”) 

(representing 2,492,000 underlying Shares and amounting to approximately 1.2% of the issued share capital of the 

Company) to selected participants (the “2023 Grantees”) in accordance with the terms of the 2021 RSU Scheme as at 

the date of this report. The 2023 Grantees are not required to make any payment in respect of the 2023 RSU Awards.

Among the 2023 RSU Awards, (i) 560,000 RSUs (representing 560,000 underlying Shares) were granted to Mr. CUI 

Zhihui, the executive Director; (ii) 36,000 RSUs (representing 36,000 underlying Shares) were granted to each of Mr. 

Darryl E GREEN (non-executive Director resigned on 29 June 2023), Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS, Mr. ZHANG Yinghao 

and Mr. ZHAI Feng, non-executive Directors; (iii) 36,000 RSUs (representing 36,000 underlying Shares) were granted to 

each of Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong, Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie and Mr. Victor HUANG, independent non-executive 

Directors and (iv) an aggregate of 900,000 RSUs (representing 900,000 underlying Shares) were granted to nine selected 

participants, each of whom is a director of the subsidiaries of the Company.

The 2023 RSU Awards will be satisfied, upon the satisfaction or waiver (as the case may be) of all the relevant vesting 

conditions, by existing Shares to be acquired by the Trustee through on-market purchases. The Trustee purchased 

27,750 Shares during the Reporting Period.
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the Restricted Share Units granted (Continued)

The following table sets forth the particulars of the movements of RSUs granted under the 2021 RSU Scheme during the 

Reporting Period:

Name of grantees of RSUs Date of Grant Date of Vesting

Number of RSUs

outstanding

as of

1 January 2023

Granted

during

the Reporting Period

Lapsed/Forfeited 

during

the Reporting Period

Number of RSUs

outstanding

as of

31 December 2023

Mr. CUI Zhihui (Executive Director) 10 June 2021 (Note b) 10 June 2024 130,000 – – 130,000

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 200,000 – – 200,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 140,000 – 140,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 140,000 – 140,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 280,000 – 280,000

Mr. Darryl E GREEN 

(Non-executive Director) 

(resigned on 29 June 2023)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – (13,015) –

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – (13,000) –

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 (9,000) –

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 (9,000) –

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 (18,000) –

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS 

(Non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao 

(Non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000

Mr. ZHAI Feng 

(Non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong 

(Independent non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie 

(Independent non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000
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Name of grantees of RSUs Date of Grant Date of Vesting

Number of RSUs

outstanding

as of

1 January 2023

Granted

during

the Reporting Period

Lapsed/Forfeited 

during

the Reporting Period

Number of RSUs

outstanding

as of

31 December 2023

Mr. Victor HUANG 

(Independent non-executive Director)

9 September 2021 (Note c) 9 September 2024 13,015 – – 13,015

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 13,000 – – 13,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 9,000 – 9,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 18,000 – 18,000

Employees 10 June 2021 (Note b) 10 June 2024 521,000 – (162,000) 359,000

31 March 2022 (Note d) 31 March 2025 701,000 – (313,000) 388,000

30 March 2023 (Note e) 30 March 2024 – 420,000 (90,000) 330,000

30 March 2023 (Note f) 30 March 2025 – 420,000 (90,000) 330,000

30 March 2023 (Note g) 30 March 2026 – 840,000 (188,000) 652,000

1,734,105 2,492,000 (905,015) 3,321,090

Notes:

a. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date the RSUs were granted on 10 June 2021, 9 September 2021, 31 March 2022 

and 30 March 2023 was HK$9.25 per Share, HK$9.21 per Share, HK$10.0 per Share and HK$6.83 per Share respectively.

b. The RSUs shall be vested on 10 June 2024 conditional upon fulfilment of the vesting conditions resolved by the Board on 10 June 2021.

c. The RSUs shall be vested on 9 September 2024, subject to the relevant grantee remaining as a director of the Company or its subsidiaries as 

at the vesting date.

d. The RSUs shall be vested on 31 March 2025, subject to the relevant grantee remaining as a director or employee of the Company or its 

subsidiaries as at the vesting date.

e. The RSUs shall be vested on 30 March 2024 conditional upon fulfilment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the 

Company’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit or individual performance level.

f. The RSUs shall be vested on 30 March 2025 conditional upon fulfilment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the 

Company’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit or individual performance level.

g. The RSUs shall be vested on 30 March 2026, subject to the relevant grantee remaining as a director or employee of the Company or its 

subsidiaries as at the vesting date.

h. The estimated fair values of the RSUs granted on 10 June 2021, 9 September 2021, 31 March 2022 and 30 March 2023 are approximately 

HK$6.97 million, HK$0.83 million, HK$8.88 million and HK$17.0 million respectively. The fair value of the RSUs granted is measured with 

reference to the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company at the grant date.

i. For the accounting standard and policy adopted, please refer to note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements on page 134 of this 

report.

j. The weighted average closing price immediately before the vesting date is not applicable due to the no RSUs shall be vested during the 

Reporting Period.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the Restricted Share Units granted (Continued)

The following table sets forth the particulars of the movements of RSUs granted under the 2021 RSU Scheme during the 

Reporting Period: (Continued)
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RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS SCHEME (Continued)
Details of the Restricted Share Units granted (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

k. In respect of the 2021 RSU Scheme, the number of RSUs available for grant under the 2021 RSU Scheme was 3,285,520 RSUs as at 1 

January 2023 and 1,698,535 RSUs as at 31 December 2023.

l. The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the 2021 RSU Scheme during the year ended 31 December 

2023 divided by the weighted average number of the Shares in issue for the year ended 31 December 2023 is nil as the award Shares are 

satisfied by on-market purchase of existing Shares.

m. No RSUs were vested or cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, no RSUs were granted or agreed to be granted under the 2021 RSU Scheme during the 

Reporting Period.

In respect of the 2023 RSU Scheme, the number of RSUs available for grant under the 2023 RSU Scheme was 

20,750,500 RSUs as at 22 November 2023 (date of adoption) and 20,750,500 RSUs as at 31 December 2023.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the 2023 RSU Scheme during the year 

ended 31 December 2023 divided by the weighted average number of the Shares in issue for the year ended 31 

December 2023 is nil as no RSU was granted.

No RSUs were granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed under the 2023 RSU Scheme during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their 

associates in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations, recorded 

in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws 

of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) or required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code 

were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of interest

Number of Shares

or underlying

Shares(1)

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Mr. CUI Zhihui Beneficial owner(2) 2,190,000 (L) 1.06%

Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS Beneficial owner(3) 62,015 (L) 0.03%

Mr. ZHANG Yinghao Beneficial owner(4) 62,015 (L) 0.03%

Mr. ZHAI Feng Beneficial owner(5) 62,015 (L) 0.03%

Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong Beneficial owner(6) 62,015 (L) 0.03%

Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie Beneficial owner(7) 62,015 (L) 0.03%

Mr. Victor HUANG Beneficial owner(8) 62,015 (L) 0.03%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS (Continued)
Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the Company issued 207,505,000 Shares. The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

(2) Represents Mr. CUI Zhihui’s entitlement to receive up to 2,190,000 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options and the vesting of the 

awards granted to him under the Share Option Scheme and 2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those 

options and awards.

(3) Represents Mr. John Thomas MCGINNIS’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to 

him under the 2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.

(4) Represents Mr. ZHANG Yinghao’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to him under 

the 2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.

(5) Represents Mr. ZHAI Feng’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to him under the 

2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.

(6) Represents Mr. Thomas YEOH Eng Leong’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to 

him under the 2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.

(7) Represents Ms. WONG Man Lai Stevie’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to her 

under the 2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.

(8) Represents Mr. Victor HUANG’s entitlement to receive up to 62,015 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the awards granted to him under the 

2021 RSU Scheme, subject to the vesting schedule and conditions of those awards.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the 

Company under section 336 of SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had 

an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares:

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

Number of 
Shares or 

underlying 
Shares (Note 1)

Approximate 
percentage of

 shareholding (Note 1)

Manpower Holdings, Inc. Beneficial owner 41,539,168 (L) 20.02%

Manpower Nominees Inc. Beneficial owner 34,960,220 (L) 16.85%

ManpowerGroup Inc. (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporations 76,499,388 (L) 36.87%

CM Phoenix Tree Limited Beneficial owner 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

CM Phoenix Tree II Limited (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

CPEChina Fund II, L.P. (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

Citron PE Associates II, L.P. (Note 3)

 (formerly known as CITIC PE Associates II, L.P.)

Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

Citron PE Funds II Limited (Note 3)

 (formerly known as CITIC PE Funds II Limited)

Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

Citron PE Holdings Limited (Note 3)

 (formerly known as CITICPE Holdings Limited)

Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

CLSA Global Investments Management Limited (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

CITIC Securities International Company Limited (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

CITIC Securities Company Limited (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 64,015,263 (L) 30.85%

FIL Limited (Note 4) Interest in controlled corporation 20,750,250 (L) 9.99%

Pandanus Associates Inc. (Note 4) Interest in controlled corporation 20,750,250 (L) 9.99%

Pandanus Partners L.P. (Note 4) Interest in controlled corporation 20,750,250 (L) 9.99%

Fidelity China Special Situations Plc Beneficial owner 10,581,000 (L) 5.10%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the Company issued 207,505,000 Shares. The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

(2) Manpower Holdings, Inc. and Manpower Nominees Inc. are wholly owned by ManpowerGroup Inc. and therefore ManpowerGroup Inc. is 

deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Manpower Holdings, Inc. and Manpower Nominees Inc.

(3) CM Phoenix Tree Limited is wholly owned by CM Phoenix Tree II Limited, which is owned as to 86.33% by CPEChina Fund II, L.P. and 

13.67% by CPEChina Fund IIA, L.P. respectively. The general partner of CPEChina Fund II, L.P. and CPEChina Fund IIA, L.P. is Citron 

PE Associates II, L.P. (formerly known as CITIC PE Associates II, L.P.). Citron PE Associates II, L.P. is an exempted limited partnership 

registered under the laws of the Cayman Islands whose general partner is Citron PE Funds II Limited (formerly known as CITIC PE Funds 

II Limited). Citron PE Funds II Limited is wholly owned by Citron PE Holdings Limited (formerly known as CITICPE Holdings Limited), which 

is held as to 35% by CLSA Global Investments Management Limited. CLSA Global Investments Management Limited is wholly owned by 

CITIC Securities International Company Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by CITIC Securities Company Limited (a company listed 

on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6030) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600030)). Therefore, each of CM Phoenix 

II Limited, CPEChina Fund II, L.P., Citron PE Associates II, L.P., Citron PE Funds II Limited, Citron PE Holdings Limited, CLSA Global 

Investments Management Limited, CITIC Securities International Company Limited and CITIC Securities Company Limited is deemed to be 

interested in the Shares held by CM Phoenix Tree Limited.

(4) As the Company is aware, FIL Limited was deemed to be interested in 20,750,500 Shares held by its controlled entities/corporations. 

Pandanus Partners L.P. owned 39.40% of the equity interest in FIL Limited. Pandanus Partners L.P. is wholly owned by Pandanus Associates 

Inc. Accordingly, Pandanus Partners L.P. and Pandanus Associates Inc. were also deemed to be interested in the aforesaid 20,750,500 

Shares.

(5) Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, if certain conditions are met, the Shareholders are required to submit a disclosure of interest notice. In 

the event of changes in the shareholding of the Shareholders in the Company, the Shareholders will not be required to notify the Company 

and the Stock Exchange unless certain conditions are met. Therefore, the latest shareholding of the Shareholders in the Company may be 

different from the shareholding submitted to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been notified of any persons (other than a 

Director or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares that 

were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Continuing connected transactions”, “Related party transactions” and 

“Management discussion and analysis” and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report, 

no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its holding company or 

subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted during the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Continuing connected transactions”, “Related party transactions” and 

“Management discussion and analysis” and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report, no 

contracts of significance (i) in relation to the Group’s business; or (ii) for provision of services to the Company (or any of its 

subsidiaries) by a Controlling Shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries) between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and 

a Controlling Shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries) subsisted during the Reporting Period.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Reporting Period, revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 29.4% of 

the Group’s total revenue and the Group five largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 40.3% of the 

Group’s revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 10% of 

the Group’s total purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 26.3% of the 

Group’s total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more 

than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest suppliers and 

customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted the following transactions which constitute non-exempt continuing 

connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, details of these transactions are set out below:

Trademark and proprietary product licensing

On 20 June 2019, MAN (as licensor), ManpowerGroup Greater China (HK) Limited (“Manpower HK”) (as licensee) and 

the Company entered into an amended and restated brand license agreement (the “Brand License Agreement”) to 

amend and restate the license agreement between MAN and the Company dated 16 July 2015 (the “Original License 

Agreement”) and to novate all the rights and obligations of the Company under the Original License Agreement to 

Manpower HK.

Pursuant to the Brand License Agreement, among others, MAN granted to Manpower HK an exclusive and 

non-transferable license to use certain trademarks and proprietary products solely for the purpose of and relating 

to, among others, the carrying on of the Group’s business within the Greater China region. Under the Brand License 

Agreement, Manpower HK has the right to sublicense the use of the licensed trademarks and proprietary products within 

the Greater China region to any other member of the Group (including the Company) from time to time, including the 

subsidiaries and their branches in the Greater China region from time to time, provided that (i) the entities so sublicensed 

must be a subsidiary or branch of the Company or a member of our Group; and (ii) the entities so sublicensed shall be 

subject to at least the same level of restrictions on the obligations as Manpower HK as licensee arising from the Brand 

License Agreement. The term of the Brand License Agreement shall be perpetual from the Listing Date for so long as 

MAN, directly or indirectly, remains a shareholder in Manpower HK or the Company of at least 0.1% of each of its issued 

shares.

On 18 January 2022, the Board resolved to approve the renewed annual caps for the transactions contemplated 

under the Brand License Agreement in respect of another three years ending December 31, 2024. The annual caps 

of transactions contemplated under the Brand License Agreement would be RMB22,181,000, RMB28,835,000 and 

RMB37,486,000 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and the years ending 2023 and 2024, respectively. For the year 

ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate royalty fees in respect of such licensing arrangement amounted to RMB9.3 

million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Flexible staffing services provided to the MAN Group

On 13 June 2019, the Company and MAN entered into a master services agreement (the “Master Services Agreement”), 

pursuant to which it was agreed that among others, the Group would continue to provide to the MAN Group flexible 

staffing services already existing as of the Listing Date in jurisdictions which the Group operates for a term commencing 

from the Listing Date until 31 December 2021. Such services include (i) project-based flexible staffing services where 

certain customers of the MAN Group have staffing needs within Greater China and we provide the relevant services to 

the MAN Group to enable it to serve such customers; and (ii) the staffing of a management staff in charge of project 

implementation who is based in Greater China and who serves the MAN Group in the territory.

On 18 January 2022, the Board resolved to renew the Master Services Agreement and approve the renewed annual 

caps for the transactions contemplated thereunder for a further term of three years with effect from January 1, 2022 

to December 31, 2024 by entering into an agreement dated December 21, 2021 between the Company and MAN to 

amend and supplement the Master Services Agreement. The annual caps of transactions contemplated under the Master 

Services Agreement would be RMB8,054,000, RMB8,054,000 and RMB8,054,000 for the years ended 31 December 

2022 and the years ending 2023 and 2024, respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate fees for 

the project-based services provided by the Group to the MAN Group amounted to RMB2,204,673.

Confirmation from independent non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that 

the above continuing connected transactions have been entered into in (i) the ordinary and usual course of business 

of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements governing the 

transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s independent auditor

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has engaged the auditor of the Company to conduct 

certain procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong 

Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 

Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions 

under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has confirmed to the Board in writing that for the year ended 31 December 2023, the continuing connected 

transactions, which were entered into:

a. have received the approval of the Board;

b. have been in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company for transactions involving the provision of goods 

or services;

c. have been in accordance with the relevant agreement governing such transactions; and

d. have not exceeded the relevant announced cap amounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 36 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 36 to consolidated financial statements include related party transactions 

disclosed under accounting standards and related party transactions which also constitute continuing connected 

transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions in respect of the 

remuneration of Directors and chief executives of the Company constitute continuing connected transactions as defined 

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and 

independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions 

in respect of the remuneration of key management personnel (other than directors and chief executives) of the Company 

did not fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A 

of the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise disclosed in this report, the Directors believe, all other related party transactions 

set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements do not fall within the definition of “connected transactions” 

or “continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The Company 

confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year 

ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being 

the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a 

pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 

Company’s securities. If the Shareholders have any doubt in relation to any relief from taxation by holding the Shares, 

they are advised to consult their own professional advisers.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF 
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has not entered into any new loan agreements containing any covenant relating to specific performance of 

the Controlling Shareholders, which is required to be disclosed in accordance with Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of 

the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of 25% as required under Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions as set out in 

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. Principal 

corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on 

pages 24 to 41 of this report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the 

section headed “Financial Summary” on page 206 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY
The Articles of Association provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets 

of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or 

sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in 

their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has arranged appropriate insurance covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and Senior 

Management in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the Reporting Period and remained in force as at the date of this 

report for the benefit of the Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the Reporting Period, the trustee of the 2021 RSU Scheme purchased on the market an aggregate of 27,750 

Shares, at prices ranging from HK$5.45 to HK$6.00 per share for an aggregate consideration of approximately 

HKD163,860. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not purchase, sell or redeem any of the listed securities of the 

Company during the Reporting Period.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Other than the Share Option Scheme and Restricted Share Units Scheme, at no time during the Reporting Period was 

the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to 

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company or any 

other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Restricted Share Units Scheme” in this 

section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the Reporting Period and subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of the 

Company were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The 2024 AGM will be held on Wednesday, 26 June 2024. A notice convening the 2024 AGM will be published on the 

Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance with the 

requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, 

speak and vote at the 2024 AGM and the Shareholders’ entitlement to the 2023 Proposed Final Dividend, the register of 

members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) will be closed as appropriate as set out below:

For determining the entitlement to attend, speak and vote at the 2024 AGM

The Register of Members will be closed from Friday, 21 June 2024 to Wednesday, 26 June 2024, both days inclusive, 

during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the identity of members who are entitled 

to attend, speak and vote at the 2024 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates 

must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 

Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not 

later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 June 2024.

For determining the entitlement to the 2023 Proposed Final Dividend

The Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 3 July 2024 to Monday, 8 July 2024, both days inclusive, 

during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the 2023 Proposed Final Dividend, 

all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the 

Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2 July 

2024.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Deloitte 

Touche Tohmatsu who will retire at the 2024 AGM. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, being eligible, will offer themselves for 

re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company will be 

proposed at the 2024 AGM.

There has been no change of auditor of the Company since the Listing.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Important events which have occurred after 31 December 2023 are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

On behalf of the Board

ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited

CUI Zhihui

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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ABOUT THE REPORT
This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report of ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (the 

“Company”, together with its subsidiaries “the Group” or “ManpowerGroup”), highlighting its ESG performance, with 

disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules set out by The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Group has complied with all “comply or explain” provisions set out in the 

ESG Reporting Guide during the reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Boundary

This report covers the Group’s overall environmental and social performance of its human resources services, including 

flexible staffing, headhunting, recruitment process outsourcing, and other workforce solution operations in the People’s 

Republic of China (the “PRC” or “Mainland China”), Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong”) 

and Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Macau”) and Taiwan1 (collectively referred as “Greater China 

Region”), during the Reporting Period, unless otherwise specified.

The total office number included in the reporting scope is 312. Compared to the previous reporting period, the total office 

area decreased from 17,984.3 m2 to 16,303.8 m2 this year, due to the termination of rental agreement or the demolition 

of office space in certain rooms3. The scope has covered all offices with major operations during the Reporting Period.

Reporting Principles

The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following principles:

Materiality – materiality assessments have been carried out to identify material environmental and social issues that 

have major impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders, procedures, and results of the 

engagement of which are presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality” in the Report.

Quantitative – key performance indicators (“KPI(s)”) have been established, and are measurable and applicable to make 

valid comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or 

calculation tools used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed when applicable.

Balance – performance of the Group was presented in an unbiased and impartial manner. Reasons for omission have 

been disclosed if the omission is inevitable.

Consistency – consistent statistical methodologies and presentation of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful 

comparisons of related data over time.

1 The offices included in scope included the Shanghai Xinmei office, Shanghai Jingan office, Shanghai Zhangjiang office, Suzhou office, 

Nanjing office, Changshu office, Beijing office, Tianjin office, Shenzhen office, Guangzhou office, Foshan office, Chengdu office, Dalian 

office, Wuhan Yike office, Wuhan Fanhai SOHO office, Xian foreign service office, Hangzhou office, Hangzhou ITO office, PinGeHuo offices 

(Shanghai Jingan office and two offices in Sichuan), the Taiwan offices (namely Kaohsiung, Luzhu, Taipei, and Taichung offices), and the 

Hong Kong and Macau offices (namely Wan Chai, Causeway Bay, Kwun Tong - Chong Yip Street, Kwun Tong –Kwun Tong Road, Macau 

and Hengqin offices).

2 Hangzhou ITO office is a new office included in the reporting scope this year. Xian Chaoyang office stopped operating in mid-year 2022, it 

was no longer included in the reporting scope.

3 Offices that reduced rental area included: Shanghai Jingan office, Shanghai Zhangjiang office, Suzhou office, Nanjing office, Tianjin office, 

Guangzhou office, Wuhan Yike office.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT
Governance Structure

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company assumes overall responsibility for the Group’s 

ESG strategy and reporting, as well as evaluating and addressing ESG-related risks. These matters are reviewed at 

least once a year during Board meetings, with senior management overseeing ESG issues on a day-to-day basis. When 

material ESG risks that could impact the Group’s interests are identified, the Board is promptly informed, and measures 

to address these risks are proposed. Both directors and senior management have received professional training on the 

latest ESG development and recommended approaches enabling better understanding of the best ESG practices and 

actively contribute to development of Company’s ESG strategy and reporting.

During regular Board meetings, senior management and the Board discuss the approach to these risks and evaluate 

their potential impact on the Group’s financial performance. Targets, policies, and operating strategies are then established 

to mitigate any negative effects, with priority given to risks with higher short-term implications.

In addition to the risk management, the Board prioritises establishing targets that align with the Group’s business 

development and operations, with a focus on supporting clients’ growth and ESG objectives. This involves implementing 

robust data protection measures, carefully selecting suppliers, and prioritising employee well-being through training, safe 

working conditions, and compliance with employment policies and local labour laws.

While addressing carbon emissions and waste control, the Group remains dedicated to supporting clients and aligning 

with their ESG goals.

Board of Directors

ESG Working Group

• Formulates and reviews ESG and climate-related strategy and approach

• Oversees ESG and climate-related issues including the associated risks and opportunities

• Approves and reviews targets and key initiatives regularly

Led by senior management and members from finance, compliance, and operation

functions of the Company

Various Departments
Comprises members from various departments and business units of the Group

• Communicates with different committees regularly to ensure relevant committees are aware of the latest ESG and

climate-related issues affecting the Company
• Coordinates ESG and climate-related tasks

• Formulates and implements relevant policies and measures

• Monitors and tracks progress against agreed targets and initiatives

• Provides feedback to the Board

• Implements ESG and climate-related policies and measures

• Provides feedback regarding ESG and climate-related performance and policies
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Governance Structure (Continued)

To review and evaluate the progress and effectiveness of relevant ESG-related strategies, the Group communicates 

with stakeholders regularly to obtain their feedback. Some common methods include annual surveys on employee 

satisfaction, monthly meetings with employees, monthly interviews on client satisfaction, and regular communication 

with clients and potential talents. There are also working groups and departments for employee well-being and training, 

customer service, quality assurance, and community service.

The environmental impact of the Group was minimal due to its business nature. It was also reflected from the stakeholder 

assessment that environmental topics were less material than social topics. However, the Group has spared no effort 

to explore the potential for target setting. Since the Group’s offices are mostly rented and are expected to reinstate in 

their original conditions when the tenancy contracts end, the Group does not have much room to install energy-efficient 

fixtures. The Group has therefore set environmental targets to reduce its energy consumption area under its control. The 

Board will annually review the Group’s ESG performance, and the targets set.

Commitments and Missions on ESG

For over two decades, the Group has placed corporate social responsibility at the core of its operations. Embracing a 

three-dimensional approach to sustainable development encompassing society, economy, and the environment, the 

Group promotes environmentally friendly lifestyles, prioritises employee development, and actively engages in community 

investment and charitable initiatives. Through its persistent efforts to promote sustainable development and raise 

awareness, the Group has emerged as a leader in ESG performance within the industry.

Within the working sphere, the Group is committed to adhering to the following principles,

• Empowering employees and unleashing their full potential;

• Providing equal opportunities for all potential candidates irrespective of their gender, marital status, race, ethnicity, 

age, and religion;

• Making sure employees feel comfortable and safe and are able to work in an accident-free working environment;

• Equipping employees with know-how of the industry, to increase their competency and enhance professionalism; 

and

• Protecting personal data and making sure it is kept confidential.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Commitments and Missions on ESG (Continued)

Outside of the business, the Group also strives to carry out its corporate social responsibility whenever and wherever 

possible. Some of the key areas that the Group has been working on include,

• Facilitating employment in the local community by providing consultation to the unemployed; and

• Giving opinions to governing departments on policy and research trends and partaking in different associations that 

give vocational guidance.

Challenges and Development

In the realm of challenges and development, the year 2023 proved to be a demanding period both internationally and 

domestically. The Group faced ongoing and potentially escalating regional geopolitical tensions, an uncertain global 

economic outlook, and the pressures of rebalancing the Chinese economy under the dual circulation policy. Despite 

these obstacles, the Group approached the future with cautious optimism, relying on the resilience of its personnel, the 

robustness of its business model, and the diversification of its operations. In 2023, the Group remained strategically 

focused on flexible staffing in Mainland China and continued to invest in its people and internal infrastructure.

Throughout the first half of the year, a Board meeting held to approve the 2022 annual report, and both the Audit 

Committee and the Board thoroughly examined the ESG report. The ESG Working Group, led by the senior 

management, engaged in discussions concerning the Group’s existing governance structure and potential climate 

change risks that could impact its operations and everyday business activities. In addition, case studies were conducted 

to learn from other service companies that have taken proactive measures to address climate change risks. The ESG 

Working Group also reviewed environmental targets and proposed new objectives aimed at improving energy efficiency.

During the second half of the year, the Board reviewed the overall ESG governance structure and emphasised the need 

to integrate ESG practices into the Group’s governance framework. They stressed the importance of involving various 

business units to ensure the effective implementation of the ESG strategy. The current ESG Working Group comprises 

members from diverse functions and units. The Directors discussed the environmental targets proposed by the ESG 

Working Group and identified both physical and transactional climate change risks. The Board expressed its commitment 

to promoting low-carbon operations. Moreover, they recommended considering energy consumption levels and 

prioritising equipment with lower energy consumption when purchasing office electronic products such as computers 

and laptops.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Challenges and Development (Continued)

In addition to its operational endeavours, the Group actively participated in the development of the Group standard 

“Advanced Quality Requirements for Talent Assessment Services” of the Shanghai Talent Service Industry Association. 

Furthermore, the Group remained committed to investing in its employees and associates, expanding team capacity, 

fostering a productive and collaborative workplace, and ensuring accountability across the organisation. Recognising 

the importance of data protection and compliance, the Group prioritised data security training and internal operating 

technology infrastructure upgrades to maintain a secure data environment for clients, associates, and candidates.

In 2024, the Group will maintain its strategic focus on flexible staffing in Mainland China, with a specific emphasis on key 

fast-growing industries. These industries include New Energy, Financial Services, IT Services, Healthcare, and Consumer 

& Retail. The Group anticipates that it will capitalize on the growth opportunities within these sectors, leveraging its strong 

global brand and leading position in the market.

Furthermore, the Group is committed to investing in its employees and associates. It plans to enhance employee 

development by offering more internal training programs to foster continuous learning and skill enhancement. By creating 

a productive and collaborative workplace, the Group aims to harness the collective efforts of its workforce in building a 

stronger brand presence in the Greater China region.

Memberships

In addition to its existing affiliations, the Group has become a member of the China Software Industry Association 

during the Reporting Period. This new membership reflects the Group’s commitment to promoting employment and 

furthering its expertise in the software industry. In addition, the Group has successfully acquired the ESBN (ESCAP 

Sustainable Business Network) membership, meaning that the Group is encouraged to actively contribute to the 

2030 Sustainable Agenda and the associated Sustainable Development Goals.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Memberships (Continued)

The Group also maintains close ties and shares expertise with various other associations, including:

• Beijing Human Resources Consulting Association;

• Changshu Human Resources Service Industry Association;

• Chengdu Human Resource Service Industry Association;

• China Human Resources Association;

• Guangdong Human Resource Management Association;

• Shanghai Human Resources Consulting Association;

• Shanghai Association of Foreign Investment;

• Shanghai Pudong Association of Foreign Investment;

• Shenzhen Human Resources Association;

• Suzhou Human Resources Service Industry Association;

• Shanghai Pudong Modern Service Industry Promotion Association;

• Shanghai Jing’an Labour Association; and

• Shanghai Elderly Care Service Industry Association.

Certification

The Group is also dedicated to delivering services that adhere to globally recognised standards. They have been 

accredited with the following certifications:

• ISO 9001 – Quality Management System;

• ISO 27001 – Information Security Management System;

• ISO 20000-1 Information Technology Service management; and

• Maturity Level 5 CMMI V2.0 for Development.
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Award-Winning Performance

The Group has been recognised with different awards and titles for its persisting effort in promoting employment and 

fulfilling its corporate social responsibility. Some of the awards and recognitions received for the Group’s excellent 

performance during the Reporting Period are:

Service Quality:

• 2022 Excellent Human Resources Service Enterprise by DHR

• The Recruiting & Staffing Solution Provider Value Award: “2023 High-end Talent Search HR Agency” by HREC

• The Recruiting & Staffing Solution Provider Value Award: “2023 Flexible Staffing HR Agency – White-collar Positions” 

by HREC

• 2022 Best HR Service Provider by Hroot

• 2022 Best HRTech Service Provider by HRTechChina

• The Best Risk Prevention and Control Award from Colredit China

• 2023 iResearch Awards by iResearch

• 2023 Talent Navigation Award and 2023 Long-Range Endurance by NIO

• 2023 Specialization Award by AstraZeneca

• 2023 Asia-Pacific Human Resource Service Award – Innovation and Development Award by the Asia-Pacific Human 

Resources Development and Service Expo

• The Most Trustworthy Human Resources Company by Maimai

• “High-Quality Human Resources Service Institution” in Minhang District, Shanghai

• Joined the “Nanjing Global Talent Recruitment Service Alliance” in Nanjing

• The Talent Quality-management System, Bronze medal by Taiwan Ministry of Labor (Taiwan offices)
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THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT (Continued)
Award-Winning Performance (Continued)

Social Responsibility:

• Donation Certificate by the Nujiang Prefecture Red Cross Society

• The Caring Company Award 2023 by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service (Hong Kong offices)

Business Growth:

• 2022 Top 30 Influential Brands of Chinese Human Resources Science and Technology by HRTechChina

• 2023 Top 100 Human Resource Service Providers award by TopHR

• 2022 Outstanding Business Partner award by China Nuclear Industry Fifth Construction

• Leading Enterprise in the “Big Data Field of the Software Industry in 2022” by the China Software Industry Association

• 2022 Best Growth Award in Nanhongqiao, Minhang District, Shanghai

• The Best Business Partner Award by Loctek

• Outstanding Human Resources Partner for 2022 by Human Horizons

• Certificate of 2022 Gold Hunting Enterprise by Boss ZHIPIN Lab

• The Best HR Awards 2023 by CTgoodjobs (Hong Kong offices)
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
The Group values input from its stakeholders as they are important parts of the Group. Both internal and external 

stakeholders are regularly communicated with through various channels. The engaged stakeholders and the respective 

communication channels are listed below.

Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels

Employees – Meetings and conferences

– Annual employee satisfaction surveys

– Mentorship programme

Shareholders – Annual Reports

– Annual general meetings

– Investor Relations Department

– Social media

– Hotlines

Potential Talents – Meetings

– Interviews

– Seminars

Clients – Meetings

– Seminars

Service providers – Meetings

– Seminars

Regulators – Meetings and conferences

– Consultation discussions

Media – Annual Reports

– Investor Relations Department

– Social media

– Press release

– Industrial conferences

With regards to matters relating to ESG performances specifically, the Group has also invited stakeholders and 

representatives of the business during the Reporting Period to complete a survey in order to understand their concerns 

and expectations for the Group’s future development. The results of the survey will allow the business to understand if 

there is any gap between stakeholders’ expectations and the business’s efforts in identifying and addressing key issues. 

While stakeholders include shareholders, staff, potential talents, associates, clients, and suppliers, parties that represent 

the business are the Board and senior management. The following matrix shows the results from the stakeholder 

engagement.



MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED74

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY (Continued)
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Environmental Labour Practices Operational Practices

1 Energy 8 Employment Policies 12 Supply Chain Management

2 Water 9 Occupational Health and Safety 13 Intellectual Property

3 Air Emission 10 Development and Training 14 Data Protection

4 Waste and Effluent 11 Labour Standards 15 Customer Service

5 Other Raw Materials Consumption 16 Product/Service Quality

6 Environmental Protection 

Measures

17 Anti-corruption

18 Community Investment

7 Climate Change
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY (Continued)
Responses of the survey show that all topics of the labour and operational aspects are regarded as more important than 

those of the environmental aspects, presumably due to the Group’s non-environmental polluting business nature. Five of 

the most material topics are:

1. Data Protection;

2. Labour Standards;

3. Employment Policies;

4. Development and Training; and

5. Occupational Health and Safety.

Key Stakeholders Most Concerned ESG Topics

DIRECTORS Employment Policies, Development and Training, Data Protection,

and Anti-corruption

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Employment Policies, Occupational Health and Safety, Development and 

Training, Labour Standards, Intellectual Property, and Anti-corruption

SHAREHOLDERS Employment Policies, Occupational Health and Safety, Development and 

Training, Labour Standards, Data Protection, Customer Service,

and Product/Service Quality

INTERNAL STAFF Employment Policies, Labour Standards, and Product/Service Quality

ASSOCIATES Employment Policies, Development and Training, and Data Protection

POTENTIAL TALENTS Employment Policies, Development and Training, Data Protection,

and Anti-corruption

CLIENTS Employment Policies, Labour Standards, Intellectual Property, Customer Service, 

and Product/Service Quality
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY (Continued)
During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a consistent focus on the four of the material topics from the 

previous reporting period, where “Labour Standards” as a new topic. As a human resource services provider, the Group 

continuously evaluates and enhances its employment policies and labour standards. Notably, efforts were made to foster 

an inclusive work environment for employees. This included the establishment of mother’s rooms and gender-neutral 

toilets at the workplace. Additionally, the Group made strides in improving data security, customer service, employee 

training, and occupational health and safety measures.

Recognising the significance of data protection and compliance, the Group prioritised data security training and upgrades 

to its internal operating technology infrastructure. This ensures a secure data environment for clients, associates, and 

candidates. Further details regarding the management of these material topics can be found in the relevant section 

below. Looking ahead, the Group is committed to managing these key material aspects by implementing additional 

policies and guidelines to further enhance its ESG performance.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group values the input and feedback of its stakeholders regarding its approach and performance in relation to ESG. 

Stakeholders are encouraged to share their concerns by contacting the Group at +86 400 820 0711. The Group is 

committed to actively listening to stakeholder perspectives and incorporating them into its ongoing efforts to improve its 

ESG practices.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL
Efforts to minimise the Group’s environmental impact are prioritised, with a strong commitment to comply with 

relevant environmental laws and regulations. Although the Group’s operations have a relatively small environmental 

footprint, it recognises the importance of addressing environmental concerns. While stakeholder engagement 

primarily focuses on social aspects, the Group actively seeks opportunities to set targets and promote sustainable 

practices to further enhance its environmental performance.

While the Group’s rented offices pose limitations for implementing energy-efficient fixtures, efforts have been 

directed towards reducing energy consumption within its controllable areas. Notably, two targets were set and 

followed strictly during the Reporting Period:

1. Adopting 100% LED lighting at all future front desks in the Group’s new offices; and

2. Installing inverter air conditioners in future offices if the lease allows installation of air conditioners.

The Group fosters a culture of environmental responsibility among its staff, encouraging them to actively contribute 

to creating a green work environment by embracing the principles of reducing, reusing, and recycling. The Board 

consistently monitors and reviews the Group’s environmental performance, with progress against targets assessed 

at least once a year.

As the Group continues to develop a comprehensive performance database, it aims to establish additional 

quantitative targets to drive continuous improvement in its environmental performance.

A1. Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations, being office-based, did not generate significant air 

emissions such as NOx, SOx, or PM. Indirect CO
2
 emissions from power usage were present. The Group has 

implemented several policies to minimise emissions and waste.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)

1.1 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not contribute any significant air emission due to its business 

nature.

1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Reduction Methods

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated 865.82 tCO
2
e of greenhouse gas emissions (GHG), 

with an intensity of 0.05 tCO
2
e/m2, and 0.67 tCO

2
e/employee. The GHG emissions has been overall 

increased compared to those of two previous years.

The Group’s GHG primarily originated from indirect sources, namely purchased electricity, paper waste 

disposal, and business air travel. It was noted that the Group witnessed a significant increase in business 

flight frequency during the Reporting Period due to the resumption of business travel, post COVID-19 

pandemic.

The Group did not own any vehicles or utilise machinery that would generate emissions through fuel 

combustion. The responsibility for managing the air conditioning systems in the Group’s offices rested 

with the respective office building management companies. Consequently, the Group did not contribute 

to any direct emissions as it did not engage in fuel combustion for energy purposes.

The total GHG emissions for both the Reporting Period and the preceding reporting periods are presented 

below.

Scope of GHG emissions Emission sources

GHG

Emission

in 20232

GHG

Emission

in 2022

GHG

Emission

in 2021

(in tCO
2
e) (in tCO

2
e) (in tCO

2
e)

Scope 1 Direct emission 1 Not applicable – – –

Scope 2 Energy indirect emission Purchased electricity 3 755.50 777.42 778.40

Scope 3 Other indirect emission Paper waste disposal 32.09 31.87 31.44

Business air travel 4 78.23 31.40 53.71

Overall Total 865.82 840.69 863.55

Emission Intensity (in tCO
2
e/m2) 0.05 0.05 0.06

Emission Intensity (in tCO
2
e/employee) 0.67 0.60 0.65
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)

1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Reduction Methods (Continued)
Note 1: The Group did not involve in scope 1 direct emission since it did not combust any fuel.

Note 2: Emission factors were referred to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out 

by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Scope 3 emissions were only calculated based on the available 

emission factors from the referred documentation.

Note 3: Emission factor was made with reference to the National Emission Factors for Mainland China, outlined by the 

Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC in 2023, for operations in China. For operations in Hong Kong 

and Macau, emission factors referred to HKE, CLP, and CEM’s 2021 Sustainability Report with accordance to 

the offices’ location respectively. For operations in Taiwan, emission factor took reference from the Year 110 

Electricity Emission Factor, published by the Bureau of Energy, Ministry of Economic Affairs in Taiwan.

Note 4: CO
2
 emissions from the Group’s business air travels were reported with accordance to the International Civil 

Aviation Organization (“ICAO”) Carbon Emission Calculator.

The Group actively discourages the purchase of official vehicles and promotes green commuting among 

employees, with a special emphasis on advocating for the use of public transportation. To support this 

initiative, all offices are strategically located in areas with convenient and well-connected transportation 

networks, allowing employees to easily reduce their reliance on private vehicles.

Furthermore, the Group has adopted online interviews for both potential candidates and existing 

employees. This shift in approach has significantly reduced indirect emissions that would have resulted 

from interviewees traveling to the Group’s offices for candidate screening. As a result, the overall 

emissions associated with the hiring process have been successfully minimised.

These measures highlight the Group’s strong commitment to reducing its environmental impact and 

fostering sustainable practices throughout its operations. Please refer to Section A2 for more information 

on how the Group reduces emissions contributed by electricity consumption, where most of its emissions 

is derived from.

1.3 Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated 11.45 tonnes of hazardous waste, representing a 10% 

reduction compared to that of the previous reporting period. The waste generation intensity, measured at 

1.12 kg per employee, also decreased by 3% from the previous reporting period.

The hazardous waste primarily consisted of items such as old computers, fluorescent tubes, ink 

cartridges, used batteries, and other electronic waste. These materials were segregated from general 

waste and properly handed over to recognised recyclers or property management companies for 

appropriate handling, treatment, recycling, or disposal.

Although the Group produces a relatively small amount of hazardous waste, it recognises the importance 

of minimising such waste as a long-term goal. To achieve this, the Group implements a waste reduction 

strategy aimed at extending the lifespan of electronic or electric devices and reducing their rate of 

deterioration. This includes measures such as utilizing alternatives, such as switching off idle equipment, 

utilising natural lighting instead of fluorescent tubes, and implementing paperless administrative systems 

to reduce printer and cartridge usage.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)

1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of 32 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, resulting 

in an intensity of 24.65 kg per employee. This represents an 18% increase in non-hazardous waste 

generation intensity compared to that of the previous reporting period. The increase was mainly from the 

Shanghai offices, which had low waste disposal under the 3-month pandemic control in Shanghai, during 

the previous reporting period.

Non-hazardous waste primarily consisted of daily office waste, including paper waste, food scraps and 

containers, and other daily waste. Recyclable waste was collected and processed by qualified waste 

treatment companies, while non-recyclable waste was managed by property management or cleaning 

companies for disposal or landfilling.

Efforts are made to minimise waste generation and reduce waste disposal rates through continuous 

encouragement and education. The Group advocates for employees to conserve paper, displays signage, 

and promotes a culture of resource conservation among staff. Printer devices are set to double-sided 

printing as default, encouraging employees to prioritise this printing method.

Additionally, the Group donates functional computers and other equipment, after professional processing, 

to schools in impoverished areas for continued use. These initiatives align with the Group’s commitment 

to waste reduction and the principles of “reduce, reuse, recycle, recover.” For example, the Group uses 

100% recycled paper in its offices. The Group has adopted the practice of signing employee contracts 

online, which has reduced the amount of paper usage. The Group started replacing hard copies of 

receipts with digital receipts since this Reporting Period, reducing the use of paper.

During the Reporting Period, the paper consumption was 6.69 tonnes, which is decreased by 5.4% 

compared to the previous reporting period.

Reduce • Disposable items (by promoting “BYOC” – bring your own cups)

• Paper use (by shifting to electronic administration and defaulting printing to be 

double-sided)

• Bottled water dispensers (by installing filters at water taps)

• Stationery waste (by sharing among staff)

Reuse • Paper boxes and other packaging materials

• One-sided paper

• Employee card holders

Recycle • Paper (by placing recycling bins next to printers)

• Other non-reusable waste, such as cardboard boxes, furniture, cans, plastics (by 

sorting properly and handing them to qualified collectors)

Recover • Malfunctioning or broken office equipment and furniture
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A2. Use of Resources and Efficiency Initiatives

The major kind of resources consumed during the Reporting Period was purchased electricity, followed by 

water. To ensure that such resources are used to their fullest capacity, the Group has a list of policies outlined 

with the purpose of maximising the efficiency of such resources.

2.1 Energy Consumption and Efficiency

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s energy consumption was solely attributable to electricity usage 

for office operations, amounting to 1,371,957.93 kWh. The average energy intensity per employee was 

1,056.98 kWh, while the average energy intensity per square meter was 83.38 kWh. Compared to that of 

the previous reporting period, the overall energy intensity per employee increased by 7%, and the energy 

intensity per area increased by 7%, mainly due to low energy consumption under the pandemic control of 

multiple cities, during the previous reporting period.

To mitigate unnecessary energy waste resulting from workplace development and usage, the Group 

actively develops and optimises its existing workplaces. When setting up new offices or reorganising 

existing ones, the Group allocates resources efficiently to minimise energy and water consumption. 

Additionally, the Group encourages the use of environmentally friendly public transportation by refraining 

from purchasing group-owned vehicles.

The Group maintains a close monitoring of its energy usage to effectively control energy consumption. To 

save energy, electronic equipment is automatically turned off at 9 p.m. every day, ensuring that devices 

are not left on inadvertently. In offices where lunch breaks occur, employees are encouraged to turn off 

lights during those periods. Signages reminding employees to switch off electronic equipment, lights, and 

air conditioning when leaving the workplace are posted throughout the office premises.

The Group also emphasises the use of natural lighting whenever possible, supplemented by highly 

efficient energy-saving and LED bulbs. Air conditioning systems are adjusted to maintain an average 

temperature of 26 degrees Celsius, contributing to energy conservation efforts.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A2. Use of Resources and Efficiency Initiatives (Continued)

2.2 Water Consumption and Efficiency

All offices leased by the Group receive water supply from their respective office buildings, and the water 

charges are included in the management fees. As a result, the Group does not possess specific details 

regarding the exact amount of water used.

The management companies of the office buildings oversee the water usage in the office water closets, 

leaving the Group with limited control over the implementation of water-saving measures implemented. 

However, many of the buildings housing where the Group’s offices locate have installed flow and velocity 

controllers in washrooms to reduce water consumption and minimise waste.

In addition to building-level measures, the Group actively promotes water conservation among its 

employees. Initiatives such as posting labels throughout the offices are implemented to raise awareness 

and cultivate a culture of resource conservation. Employees are encouraged to actively participate in 

water conservation efforts.

There were no issues encountered in sourcing water that met the required standards and purposes.

2.3 Packaging Materials

The Group’s operation does not involve any packaging materials as it only provides human resources 

services.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

Due to the Group’s business nature, no activities contribute to significant impacts on the environment. 

The only areas that bring about impacts on the environment are the Group’s GHG emission and office 

waste produced from daily operations. As mentioned above, the Group takes responsibility in recycling 

and reusing items of different varieties and cooperate with reliable recyclers to make sure that waste is 

well managed and properly handled to minimise impacts on the environment. It also encourages staff to 

take an active responsibility towards the environment, by adhering to the principles of “reduce”, “reuse”, 

“recycle” and “recovery”.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change

As an office-based company, the Group has experienced relatively lesser impact from climate change 

compared to manufacturing companies. Although the Group has not formulated specific policies regarding 

climate change, it has identified and assessed relevant climate-related risks and their potential financial 

impacts. The following are the climate risks identified, their time horizon, trends, and potential financial impacts 

on the Group:

Climate Risks

Time

horizon Trend Potential financial impact

Physical Risks Acute Short term Increase Extreme weather events with increased severity 

during cyclones, hurricanes, storm surges and 

floods can cause supply chain interruption 

by bringing damage to local infrastructure, 

may affect the business continuity and pose 

challenges to the protection of employees’ health 

and safety.

Chronic Long term Longer-term shifts in climate patterns can 

increase capital costs, operating costs, costs 

of human resources and increased insurance 

premium. Potential rise in energy consumption, 

resulting in higher utility bills and operating 

expenses.

Transition Risks Policy and Legal Short to 

medium term

Increase Implementation of tightened environmental laws, 

stringent requirements on climate disclosures 

and carbon pricing system increases operating 

costs.

Reputation Short to 

medium term

Increase Stakeholders’ concerns on climate-related 

issues of the Group might dampen the 

investment sentiment of investors, impacting 

the stock price and market capitalisation of the 

Group, and hence increasing the liquidity risk.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change (Continued)

Despite the Group’s proactive approach to expanding its business and exploring climate-change opportunities, 

there are inherent risks associated with climate change, technology, and market factors. While the Group does 

not perceive technology and market risks as significant threats to its business development, it recognises the 

importance of staying vigilant and adaptable to changes in the technological and market landscape.

As climate policies tighten, the Group may need to allocate resources or purchase carbon credits to offset its 

emissions and align with national decarbonisation goals.

The market’s shift towards sustainable development has increased the demand for talent with sustainability 

backgrounds. This provides opportunities for the Group to cater to this demand and offer sustainable-focused 

talent to clients.

By identifying climate-change opportunities and expanding into strategic industries like “new energy vehicles” 

and “smart manufacturing,” the Group demonstrates its commitment to capitalising on emerging trends and 

national policies. However, it is essential for the Group to manage associated risks, align with the evolving 

climate change landscape, and navigate challenges in technology and market dynamics.

4.1 Risk Management

An ESG risk assessment was conducted based on assessing the possibility and impact of the identified 

relevant risks and rating them into three levels: high, medium and low. The overall risk level was then 

determined depending on the possibility and impact levels of the risks.

Risk levels Definition of the overall risk levels

High Risks at this level may have serious consequences. It is highly likely that 

there will be some impacts to the Group and hindrance for the Group to 

achieve strategic goals.

Medium Risks at this level may have serious consequences, but they are less likely 

to occur. Conversely, the consequences could be minor in nature, but the 

probability of occurrence is higher

Low Risks at this level have limited harm and consequences for the Group to 

achieve its strategic goals, and the probability of occurrence is low.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A4. Climate Change (Continued)

4.1 Risk Management (Continued)

Although climate change has not posed significant impact on the Group’s business operation, the Group 

has assessed the risk level of the relevant physical and transition risks based on the possibility and impact 

of the risks. The Group’s operation is more prone to physical risks related to extreme weather events 

such as floods and typhoons. Extreme weather not only affects transportation systems, but also causes 

threats to employee safety and the Group’s business operation. The risk level is medium in the short 

term. To minimise the potential adverse impacts associated with extreme weather, the Group focuses 

on enhancing internal technological infrastructure systems so that employees can work from home and 

provide full service amid extreme weather events.

To mitigate risks and enhance resilience, the Group also conducts safety awareness promotion activities 

and has purchased property and business interruption insurance to safeguard its properties against 

weather-related risks.

In line with its commitment to low-carbon operations, the Group prioritises energy-efficient practices. 

When procuring office electronic products like computers and laptops, the Group considers the energy 

consumption levels of the equipment and gives preference to those with lower energy consumption.

By taking these measures and capitalising on climate-change opportunities, the Group aims to mitigate 

risks, enhance operational efficiency, and align its business with the evolving landscape of climate change 

and emerging industries.
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B. SOCIAL
Given the Group’s extensive labour force and involvement in various businesses, its social performance poses great 

significance to stakeholders. The satisfaction of employees and the handling of confidential information are key 

considerations for the Group in its human resource services. As a result, social topics have been rated as highly 

material, with all aspects deemed vital based on stakeholder engagement survey ratings.

To ensure responsible social performance, the Group takes extra precautions and places a strong emphasis on 

compliance with laws and the development of relevant policies. Employee rights and opportunities are consistently 

promoted, and the Group prioritises data protection to maintain its commitment to confidentiality. Moreover, 

the Group actively engages in activities that benefit society, such as assisting the unemployed and undertaking 

charitable acts.

By prioritising social responsibility, the Group aims to be an industry leader in social performance. This commitment 

extends to environmental initiatives, education, labour welfare, equality, and health, as the Group strives to make a 

positive impact on these important areas.

Employment and Labour Practices

As the Group acts as a human resource services solution provider, it has its own employees (hereafter “formal 

employees”), as well as employees who are outsourced (hereafter “associates”). While formal employees refer to 

those who work for the Group’s operations, including employees from the finance, IT, HR, legal, business Unit, etc.; 

associates are those assigned to work on client premises for flexible staffing purposes, who are typically under client 

instruction and supervision during the term of deployment.

B1. Employment

As the Group provides workforce solutions services, employment policies have been determined to be the 

most material topic by stakeholders and the Group. The Group strictly complies with respective employment 

laws and regulations of the respective region they operate in as shown in the following table.

Mainland China Hong Kong Taiwan

• Labour Law

• Labour Contract Law

• Regulations on Paid Annual 

Leave for Employees

• Law on the Protection of 

Women’s Rights and Interests

• Special Rules on the Labour 

Protection of Female 

Employees

• Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57)

• Inland Revenue Ordinance 

(Cap. 112)

• Sex Discrimination Ordinance 

(Cap. 480)

• Mandatory Provident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485)

• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance 

(Cap. 486)

• Disability Discrimination Ordinance 

(Cap. 487)

• Family Status Discrimination 

Ordinance (Cap. 527)

• Race Discrimination Ordinance 

(Cap. 602)

• Minimum Wage Ordinance 

(Cap. 608)

• Labour Standards Act

• Employment Service Act
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

1.1 Employment Figures

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 1,298 formal employees (including 12 part-time 

employees and exclusive of associates). Below figures show distribution of different categories:

WORKFORCE BY GENDER

Female

76%

Male

24%

WORKFORCE BY EMPLOYEE TYPE

Part-time

1%

Full-time

99%
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

1.1 Employment Figures (Continued)

WORKFORCE BY EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY

Senior 

Management

1%

Frontline 

Staff

80%

Middle 

Management

19%

Middle MiddleMiddle

ManagementManagementManagement

19%19%19%

WORKFORCE BY AGE GROUP

36-45

19%

56 or above

1%
46-55

5%

46-5546-5546-55

5%5%5%

18-25

28%

26-35

47%

26-3526-3526-35

47%47%47%
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

1.1 Employment Figures (Continued)

By Geographical Region

Taiwan

10%

Hong Kong

and Macau 

15%

Mainland China

75%

Mainland ChinaMainland ChinaMainland China

75%75%75%

1.2 Turnover Figures

During the Reporting Period, a total of 652 formal employees left the Group (including 9 part-time 

employees and exclusive of associates). The overall turnover rate was 50.2%.

Employee Turnover Rates

18-25 26-35

By Age Group

36-45 46-55 56 or 

Above

Mainland 

China

By Geographical Region

Hong Kong 

and Macau

Taiwan
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Male

By Gender

Female

60%

50%

28% 28%
23%

52%

44%
47%47%

70%
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

1.3 Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group places significant importance on compensation and benefits packages and regards them 

as a crucial element. These packages not only attract and retain talented individuals but also serve as 

incentives for employees to unleash their full potential. Each Leader is responsible for their own team of 

consultants and accountable for their annual performance and achieving set targets. When employees are 

motivated and their hard work and efforts are recognised, the Group experiences sustainable business 

growth and content employees. Therefore, employee remuneration is set in line with market trends, 

ensuring competitive compensation.

For formal staff within the Group, comprehensive remuneration packages, including salary and bonuses, 

are offered. They also receive a range of welfare benefits, such as medical care, retirement benefits, 

occupational injury insurance, and other miscellaneous items. The Group adheres to labour laws 

and regulations and the employees are entitled to public holidays, marital leaves, maternity leaves, 

compassionate leaves, and annual leave. Regular performance appraisals are conducted to review 

work performance, and salary increases are awarded to employees who meet specific criteria. Tokens 

of appreciation, such as small gifts at the end of the year and before Chinese New Year, are given to 

express gratitude to employees for their hard work and enhance their sense of belonging.

Additionally, the Group has implemented various reward programs to recognise exceptional employee or 

team performance. These rewards are offered on an ad-hoc basis and may include monetary incentives 

to increase competitiveness and motivation. An example of such a program is the Million Club, which 

acknowledges individuals who achieve sales targets of RMB1 million within a year. Another example is the 

Values Star, which recognizes individuals who actively practice the company’s cultural values in their daily 

work. The group conducts quarterly and annual evaluations of the Values Star.

Regarding associates, who are employed on a contractual basis, their compensation and benefits are 

typically determined collaboratively by the Group and its clients, based on the project’s requirements and 

nature.

Since 8 January, 2023, COVID-19 is no longer included in the quarantine infectious disease management 

specified by the Health and Quarantine Regulations of the People’s Republic of China. Therefore, 

marked the end of this pandemic. However, the Group still provides disease prevention supplies at the 

reception desk, such as alcohol, and masks. Visitors are required to register upon arrival to ensure proper 

monitoring and safety measures are in place. The Group remains committed to maintaining a safe and 

healthy environment for everyone’s well-being.
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B1. Employment (Continued)

1.4 Employee Communication

The Group places a strong emphasis on valuing the feedback and opinions of its staff, particularly from 

formal employees. To ensure that employees’ comments are effectively communicated to management, 

the Group has implemented various approaches. One such approach is the establishment of a labour 

union, which acts as a bridge for communication between the Group and its employees. The labour union 

plays a crucial role in protecting employees’ rights, facilitating discussions for management decisions, and 

encouraging employee participation in important matters. Additionally, the Group values transparency and 

fairness in its practices, and as such, it has mechanisms for employees to lodge complaints regarding 

unfair treatment or penalties through the human resources manager for appeal.

In order to gauge employee satisfaction and gather valuable insights, the Group conducts regular surveys. 

These surveys provide employees with the opportunities to express their opinions and provide feedback 

on their own departments, as well as supportive departments and the organisation as a whole. By actively 

seeking and considering employee’s input, the Group strives to create a positive work environment and 

continuously improve its operations based on the needs and perspectives of its workforce.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has announced an Internal Communication and Reporting 

Policy. The policy is aimed at promoting a harmonious working environment through smooth and equal 

communication among employees. Internal communications and reporting are supported by this system.

The Group organises a variety of activities and events to foster employee engagement and 

communication. These include the 2023 New Year Kick-off Meeting, International Women’s Day 

celebrations, the “4Vday” Corporate Culture Day Series Activities held monthly from July to December, the 

4th Anniversary Celebration Day, team building events, and the 12:30 PM Series Activities held monthly. 

Additionally, Power Clubs were established at offices, including: Foshan, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Wuhan 

Yike, Changshu, and Shanghai. These clubs provide employees opportunities to pursue their interests, 

build networks, and engage in activities outside of work.

1.5 Equal Opportunity and Inclusiveness

The Group is committed to creating an inclusive and equal opportunity environment throughout the 

recruitment and employment process. Candidates are evaluated based on their qualifications, experience, 

and abilities, without any bias towards their gender, age, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, or marital 

status. Recruitment and remuneration are conducted without discrimination, and the Group actively works 

towards increasing the representation of male employees in a traditionally female-dominated industry.

The Group values diversity and recognises the unique contributions that employees from different 

backgrounds bring to its culture and development. During the Reporting Period, the Group employed 

individuals with disabilities, demonstrating its commitment to providing opportunities to individuals from 

diverse backgrounds.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

1.5 Equal Opportunity and Inclusiveness (Continued)

In support of working mothers, the Group has created dedicated and private lactation rooms within the 

workplace. These lactation rooms provide a comfortable and supportive environment for breastfeeding 

or expressing milk, ensuring their physical and mental well-being is supported while they are able to carry 

out their professional responsibilities.

The Group also actively embraces diversity in gender identities, including LGBTQ individuals, and 

promotes inclusivity in its daily operations. As part of this effort, the Group has established “gender-neutral 

toilets” in the Mainland China and Taiwan offices. By taking internal measures to advance gender equality 

and create a welcoming and inclusive environment, the Group aims to foster a workplace that respects 

and celebrates the diversity of all employees.

1.6 Attracting Talents

Employees are an integral part of ManpowerGroup. On top of the abovementioned internal benefits and 

welfare, the Group also established excellent external communication channels and strives to build a 

positive brand image to attract talents that may contribute value for the Group. By utilising the Company’s 

website, social media, and inquiry hotline, it creates a positive impression, and provide potential 

candidates a window into what it is like to work for the Group. The Group also actively participates in 

industry events and conferences to achieve a broader reach and demonstrate its influence. Together with 

the cooperation with cross-sector institutes and organisations, the Group is confident that it will appeal 

to talents in the labour market who feel a strong tendency to work in a well-reputed and well-recognised 

firm.

To enhance its brand image, attract and retain top talents, the Group has announced new cultural values, 

including “integrity”, “responsibility”, “synergy” and “innovation” and integrated these values into the staff 

activities during the Reporting Period.

1.7 Creating Opportunities

The Group aims to create possibilities for people to fulfil their roles in society because it believes that 

everyone has a place there. It also views this as an obligation to demonstrate social responsibility. The 

Living Water Plan was implemented during the Reporting Period. It is an internal job rotation program 

organized by the HR department, that allows employees to apply for internal positions whenever available. 

It is aimed at increasing labour flexibility within the organisation, addressing employees’ occupational 

needs, and fostering internal talent replenishment.
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B2 Employee Health and Safety

As one of the five most material topics, improving the occupational health and safety of employees is a key 

focus for the Group. The Group complies with occupational health related laws and regulations to avoid any 

health risks from being imposed onto its employees. These laws are listed in the following table.

Mainland China Hong Kong Taiwan

• Labour Law

• Labour Contract Law

• PRC Law on The Prevention 

and Control of Occupational 

Diseases

• Employees’ Compensation 

Ordinance (Cap. 282)

• Occupational Safety and Health 

Ordinance (Cap. 509)

• Occupational Safety and 

Health Act

• Labour Safety Protection Act

2.1 Employees’ Personal Health4

Although the industry that the Group belongs to is rather low risk in terms of potential health threats and 

danger, the Group still regards the protection of employees’ personal health as a top priority.

The Group has taken the following steps to better protect health interests of its formal employees:

• Health checks are arranged for all new staff;

• Annual health checks are granted for certain qualified employees;

• 12 days of paid sick leaves are granted to employees each year; and

• Business insurance plans with a broad coverage, including, outpatient services, hospital overnight 

stays, accidents, critical illnesses, are offered.

There were no work-related fatalities occurred in the past three years including the Reporting Period. 

During the Reporting Period, no formal employees suffered from work-related injuries. Hence, there was 

no lost day due to work injury.

2.2 Working Environment Safety

To make offices a comfortable place to work in, ventilation systems and air purifiers are installed to 

maintain offices’ air quality, plants are placed along aisles and at corners, indoor temperature and 

humidity is adjusted regularly.

In precaution of any fire hazards, offices of the Group place a 4 kg dry chemical fire extinguisher every 

25 meters; server rooms are installed with FM200 firefighting system; escape routes are equipped with 

control systems to cut the power of unnecessary office equipment off for firefighting equipment when 

necessary. Fire equipment is regularly inspected to ensure they can function properly and are secured in 

place. Fire drills and fire prevention trainings are carried out periodically to familiarise employees with the 

right procedures, tools to use, and locate escape routes in case of a fire. Air-conditioners, electricity and 

water distribution networks, and overall hygiene are also regularly inspected by professional inspectors.

4 Policies outlined in the section is only applicable for the Mainland China region; Hong Kong and Taiwan both have their policies and are 

slightly different. 
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B3. Development and Training

Development and training for employees is material for the Groups’ stakeholders, especially to the business 

because of the Group’s nature as a human resource company. By providing various development and training 

opportunities and team building activities to employees, the Group hopes to improve competence of the 

workforce, promote cohesion, and attract talents to join the workforce. The Group adheres to its corporate 

mission of unleashing the power of the human potential for progress. The Group actively encourages 

employees to improve their skills and knowledge by joining training and taking industry-related classes.

3.1 Employees Training

During the Reporting Period, all employees have engaged in at least one training program provided by the 

Group, achieving a remarkable 100% coverage5. Each employee received an average6 of 40.5 hours of 

training, representing an 11% increase compared to the previous year. As of 2023, 80 training sessions 

(including offline & online) were held.

% of employees 

trained in category

By Employee Category

Senior Management 100%

Middle Management 100%

Frontline and Other Staff 100%

By Gender

Male 100%

Female 100%

Average Hours of Training Received by Each Employee

40.47

17.14

27.59

43.65

36.92

41.61

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

Senior 

Management

Average

Overall

Middle 

Management

Frontline

Staff

Male

By Gender

Female

By Employee Category

5 Percentage of employees who received training = Total number of employees who received training as of 31 December of the Reporting 

Period / Total number of employees as of 31 December of the Reporting Period.

6 Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours provided to employees as of 31 December of the Reporting Period / 

Total number of employees as of 31 December of the Reporting Period.
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B3. Development and Training (Continued)

3.2 Training for Formal Employees

In general, when a new employee joins the Group, their supervisors and the Group provide training 

for them. The Group identifies the training’s objectives, suggests appropriate training materials for 

participants, assesses the training’s impact, and keeps tabs on employees’ post-training performance. 

The supervisors stay updated on their performance and development to determine whether more training 

is necessary. Internally, the Group delivers training focused on enhancing employees’ professionalism, 

knowledge, and skills. During the Reporting Period, the three courses that make up the obligatory 

compliance training for all employees include the Group’s business ethics, anti-corruption, and data 

protection. All employees received training including information on pertinent laws, regulations, case 

studies and examinations. The rigorous adherence to the Group’s code of conduct and integrity is the 

responsibility of every member of the Group. Related training would also be held periodically to refresh 

employees’ knowledge on the latest changes in policies and important regulations. Training topics offered 

are based on regular internal appraisals and review of individual and departmental performances. The 

following table shows a more detailed description of the general training that were arranged during the 

Reporting Period.

Training Offered Topic Description Target Group

New Staff Training Orientation Help new employees understand the 

Group’s culture and products

New employees

Career Path Training Help employees understand their 

roles and responsibilities of their job 

positions

New/interested 

employees

Bonding Camp Help the batch of 2023 hires blend 

into their respective teams as soon as 

possible and improve their skills

Employees 

recruited in 

2023

Legal Compliance Explain the terms of labour and 

business contracts in detail, point 

out important reminders, and usual 

procedure regarding legal compliance

New employees

IT Systems and 

Information Security

Familiarise employees with the office 

and business systems, and training 

platforms

New employees

Occupational Health 

and Safety

Brief employees about legal 

obligations and best practices in 

maintaining a safe and healthy 

workplace

New employees/all 

employees
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Training Offered Topic Description Target Group

Ethics and 

Business Conduct 

Training

Business Conduct 

Training

Communicate principles and policies 

of business conduct and anti-

corruption to maintain an ethical 

working environment

All employees

Business Skills 

Training

Industry Know-how Improve employees’ competence and 

skill sets, and speed up integration 

into their corresponding teams

New staff in 

Flexible Staffing 

Department

Advanced Business 

Skill

Further enhance employees’ ability 

and capacity by delivering product 

training, analysing standard operation 

procedures, and scenarios sharing

Hiring, Customer 

Service, and 

Sales Roles

Generic Skills 

Enhancement 

Training

Studying and 

Applying 

knowledge

Improve employees’ industry 

knowledge and cultural exchange

All employees

Mind-mapping Advice on ways to organise thoughts 

and improve thinking efficiency

All employees

Public Speaking Improve public speaking skills and 

fine tune delivery

Potential talents of 

each team

Development 

Training

Team Building Improve bonds within and between 

departments, and boost cohesion

All employees

Leadership 

Training

Management 

Leadership Skills

Improve management communication 

and integrated leadership skills

Management

To familiarise employees with the industry and market trends, the Group encourages all employees to 

attend external classes and conferences and take examinations on human resourcing. These are provided 

by professional training companies and include advanced headhunting courses which covers search 

skills, search channels, customer management, headhunting work efficiency management, etc. Tuition 

and examination fee for these classes are reimbursed upon the completion of the classes and passing the 

exams. When employees have successfully attained relevant qualifications, they also receive some reward 

from the Group.

B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B3. Development and Training (Continued)

3.2 Training for Formal Employees (Continued)
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B3. Development and Training (Continued)

3.3 Training for Associates

All new associates are provided with pre-entry and pre-duty training. When associates are allocated with 

different projects, position responsibility and clients’ expectation and requirements are communicated. 

When clients’ needs are recognised, trainings are designed for respective employees. During the contract 

of the associates, the Group also frequently contacts the clients to ensure that the qualities of associates 

meet their expectations. Associates’ performance is regularly reviewed through communications with 

clients in case further training is required. Trainings for basic skills and etiquettes are conducted by the 

Group according to clients’ preference; while those that involve more professional guidance and industry-

related knowledge are conducted by clients.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was able to utilise the multiple platforms in place to deliver flexible 

online training sessions, such that associates were provided opportunities to keep on learning even when 

the pandemic swept.

B4. Labour Standards

Labour standards is an important aspect for the Group given its business nature. The Group strictly abides by 

all labour standard laws and regulations to protect children and prevent child labouring. Laws of each region 

are listed as follows.

Mainland China Hong Kong Taiwan

• PRC Law on Protection of 

Minors

• The Employment of Children 

Regulations under the 

Employment Ordinance (Cap. 

57)

• Labour Standards Act

The Group always asks for the identification documents to verify candidates’ age when they apply for the 

Group’s positions. Child labour or forced labour are never recruited and all employees are recruited through 

legal channels and are legitimate for work. If such practice is discovered, the Group will immediately end the 

contract with the involved subcontractors or employee and investigate the case to avoid recurrence. There 

was no non-compliance during the Reporting Period.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
Operating Practices

B5. Supply Chain Management

Aside from putting a heavy focus on its own ESG performance, the Group is also attentive to and stresses 

on the ESG performance of its suppliers and business partners. By doing this, the Group hopes to spread its 

influence and raise awareness among its suppliers and partners in other industries, and to remain as a leader 

and role model in the industry for promotion of corporate responsibility.

The Group’s supplier contract outlines policies for employment, the abolition of child labour, social 

responsibility, professional ethics and environmental protection, and suppliers are required to abide by them.

5.1 Number and Types of Suppliers

The Group engaged 1,816 suppliers during the Reporting Period. The Group usually partners with those 

that are near the Group’s operations such that air emissions can be minimised if transport of supplies or 

services are necessary.

Suppliers by Geographic Region

Mainland China

66%

Hong 

Kong & Macau

22%

Taiwan

12%

Mainland ChinaMainland ChinaMainland China

66%66%66%
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B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)

5.1 Number and Types of Suppliers (Continued)

Types of Suppliers

Professional 

services

40%

Office supplies 

and services

20%

Utilities 

3%

Welfare-related 

services

4%

HR services-

related partners

25%

Others

8%

Office supplies Office suppliesOffice supplies

and servicesand servicesand services

20%20%20%

Professional Professional Professional

ic sservicesservices

40%40%40%

Note: “Others” include suppliers that provide transportation services, courier services, accommodation services, administrative 

affairs services etc.

The Group uses a variety of procurement strategies to evaluate and manage its suppliers’ ESG 

commitments. When working with a new supplier, the Group will first check whether the supplier’s 

qualifications are complete and if its business scope on its business license covers the services it 

provides to the Group. The Group assesses the validity of the suppliers’ license, certificates, and proof 

of support. Simultaneously, the Group compares supplier prices against other suppliers and external 

price benchmarks. The Group screens through a supplier’s website and the National Enterprise Credit 

Information Publicity System to see if the supplier has breached any laws, been fined, been involved in 

any legal proceedings, etc. Additionally, the Group favours vendors who have earned ISO management 

system certification, such as the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System.

Once a potential supplier passes through the initial assessment, it must make ESG commitments based 

on the terms outlined by the Group in the supplier contract. The terms include environmental and social 

obligations. They involve terms regarding business integrity, and requirements asking for the fair treatment 

of employees, customers, clients, and the environment. Violating the terms of the supplier contract will 

be subjected to penalisation. The Group performs basic due diligence on the suppliers. The Group visits 

suppliers occasionally, remains aware of how the suppliers are operating, and identifies potential issues 

by communicating with them on a regular basis.

The Group reviews its suppliers once a year and performs occasional visits to assess suppliers’ 

performances. Suppliers which have failed their performance and compliance capacity or have not 

operated in accordance with the agreements made will be delisted.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B6. Product Responsibility

The product of the Group is integrated human resourcing services, including flexible staffing, headhunting, 

recruitment process outsourcing, and other human resources services. The Group understands that it holds 

great responsibility for the performance and quality of its talents headhunted or associates outsourced, the 

follow-up of its services, the handling method of private data of clients and talents, and the treatment of 

patented or copyrighted items. The following laws and guidelines are therefore strictly followed by the Group.

Mainland China Hong Kong Taiwan

• Criminal Law

• Advertising Law

• Cyber Security Law

• Provisions on Protecting 

the Personal Information of 

Telecommunications and 

Internet Users

• Personal Data (Privacy) 

Ordinance (Cap. 486)

• Office of the Privacy 

Commission for Personal Data, 

Hong Kong

• Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 

559)

• Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514)

• Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 

528)

• Trade Secret Law

• Trademark Law

• Patent Law

• Copyright Law

• Personal Data Protection Act

6.1 Quality Assurance

The Group emphasises on service quality and is devoted to providing high quality workforce solutions 

to its clients. Its efforts in providing quality services had earned the Group multiple awards during the 

Reporting Period. The Group is committed to helping its clients find the right people for their workforce. It 

has the following procedures to assure the quality of services.

To make sure that projects run smoothly, the Group’s customers receive one-on-one service throughout 

each service period. When the Group receives requests from clients for outsourced staff or talents 

for permanent positions, the Group first clarifies their requirement, the nature and responsibility of the 

position, and other details of the job to better understand clients’ expectations. The Group then selects, 

screens, and recruits talents from its database based on the needs of its clients. Shortlisted candidates 

are then notified and interviewed, and those who best meet the clients’ expectations are referred to the 

clients, who may conduct additional rounds of interviews to ensure the candidates’ competency. When 

clients express their preferences, the Group conducts background checks on the candidates before 

they are formally hired. The Group also monitors the performance of associates or talents during their 

contracts to ensure that they are meeting expectations. If not, training for associates may be arranged to 

ensure they are capable of fulfilling their roles. Candidates who fail to meet expectations for permanent 

positions will be replaced by alternate candidates until clients are satisfied. All of this contributes to 

ensuring that outsourced staff is of the highest quality possible.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

6.2 Communication and Customer Service

During the contract period of outsourced employees, the Group continues to communicate with clients to 

collect feedback and ensure service satisfaction. To understand how clients and customers perceive its 

services, the Group takes the following steps. As previously stated, when suitable candidates are found 

for clients, the Group takes steps to conduct background checks on them before they are formally hired 

for quality assurance. Throughout the employment, the Group conducts periodic client surveys to solicit 

feedback in order to better understand the gaps that need to be addressed and improved. The service 

quality of associates is checked on a regular basis to ensure that their performances are up to standard 

and that their work is as described in the contract. If performance falls short of expectations, training will 

be arranged to close the gap. As for headhunting services, there is a “warranty period” scheme, during 

which the Group will replace suitable potential candidates for the position in cases if clients are dissatisfied 

with the candidates. Candidates who are returned by clients are to be deleted from the Group’s talent 

database in order to keep the database’s quality high.

In 2023, the Group introduced new measures to further enhance customer satisfaction and service 

quality. The Group regularly organises customer satisfaction surveys to understand the level of 

customer satisfaction with service quality, collect valuable feedback, and identify areas for improvement. 

Additionally, the Group actively participates in customer’s supplier quality surveys to gain insights into 

their assessment of service quality, enabling them to align their efforts with customer expectations and 

enhance service delivery.

To ensure effective complaint handling and maintain transparency, the Group accepts social supervision 

through dedicated 400 hotlines. Complaints received through these hotlines are promptly filed, and 

relevant department heads are contacted within three working days to initiate appropriate actions and 

resolve the issues raised. In addition, the Group has established a department liaison system to oversee 

the complaint handling process, ensuring that complaints are appropriately addressed and resolved in a 

timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 8 complaint cases. These cases primarily 

revolved around issues related to information misunderstanding/miscommunication and individual poor 

performance of staff. The Group took prompt action to address these concerns. To resolve the complaint 

cases, the Group engaged in effective communication with both the clients and staff involved. This 

helped to clarify any misunderstandings, improve information conveyance, and address any underlying 

performance issues. In some cases, the Group also took the necessary steps to replace underperforming 

staff members. There were no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons 

on account of the Group’s business nature.

To assess the effectiveness of these initiatives and drive continuous improvement, the Group conducts 

evaluations every six months. These evaluations serve to gauge the progress made in enhancing 

customer satisfaction and improving service quality. The insights gained from these evaluations guide the 

Group in making further enhancements and adjustments as needed.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

6.3 Information Security Management

The Group regards the protection of customer data as the most important aspect of the business as the 

Group deals with a significant amount of personal data and other confidential information in the ordinary 

course of its business. Hence it had been regarded as one of the most material topics for the Group. If 

such sensitive information is hacked or leaked, the impact on clients and candidates is unpredictable. 

The Group therefore strictly follows laws and regulations and has well-established practices of treating 

sensitive information in all branches.

Information Collection

The Group must obtain consent from individuals before collecting personal data (including that of 

applicants and clients), which is typically agreed in the form of a privacy policy. Once the intended use of 

the personal data has been achieved, the retained personal data will be erased. Internal IT management 

standards exist and will be safeguarded through both physical and technical means. All employees are 

obligated to abide by the standards, which are also included in the employee handbook.

Information Storage and Protection

All storage of information, including those of clients, potential talents, employees, follows the regulated 

rules as listed in different regions. In Hong Kong, personal information must be kept for 2 years, after 

which shall be destroyed unconditionally, and the candidates shall not be contacted again, unless 

they initiate communication. Accounting data shall be kept for at least 7 years on the other hand. In 

Taiwan, personal data of potential candidates are to be kept for 5 years, after which shall be obliterated 

unconditionally. In Mainland China, the Group collects, stores, uses, and discloses personal data closely 

in accordance with PRC personal data protection laws as well. Such procedures never happen without 

the consent of relevant individuals. As the Group stores a huge amount of sensitive data, it puts great 

effort into data protection and has the following policies to deal with potential loss or leak of information in 

different situations.

The Information Protection Objectives:

• Prevent the leakage or theft of information or virus attacks from external parties

• Prevent the breach of sensitive data by employees

• Prevent loss of important information due to vandalism, natural disasters or accidental damage

To prevent the leakage or theft of information or virus attacks from external parties, much effort is put 

into protecting sensitive information. For example, access of data of customers, job seekers, or other 

users, is limited only to permitted internal employees. For extra security, offices and work areas can only 

be entered with an employee badge and all visitors have to register at the reception; CCTVs are installed 

at different parts of the office; software such as, demilitarised zones, firewalls, and Internet Behaviour 

Management systems are set up to prevent external users from visiting the internal server, prevent 

external attacks, and control visitors’ internet speed; jump-servers are installed to monitor visitors who 

are using VPN; the size of attachment allowed in an email from an external sender is restricted; two-factor 

authentication is required to sign in to mailboxes; complex passwords are set up for all servers; installation 

of unauthorised software or applications onto computers are prohibited; antivirus software are installed 

and potential loopholes are regularly checked and addressed; data stored on external hard drives that are 

no longer needed are erased and computers that cannot be used anymore are destroyed, etc.
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6.3 Information Security Management (Continued)

Information Storage and Protection (Continued)

To prevent the breach of sensitive data or trade sensitive information by the Group’s own employees, 

by mistake or by intention, the Group has established several policies and terms in the Employees’ 

Handbook and the employee contracts. They include the Group’s Employee Use of Computing 

Resources, Principle of Data Privacy and Policy Guidance, Non-Disclosure Agreement, etc. which 

employees must follow strictly. For example, employees shall use only computers and networks providers 

as appointed by the Group; computers’ USB ports shall be enclosed; computer passcodes shall be 

changed every 90 days; suspicious incidents regarding information system security shall be reported 

immediately when recognised, etc. Any personnel who violate the policies may risk the termination of the 

employment.

To prevent the loss of important information due to vandalism, natural disasters, or accidental damage, 

the Group also has policies of securing data and recognising damaged data. For example, off-site 

facilities are set up to maintain backup files in the event of a disaster; off-line media shall be secured by 

specific procedures and processes; backup tapes and removable disks containing such information must 

be identified, labelled, and protected. All these measures can help protect security of data or identify and 

understand the range of data loss if unavoidable.

In cases of detection of abnormal activities, such as visits from unusual addresses, drastic increase in 

access demand, network interruption, the system sends out alerts. If information had been leaked, the 

source of leakage would be cut off at once. Evidence would be kept, and the case would be reported and 

followed up by an investigation for the cause of the event and the loophole would be fixed. The Group 

must also notify its legal counsel, who will assist in determining if the issue is material, the correction 

action steps to take, and how the breach should be communicated to the client or relevant parties.

The Group has not experienced any leakage of information so far. During the Reporting Period, the Group 

had held training sessions on information system security and cybersecurity to strengthen its employees’ 

understanding on relevant issues.

6.4 Advertisement

The Group firmly follows the requirement as stated in the Provisions on Talent Market Administration and 

the Interim Regulations on Human Resources Market for human resources services agency. According 

to the regulations, basic information and recruitment information (such as number of employees, 

recruitment conditions, work responsibilities, workplace, and basic labour remuneration) released to the 

public or provided to the human resources service institution by the employer shall be authentic and 

lawful. No discriminatory information in aspects such as nationality, race, gender, or religious belief shall 

be contained. The Group never provides false information, makes false promises, or publishes false 

recruitment advertisement.

To enable all employees in the Group to operate according to the law and regulation, all relevant 

requirement of law and regulation regarding the advertisement has been included in the Employee’s 

Handbook.
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6.5 Intellectual Property Rights

The Group also views intellectual property (“IP”) rights as an important aspect of the business. In order 

to protect the Group’s IP, safeguard the Group’s legitimate interests, and give full play to the benefits 

of IP assets, the Group has several IP rights related policies. For key business trademarks and licenses 

such as “Manpower”, they have been registered by Manpower Inc. and the Group has been granted the 

use in Greater China area. The legal department is responsible for constantly renewing, improving, and 

monitoring its IP rights-related policies and regulations, as well as registering, renewing, and transferring 

its IP licenses or status. The marketing department oversees the use of the Group’s trademark.

Employees are expected to participate in the protection of the Group’s IP, as well as comply with all 

agreements regarding the IP of its suppliers. Once any suspicion of IP infringement is identified, it should 

be reported to the legal department. The legal department shall then investigate the reported cases 

in a due manner and proceed with legal actions by the seriousness of the cases. Relevant terms and 

conditions are written on the Employee’s Handbook and the Group’s intranet for employees’ reference for 

their daily work. The supplier contract also contains pertinent clauses on the protection of IP rights.

The Group has not been involved in any significant disputes or lawsuits regarding Intellectual Property 

Rights so far.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group firmly prohibits bribery and corruption of any kind in connection with the its business. The Group 

holds a strong stance against the acceptance of any materials in return for a favour or unfair competition, 

and the use of deception for personal advantage. For the above reasons, the Group strictly follows laws and 

regulations such as the Anti-Monopoly Law of the PRC, Notice on Giving Full Play to Trial Functions and 

Combating Commercial Briberies of the PRC, Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) of Hong Kong 

and the Anti-Corruption Act of Taiwan. Internal policies have also been established to effectively minimise 

the chances of misconduct. The whistleblowing channels were set out in the Fraud Reporting Policy and the 

Employee’s Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, there was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against 

the Group or its employees.

7.1 Prevention of Corruption

To enable all entities to conduct their business in an ethical manner, the Group has adopted an Anti-

Corruption Policy and Policy on Gifts, Entertainment and Sponsorships. This policy strictly bans any party 

of the Group to offer, promise, approve, engage, authorise, or transfer any forms of unethical incentives or 

payments with the purpose of influencing a decision or obtaining commercial advantage. The involvement 

in any role of a bribery is strictly forbidden.



Annual Report 2023 105

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B7. Anti-corruption (Continued)

7.1 Prevention of Corruption (Continued)

The Antitrust and Fair Competition Policy has also been introduced to ensure that the Group does not 

receive criminal or civil penalties, business disruptions, or harm in reputation. In general, the Group 

prohibits anyone from, (i) reaching an agreement with a competitor to restrain trade by fixing prices, 

allocating clients, or coordinating bidding activities, (ii) reaching an agreement with other companies not to 

do business with another company, and (iii) abusing a large market-share position by engaging in below-

cost pricing in order to harm competitors. Exclusive sale arrangements, selective discounting, are also 

activities to be restricted under the policy. As these restrictions are often complex, any unclear decisions 

shall be informed to, discussed with, reviewed and approved by the general manager, who shall also 

have appointed an individual within the entity to be its compliance officer assisting it in understanding and 

following such laws.

7.2 Whistle-blowing Policies

The Fraud Reporting Policy allows staff to report suspicious cases of behaviours acting against the 

principles of honesty and integrity. All employees, officers, members of the Board of Directors, and others 

who act on behalf of the company are to follow the above rules and report any suspected violations to 

the compliance officer directly in due course. These cases can be grouped into the broad categories of 

fraudulent financial statements, asset misappropriation, and bribery and corruption, which include the 

behaviours as described above. To ensure the effective implementation of the policy, scenarios that are 

regarded as frauds, and solutions to such circumstances have been identified and discussed according 

to applicable local laws and regulations. Reports are to be made to the compliance officer or the general 

manager of the respective entity of the person involved. If the general manager is suspected, the reports 

should be made directly to the Legal Department of the headquarters.

The Group will strictly keep the confidentiality of reporting employees and fairly evaluate and handle 

reports. The Legal Department should assess the authenticity and validity of the reported information 

based on the preliminary written evidence submitted by the reporter. If the reported information is valid, 

the Legal Department should accept it and file the case for investigation, and handle the matters reported 

by employees promptly. If the Legal Department deems it necessary, it may introduce other third-party 

organizations, such as law firms, and accounting firms, to conduct further investigation.

To avoid any unclarity and blurred lines, guidance on cases considered as fraud, and reporting methods 

of identified or suspected frauds are available on the online reporting system of the company’s website. 

Annual training on the topic of corruption is also arranged for employees. Once reports are made, the 

general manager is responsible for facilitating communications and updates, organising investigations, 

and providing solutions to the reported cases.

Appropriate actions will be taken against the party involved in a fraud after consulting with legal and 

compliance, human resource, and risk management departments. Prosecution, termination and 

restitution in cases will be supported by the Group if enough evidence is available. It is also the practice 

of the Group that the identity of any person making a report will remain confidential, except to the extent 

necessary for the protection of the Group’s interests or required by laws, to let employees know that it is 

always safe to report suspicious cases.



MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED106

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (Continued)
B7. Anti-corruption (Continued)

7.3 Anti-corruption Training

In 2023, three mandatory compliance training courses were conducted for all employees. The training 

targeted all staff members and covered relevant policies, regulations, case studies, and examinations. The 

courses included the following:

• Greater China Business Conduct and Ethical Standards

• Anti-Bribery in Business

• Cybersecurity and Personal Information Protection

During the Reporting Period, compliance training was provided to 99% of the Group’s directors and staff. 

On average, each employee received 1.21 hours7 of training on compliance topics. The training sessions 

focused on explaining and discussing the relevant laws and regulations, company policies, and notable 

past cases. Additionally, examinations were administered to ensure that employees understood and 

retained the training content.

It is the responsibility of every employee to strictly adhere to the Code of Conduct and protect the Group’s 

integrity and reputation. By providing comprehensive compliance training, the Group aims to maintain 

employees’ vigilance against anti-corruption and promote a culture of ethical behaviour throughout the 

organisation.

B8. Community Investment

The Group regards community investment as its duty as a responsible corporate citizen. The Group has a long 

history of putting forth significant effort in two major areas of contribution: local employment promotion and 

community caregiving.

8.1 Local Employment Promotion

The Group actively participated in the “Three Deliveries” initiative, organised by the Pudong New Area 

government, to Nujiang Prefecture and Dali Prefecture through the “Shanghai & Yunnan Public Welfare 

Journey.” This initiative aimed to foster labour cooperation by providing employment opportunities, skills 

training, and compassionate support to the local communities. Through this initiative, the Group played 

a crucial role in helping individuals in these regions find meaningful employment and develop essential 

skills for their careers. By offering compassionate support, the Group demonstrated its commitment to 

enhancing the well-being and livelihoods of the local population.

In addition, the Group released the “2023 IT Industry Career Outlook Report,” which highlighted the 

impact of seven global IT innovation trends on the workforce. This report aimed to provide valuable 

insights and guidance for individuals seeking careers in the IT industry. It shed light on the emerging 

technologies and trends that are shaping the industry, equipping job seekers with the knowledge and 

understanding necessary to navigate the evolving landscape. By sharing this report, the Group actively 

contributed to empowering individuals and helping them make informed decisions about their career 

paths in the IT sector.

7 Average anti-corruption training hours per employee = Total number of training hours provided to employees as of 31 December of the 

Reporting Period / Total number of employees as of 31 December of the Reporting Period.
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8.1 Local Employment Promotion (Continued)

Each quarter, the Global releases a MEOS report – ManpowerGroup Employment Outlook Survey. This 

comprehensive survey covers a diverse range of industries and regions, polling 40,385 employers from 

42 countries on their hiring intentions for the second quarter. Recognized worldwide as a key economic 

indicator, MEOS offers a unique perspective on the employment landscape, shedding light on critical 

insights into the hiring intentions and expectations of employers.

The MEOS survey serves as a valuable tool for job seekers, career planners, and human resource 

professionals. It’s not just a barometer of economic health; it’s a roadmap to success. By leveraging 

the employment trends and predictions outlined in MEOS, individuals and organizations can make more 

informed decisions about their workforce strategies, career paths, and recruitment plans. This quarter’s 

release continues our commitment to providing the most up-to-date and actionable insights into the 

global job market.

Through these initiatives, the Group demonstrated its commitment to making a positive impact on the 

community. By promoting local employment and providing valuable resources and support, the Group 

played a vital role in fostering economic growth, empowering individuals, and contributing to the overall 

well-being of the communities it serves.

8.2 Professional Knowledge Sharing

As a leading human resource service provider, the Group has made significant contributions in 

the education sector by actively collaborating with universities and providing career empowerment 

opportunities.

To promote innovation and entrepreneurship among students, the Group has been actively advancing 

the Double Innovation Leading Program in collaboration with the Shanghai Huangpu District Employment 

Promotion Centre and East China Normal University. Through this program, students are equipped with 

essential skills and knowledge needed for success in the workplace. The Group’s partnership with these 

institutions demonstrates its commitment to fostering a culture of innovation and preparing students for 

the challenges of the professional world.

Recognising the challenges faced by college graduates in the job market, the Group has published 

a dedicated column on its official WeChat account. Titled “Insights from Frontline Employees at 

Manpowergroup: Challenges and Strategies for College Graduates in Employment”, the column features 

firsthand accounts and advice from the Group’s frontline employees. By sharing their experiences and 

offering practical guidance, the Group aims to provide valuable insights and support to college graduates 

navigating the complexities of seeking employment.

In line with its commitment to education and community welfare, the Group successfully conducted a 

pre-employment education public welfare activity at Shanghai Maritime University. The initiative, titled 

“Knowledge Empowers, Success Awaits” – ManpowerGroup Successfully Conducted Pre-Employment 

Education Public Welfare Activity at Shanghai Maritime University, aimed to provide students with essential 

knowledge and skills needed for their future careers. By offering this educational opportunity, the Group 

aims to empower students and enhance their career prospects.
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8.2 Professional Knowledge Sharing (Continued)

Through these initiatives, the Group actively collaborates with universities, shares valuable insights and 

advice, and provides educational opportunities to empower students.

In addition, ManpowerGroup and ZRFS co-hosted the “Refactoring Employment for A Regulatory 

Tomorrow” 2023 New Era Legal Employment Practice Summit in Shanghai and Beijing on 15 September 

and 27 October 2023. The summit brought together government representatives, association leaders, 

HR managers, labour law experts, and other guests to address key issues related to employment reform, 

compliance, and the development of new employment models in the VUCA era. The goal was to facilitate 

knowledge sharing, enhance operational efficiency, reduce costs, manage employment risks, and 

promote harmonious labour relations.

ManpowerGroup Taiwan team undertakes the Youth Career Exploration Program, now in its fourth year. 

The program encourages young individuals from middle to lower-income households to achieve personal 

growth, guiding them to discover their strengths. It provides more opportunities for underprivileged youth 

to pursue their dreams. Over the past few years, the project has served over 1,000 youths, contributing 

significantly to ManpowerGroup’s excellent brand reputation in Taiwan.

By investing in education and career development, the Group demonstrates its commitment to nurturing 

talent, fostering innovation, and supporting the next generation in their professional journeys.

8.3 Community Health

The Group made a charitable donation of RMB50,000 to the Nujiang Lisu Autonomous Prefecture Red 

Cross Society for the “Sending Love” project initiated by the Pudong government in Nujiang. Recognising 

the importance of blood donation in saving lives, the Group has taken proactive measures to encourage 

its employees and the broader community to participate in this noble cause. By organising blood drives 

and raising awareness about the significance of blood donation, the Group aims to make a positive 

impact on the local healthcare system and contribute to the well-being of society. In recognition of its 

efforts, the Group has been awarded a “Donation Certificate” by the Nujiang Prefecture Red Cross 

Society. This certificate serves as a testament to the Group’s commitment to promoting and supporting 

blood donation initiatives. It showcases the Group’s dedication to corporate social responsibility and its 

contribution to the healthcare needs of the community.

Last but not least, ManpowerGroup Hong Kong team solidified the Group’s commitment to ESG 

principles in 2023, and this commitment extends beyond internal practices. Through participation in the 

Hong Kong Youth Innovation Pop-up initiative, which aligns perfectly with the Group’s ESG focus on 

professional knowledge sharing and youth career development, it is aimed at empowering young people 

with the skills and knowledge needed to become successful entrepreneurs and innovators. By supporting 

and participating in such initiatives, ManpowerGroup Hong Kong plays a crucial role in nurturing the next 

generation of talent and fostering a vibrant future for the city.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 114 to 205, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 

year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information and 

other explanation information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements 

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 

in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill and trademarks 

with indefinite useful lives related to Event Elite 

Production and Promotion Limited

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill and 

trademarks with indefinite useful lives related to Event 

Elite Production and Promotion Limited (“Event Elite”) 

as a key audit matter due to the significant degree of 

judgment by management of the Group associated with 

the underlying assumptions in the determination of the 

recoverable amounts.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated 

financial statements, significant judgments and estimation 

were exercised by the management in determining 

assumptions and estimates involved in the forecasting of 

future cash flows, which form the basis of the impairment 

assessment of the goodwil l and trademarks with 

indefinite useful lives of Event Elite. The key assumptions 

and estimation included discount rates and revenue 

growth rates which are dependent on macro and micro-

economic factors and accordingly, the calculation of the 

value in use of Event Elite has a high degree of estimation 

uncertainty.

Management performed an impairment assessment of 

the cash generating unit containing the goodwill and 

trademarks with indefinite useful lives related to Event 

Elite in accordance with the requirements of International 

Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets and 

as disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial 

statements. The carrying amount (net of accumulated 

impai rment  losses,  i f  any )  o f  the goodwi l l  and 

trademarks with indefinite useful lives of Event Elite were 

approximately RMB23,420,000 and RMB32,789,000, 

respectively, as at 31 December 2023.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment 

of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives of 

Event Elite included:

• Obtaining an understanding of management’s 

process of impairment assessment and the 

methodology applied by management in performing 

its impairment test for goodwill and trademarks with 

indefinite useful lives related to Event Elite;

• Involv ing our va luat ion experts to evaluate 

the va luat ion methodology and assess the 

reasonableness of the discount rates in the 

impairment assessment applied by management 

and benchmarked the discount rates applied to 

other comparable companies in the same industry;

• Assessing the reasonableness of the assumed 

revenue growth rates applied in the cash flow 

projections approved by the management by 

comparing them with historical trends, economic 

and industry forecasts; and

• Analysing the historical accuracy of the cash flow 

projections, on a sample basis, by comparing 

them to the actual results in the current year 

and understanding the causes of any significant 

variances.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 

solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not 

assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or  

safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 

of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Wan Wai Nga.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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NOTES 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 5,303,592 4,588,460

Cost of services (4,681,013) (3,964,530)

Gross profit 622,579 623,930

Selling expenses (358,884) (366,738)

Administrative expenses (101,887) (102,289)

Other income 6 19,194 16,119

Impairment losses under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model, 

net of reversal 33b (2,213) (4,067)

Other gains and losses 7 4,619 6,559

Finance costs 8 (1,838) (2,366)

Share of profit of associates 2,978 4,926

Profit before tax 184,548 176,074

Income tax expense 9 (37,956) (40,597)

Profit for the year 10 146,592 135,477

Other comprehensive (expense) income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) (746) –

Actuarial gains from remeasurement of 

defined benefit obligations, net of tax 74 290

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 7,975 47,447

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 7,303 47,737

Total comprehensive income for the year 153,895 183,214
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2023

NOTE 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 126,476 118,606

Non-controlling interests 20,116 16,871

146,592 135,477

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 130,948 166,259

Non-controlling interests 22,947 16,955

153,895 183,214

Earnings per share 14

Basic (RMB) 0.62 0.57

Diluted (RMB) 0.62 0.57
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2023

NOTES 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property and equipment 15 11,326 15,012

Right-of-use assets 16 40,134 55,848

Goodwill 17 56,809 56,038

Other intangible assets 18 71,195 75,565

Interests in associates 19 35,869 29,782

Equity instruments at FVTOCI 20 8,959 9,705

Deferred tax assets 21 10,967 9,109

Other receivable 22 5,977 7,827

Deposits 22 19,497 19,672

Restricted bank deposits 24 48,778 227

Retirement benefit assets 30 907 802

310,418 279,587

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 22 888,016 700,289

Amounts due from related companies 23 3,806 296

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders (“NCI Shareholders”) 23 – 12,348

Restricted bank deposits 24 231 9,458

Time deposits with original maturity over three months 24 228,705 183,710

Bank balances and cash 24 706,434 744,432

1,827,192 1,650,533

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 25 690,783 620,706

Contract liabilities 26 62,747 44,823

Lease liabilities 27 25,280 25,110

Amount due to a shareholder 23 10,854 10,580

Amounts due to related companies 23 1,299 510

Tax payables 25,166 22,071

816,129 723,800
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2023

NOTES 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,011,063 926,733

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,321,481 1,206,320

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 25 5,457 –

Deferred tax liabilities 21 21,495 24,511

Lease liabilities 27 14,567 30,762

41,519 55,273

NET ASSETS 1,279,962 1,151,047

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 28 1,830 1,830

Reserves 1,169,011 1,053,343

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,170,841 1,055,173

Non-controlling interests 109,121 95,874

TOTAL EQUITY 1,279,962 1,151,047

The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 205 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of 

directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

CUI Zhihui Victor HUANG

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
held for

restricted
share unit

scheme
(“RSU 

Scheme”)

Share-
based

 payments
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve
Retained 

profits Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2022 1,830 760,307 (6,792) 8,986 (60,752) 43,909 – 506,892 1,254,380 75,394 1,329,774
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 118,606 118,606 16,871 135,477
Actuarial gains from remeasurement of 

defined benefit obligations, net of tax – – – – – – – 174 174 116 290
Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations – – – – 47,479 – – – 47,479 (32) 47,447

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 47,479 – – 118,780 166,259 16,955 183,214
Acquisition of a non-wholly 

owned subsidiary (note 31) – – – – – – – – – 7,133 7,133
Purchase of shares under

RSU Scheme (note 29(ii)) – – (29,745) – – – – – (29,745) – (29,745)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments (note 29) – – – 10,423 – – – – 10,423 – 10,423
Exercise of share options –* 48 – (8) – – – – 40 – 40
Dividend paid to NCI Shareholders – – – – – – – – – (3,608) (3,608)
Dividends recognised as distribution

(note 13) – (346,184) – – – – – – (346,184) – (346,184)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – – – 10,093 – (10,093) – – –

At 31 December 2022 1,830 414,171 (36,537) 19,401 (13,273) 54,002 – 615,579 1,055,173 95,874 1,151,047
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 126,476 126,476 20,116 146,592
Fair value loss on equity instruments at 

FVTOCI – – – – – – (746) – (746) – (746)
Actuarial gains from remeasurement of 

defined benefit obligations, net of tax – – – – – – – 44 44 30 74
Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations – – – – 5,174 – – – 5,174 2,801 7,975

Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year – – – – 5,174 – (746) 126,520 130,948 22,947 153,895

Disposal of a non-wholly 
owned subsidiary – – – – – – – – – (1,141) (1,141)

Purchase of shares under
RSU Scheme (note 29(ii)) – – (148) – – – – – (148) – (148)

Recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payments (note 29) – – – 7,694 – – – – 7,694 – 7,694

Dividend paid to NCI Shareholders – – – – – – – – – (8,559) (8,559)
Dividends recognised as distribution

(note 13) – (22,826) – – – – – – (22,826) – (22,826)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – – – 18,436 – (18,436) – – –

At 31 December 2023 1,830 391,345 (36,685) 27,095 (8,099) 72,438 (746) 723,663 1,170,841 109,121 1,279,962

Note: Pursuant to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), each of the subsidiaries established in the PRC is required to 
transfer 10% of its profit after tax as per statutory financial statements (as determined by the management of the subsidiary) to the statutory 
reserve. The statutory reserve is discretionary when the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective company 
and can be used to make up for previous years’ losses or, expand the existing operations or can be converted into additional capital of the 
subsidiary.

Pursuant to the relevant laws in Taiwan, Taiwan companies shall set aside 10% of their statutory net income each year for the statutory 
reserve, until the reserve balance has reached the paid-in share capital amount.

These above-mentioned reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those for which they were created and are not distributable as 
cash dividends.

* Less than RMB1,000.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 184,548 176,074

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 1,838 2,366

Bank interest income (17,755) (11,344)

Dividend income – (878)

Depreciation of property and equipment 6,251 6,128

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,636 31,582

Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,688 5,572

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 725 152

Net imputed interest on consideration receivables (448) (566)

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal 2,213 4,067

Impairment losses recognised in respect of

– goodwill – 257

– other intangible assets 1,707 4,863

– property, plant and equipment 72 –

Equity-settled share-based payments 7,694 10,423

Share of profit of associates (2,978) (4,926)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (119) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 218,072 223,770

Increase in trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments (183,068) (9,500)

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from related companies (13) 199

Increase in trade and other payables 71,023 86,788

Increase in contract liabilities 16,698 11,647

Increase (decrease) in amount due to a shareholder 161 (296)

Increase in amounts due to related companies 789 45

Increase in retirement benefit assets (31) (72)

Cash generated from operations 123,631 312,581

Income tax paid (41,375) (46,342)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 82,256 266,239
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 18,203 11,910

Dividend received from equity instruments at FVTOCI – 878

Dividend received from an associate 891 1,050

Purchases of property and equipment (3,331) (6,694)

Proceeds from disposal of an intangible asset 2,400 –

Placement of restricted bank deposits (48,422) –

Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits 9,525 –

Placement of time deposits (369,703) (860,375)

Withdrawal of time deposits 327,791 946,629

Advance to NCI Shareholders – (11,815)

Repayment from NCI Shareholders 11,613 –

Advance to an associate (5,000) –

Repayment from an associate 1,503 –

Settlement of consideration receivables from disposal of a subsidiary 2,298 1,732

Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary – 20

Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary 500 –

Addition of investments in associates (4,000) –

Development costs paid (7,791) (8,114)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (63,523) 75,221

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid (1,838) (2,366)

Dividends paid to NCI shareholders (8,559) (3,608)

Dividends paid (22,826) (346,184)

Proceeds from exercise of share options – 40

Repayment of lease liabilities (28,331) (35,446)

Purchase of shares for RSU Scheme (148) (29,745)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (61,702) (417,309)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (42,969) (75,849)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 744,432 795,349

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,971 24,932

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER, 

represented by bank balances and cash 706,434 744,432
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
ManpowerGroup Greater China Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted 

company with limited liability on 26 September 2014. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 July 2019. The addresses of the Company’s 

registered office and principal place of business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are PO Box 309, 

Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and 36/F, Xin Mei Union Square, No. 999, Pudong 

Road (S), Pudong District, Shanghai, PRC, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in 

the provision of a comprehensive range of workforce solutions and services in the PRC, Hong Kong Special 

Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong”), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Macau”) and 

Taiwan (collectively referred to as “Greater China Region”).

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) 

are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS STANDARDS”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
New and amendments to IFRS Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to IFRS Standards issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s 

annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020 and

December 2021 Amendments to

IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IFRS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Polices

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to IFRS Standards in the current year has 

no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or the 

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS STANDARDS”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
New and amendments to IFRS Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes International Tax Reform – 

Pillar Two model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. IAS 12 is amended to add the 

exception to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities that are related to tax 

law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for 

Economic Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The amendments require that entities apply 

the amendments immediately upon issuance and retrospectively. The amendments also require that entities to 

disclose separately its current tax expense/income related to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which the Pillar 

Two legislation is in effect, and the qualitative and quantitative information about its exposure to Pillar Two income 

taxes in periods in which the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during the current year because the Group’s entities are 

operating in jurisdictions which the Pillar Two legislation has not yet been enacted or substantially enacted. The 

Group will disclose known or reasonably estimable information that helps users of financial statements to understand 

the Group’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements when the 

Pillar Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted and will disclose separately current tax expense/income 

related to Pillar Two income taxes when it is in effect.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 

Statements is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material 

accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other 

information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 

primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the 

related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting 

policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses 

to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy 

information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS STANDARDS”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
New and amendments to IFRS Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies (Continued)

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate 

how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether 

information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to 

the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance 

but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting 

implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) – Long Service Payment 

(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

As disclosed in note 30, the Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to 

employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions 

to the trustee who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual 

employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF 

contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Hong Kong government 

gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 

2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ 

mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take 

effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary 

immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate 

the portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism 

in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising 

from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented the 

guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more 

reliable and more relevant information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer MPF contributions that have been vested with 

the employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the 

employee towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (“IAS 19”) to account for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction of the service 

cost in the period in which the related service is rendered. A detailed review has been performed, the Amendment 

Ordinance does not have material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position and performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS STANDARDS”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Amendments to IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet 

effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to IFRS Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the 

application of all other amendments to IFRS Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments 

to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement 

for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

• clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the 

transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-

current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial 

Instruments: Presentation.

• specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in 

existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that the classification should 

not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance 

with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the 2022 

Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity is required to comply with 

on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not 

affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements about information that enables users of 

financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within twelve months after the 

reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right 

to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the 

reporting period.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS STANDARDS”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Amendments to IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments 

to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective 

for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity 

applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also 

apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 

Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards issued by 

the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered 

material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, 

the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 

of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 

to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 

balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 

represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 

relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an input and a substantive process 

that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered 

substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce 

with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they significantly 

contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be 

replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in 

a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 

values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the 

acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-

related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 

value.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 

of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling 

interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair 

value.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 

the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which 

represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger 

than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 

impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill 

arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 

to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the 

recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying 

amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each 

asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-

generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit 

or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-

generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on 

the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the 

cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 

those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 

using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for equity accounting 

purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events 

in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of 

the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate 

other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted 

in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds 

the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of 

the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. 

Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 

or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 

becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the 

investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 

is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 

reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. 

When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 

for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”) as a single asset by comparing its 

recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any 

impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying 

amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the 

extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 

with the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the 

associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue with contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 

goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 

series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 

Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to 

each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is 

determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or 

service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it 

using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation 

reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the 

promised goods or services to the customer.
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Revenue with contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance 

obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input method, 

which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts to the satisfaction of a performance obligation 

relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict the 

Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 

the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative 

stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, and 

instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease 

component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of certain office premises that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also 

applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over 

the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease.
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Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 

position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments 

to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-

of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 

value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 

Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 

functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on 

the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing 

at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates 

for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 

operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 

prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 

sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 

incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Government grants relating to 

compensation of expenses are deducted from the related expenses, other government grants are presented 

under “other income”.
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Retirement benefit costs

Payments to government sponsored defined contribution pension scheme in the PRC, the MPF Scheme in 

Hong Kong, defined contribution retirement benefit schemes in Taiwan and the Social Security Fund in Macau 

are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, including a defined benefit plan in Taiwan, the cost of providing 

benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the 

end of each annual reporting period. In determining the present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligations 

and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes benefit to 

periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s service in later years will lead 

to a materially higher level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes the benefit on a straight-line basis 

from:

(a) the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits 

are conditional on further service) until

(b) the date when further service by the employee will lead to no material amount of further benefits under the 

plan other than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if 

applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated 

statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period 

in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in 

retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain 

or loss on settlement is recognised when settlement occurs. When determining past service cost, or a gain 

or loss on settlement, an entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or asset using the current fair 

value of plan assets and current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the 

plan assets before and after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, without considering the effect of 

asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 

reductions in future contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined 

benefit liability or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined benefit liability or asset before plan 

amendment, curtailment or settlement, the Group determines net interest for the remainder of the annual 

reporting period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the benefits offered under the 

plan and the plan assets after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement and the discount rate used to 

remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 

liability or asset during the period resulting from contributions or benefit payments.
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Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

• service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments 

and settlements);

• net interest expense or income; and

• remeasurement.

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item “cost of 

services”, “selling expenses” or “administrative expenses”, as appropriate. Curtailment gains and losses are 

accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents 

the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation 

is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or 

reductions in future contributions to the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties reduce service cost upon payment of these 

contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from employees or third parties, the 

accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows:

• If the contributions are not linked to services (for example contributions are required to reduce a deficit 

arising from losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the 

net defined benefit liability or asset.

• If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution that 

is dependent on the number of years of service, the Group reduces service cost by attributing the 

contributions to periods of service using the attribution method required by IAS 19 paragraph 70 for the 

gross benefits. For the amount of contribution that is independent of the number of years of service, 

the Group reduces service cost by attributing contributions to the employees’ periods of service in 

accordance with IAS 19 paragraph 70.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF contribution expected to be offset as a deemed 

employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of IAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. 

The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from the 

accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with employees, which 

are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.
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Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as 

and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 

unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after 

deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the 

fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 

consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 

based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase 

in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate 

of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting 

conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that 

the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based 

payments reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share 

options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will 

be transferred to share premium. When the share options or restricted share units (“RSUs”) are forfeited after 

the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based 

payments reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax 

because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 

or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 

the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 

than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 

nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 

temporary difference. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 

and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 

arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 

temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 

to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 

manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 

of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-

of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are 

attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies 

IAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group 

recognises a deferred tax asset relate to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all 

taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the 

same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 

arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the 

business combination.
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Taxation (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable that the 

relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual group 

entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently 

with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will 

accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely 

amount or the expected value.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the supply of services or for administrative 

purposes. Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 

subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated 

useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 

prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 

of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of 

an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred 

from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-

generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which it is incurred.
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Intangible assets (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are 

acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 

recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives 

are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for 

intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any 

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the 

effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 

or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when 

the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than 

goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment, 

right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 

the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets 

with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least 

annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated 

individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating 

unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated 

to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 

established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 

units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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Impairment on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than 

goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-

generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For 

corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent 

basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, 

including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group 

of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 

the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 

applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 

unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of 

its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the 

impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets 

of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or 

a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) 

in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject 

to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term deposits (generally with original maturity of three months 

or less). Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than 

for investment or other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party contractual restrictions are included as part 

of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual 

restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 24.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; 

and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 

collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial 

asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 

other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration 

recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 

subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 

gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 

credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 

income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 

from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so 

that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective 

interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 

following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and 

losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or 

loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred 

to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 

right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of 

the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 

designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair 

value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes 

any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line 

item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial assets (including trade and 

other receivables, amounts due from related companies and NCI Shareholders, restricted bank deposits, 

time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances) which are subject to impairment 

assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit 

risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 

expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment 

are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 

debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as 

well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed 

individually for credit-impaired debtors and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime 

ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the 

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 

risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 

assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 

supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 

increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 

credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 

to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset at amortised cost 

has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the relevant instrument is determined to have 

low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset at amortised cost is determined to have low credit 

risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow 

obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer 

term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 

obligations. The Group considers a financial asset at amortised cost to have low credit risk when it has an 

internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 

developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 

creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 

than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that 

a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 

severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty 

has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade 

receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 

assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, 

taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 

the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and 

loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects 

an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default 

occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables 

using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience adjusted for forward-

looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 

formulating the grouping:

• past-due status;

• nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• external credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 

share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 

asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the 

financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 

their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is 

recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 

measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 

not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 

direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and amounts due to a shareholder and related 

companies are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company 

are required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Determining whether goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives are impaired requires an estimation of 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill and 

trademarks have been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value 

in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating 

unit (or group of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where 

the actual future cash flows, in particular cash flows from revenue, are less than expected, or change in facts 

and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a 

material impairment loss/further impairment loss may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate 

are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties due to uncertainty on volatility in macro and micro-economic 

factors, including potential disruptions of the operations of the cash-generating units.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill is approximately RMB56,809,000 (2022: 

RMB56,038,000) (net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately RMB14,624,000 (2022: RMB14,673,000)) 

while the carrying amount of trademarks is approximately RMB32,789,000 (2022: RMB32,323,000). Details of the 

recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 17.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses practical 

expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using a provision matrix. The 

provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration the 

Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without 

undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in 

the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade 

receivables are disclosed in notes 33 and 22, respectively.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the 

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of services provided.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Workforce Solutions – the Group provides the following services to its customers:

• Flexible staffing service for which the Group helps to provide contingent workers for customers who wish 

to manage their own headcount or only require workers for a limited time or a specific project. The Group 

provides contingent workers contracted with the Group that it finds suitable for the job descriptions and 

assign them to the customers.

• Recruitment solutions services include recruitment process outsourcing (“RPO”) management services 

and recruitment services. The Group assists customers’ hiring process, which include candidate 

assessments, screening, conducting candidate interviews and recommending suitable candidates for job 

vacancies, providing sourcing technology, and providing the Group’s marketing and recruiting expertise.

2. Other HR Services – the Group provides HR services to customers who need assistance in outplacement, 

leadership development, career management, talent assessment, and training and development services.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2023

Workforce 

Solutions

Other HR 

Services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 5,280,649 22,943 5,303,592

Segment profit 607,664 14,915 622,579

Unallocated:

Selling expenses (358,884)

Administrative expenses (101,887)

Other income 19,194

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal (2,213)

Other gains and losses 4,619

Finance costs (1,838)

Share of profit of associates 2,978

Profit before tax 184,548

Year ended 31 December 2022

Workforce 

Solutions

Other HR 

Services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 4,566,188 22,272 4,588,460

Segment profit 610,001 13,929 623,930

Unallocated:

Selling expenses (366,738)

Administrative expenses (102,289)

Other income 16,119

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal (4,067)

Other gains and losses 6,559

Finance costs (2,366)

Share of profit of associates 4,926

Profit before tax 176,074



Annual Report 2023 147

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 

note 3. Segment profit represents the gross profit earned by each segment without allocation of selling expenses, 

administrative expenses, other income, impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal, other gains or losses, 

finance costs and share of profit of associates. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of 

resource allocation and performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales for both years.

Segment assets and liabilities

Information reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment does not 

include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the location of the 

operations of customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the geographical 

location of the assets.

Revenue from 

external customers Non-current assets*

2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 3,578,853 2,943,683 113,777 131,234

Hong Kong and Macau 659,048 637,180 96,848 98,645

Taiwan 1,065,691 1,007,597 4,708 2,366

5,303,592 4,588,460 215,333 232,245

* Non-current assets excluded those relating to deferred tax assets, retirement benefit assets and financial instruments.

Information about major customers

Revenue from the customer of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as 

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A1 1,559,980 1,322,937

1 Revenue from Workforce Solutions segment
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue

Year ended 31 December 2023

Workforce 

Solutions

Other HR 

Services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of service

Flexible staffing 5,122,821 – 5,122,821

Recruitment solutions 157,828 – 157,828

Others – 22,943 22,943

5,280,649 22,943 5,303,592

Timing of revenue recognition

A point in time 153,278 – 153,278

Over time 5,127,371 22,943 5,150,314

5,280,649 22,943 5,303,592

Year ended 31 December 2022

Workforce 

Solutions

Other HR 

Services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of service

Flexible staffing 4,343,596 – 4,343,596

Recruitment solutions 222,592 – 222,592

Others – 22,272 22,272

4,566,188 22,272 4,588,460

Timing of revenue recognition

A point in time 211,889 – 211,889

Over time 4,354,299 22,272 4,376,571

4,566,188 22,272 4,588,460



Annual Report 2023 149

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Flexible staffing services include the augmentation of customers’ workforce with the Group’s contingent employees 

performing services under the customers’ supervision, which provides the customers with a source of flexible labor. 

The Group provides flexible staffing services under the brands of “Manpower” and “萬寶盛華” in the Greater China 

Region. Flexible staffing contracts are generally short-term in nature, and the Group generally enters into contracts 

that include only a single performance obligation. The revenue of flexible staffing service is based on a fixed amount 

on a per headcount or hour basis and recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. The customers are usually billed at the 

end of each month, or in advance for certain customers, with an average credit terms of 30–90 days.

Recruitment solutions services include headhunting services and RPO management services:

• Headhunting services include providing qualified candidates to the customers to hire on a permanent basis. 

The Group provides headhunting services under the brands of “Experis” and “萬寶瑞華” in the Greater China 

Region. The revenue for headhunting services are recognised at a point in time when the Group places 

the qualified candidate, because the Group has determined that control of the performance obligation has 

transferred to the customers (i.e., service performed) as it has the right to payment for its service and the 

customers have accepted its service of providing a qualified candidate to fill a permanent position. Revenue 

recognised from headhunting services is based upon either a fixed fee per placement or as a percentage of 

the candidate’s salary. The customers are usually billed when the Group places the qualified candidate with an 

average credit terms of 30–90 days.

• The Group provides RPO management services under the brand of “ManpowerGroup Solutions” in the Greater 

China Region. RPO management services include the various activities of managing the permanent workforce 

of the customers, which include candidate assessments, screening, conducting candidate interviews, 

providing sourcing technology, and providing the marketing and recruiting expertise. The Group performs 

these activities to fulfill the overall obligation to provide permanent workforce management services, so they 

are not individually distinct and, therefore, the Group accounts for them as a single performance obligation. 

The RPO management services are charged on a monthly basis and revenue of RPO management services 

is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 

Group’s performance as the Group performs. The customers are usually billed at the end of each month with 

an average credit terms of 30–90 days.

Other HR services include HR consultancy services, training and development services, career transition services 

and payroll as well as compensation & benefits services. The revenue of other HR services is recognised over time 

as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 

Group performs. The customers are usually billed on a regular basis with an average credit terms of 30–90 days.

All of the Group’s revenue are made directly with the customers. The periods of flexible staffing services and 

recruitment solutions services are generally within one year. As permitted under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about customer types

The Group’s customers mainly consist (i) multinational corporations and local enterprises and (ii) government bodies 

in Greater China Region. Revenue analysis by customer type is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Multinational corporations and local enterprises 4,940,137 4,301,154

Government bodies 363,455 287,306

5,303,592 4,588,460

6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income 17,755 11,344

Dividend income from equity instruments at FVTOCI – 878

Government grants (Note) 603 3,057

Others 836 840

19,194 16,119

Note: Government grants represent incentive subsidies received in relation to business carried out by the Group in the PRC. There were no 

specific conditions/assets attached to the grants and, therefore, the Group recognised the grants upon receipts. The subsidies were 

granted on a discretionary basis to the Group during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment losses recognised in respect of

– goodwill – (257)

– other intangible assets (note 17) (1,707) (4,863)

– property, plant and equipment (note 17) (72) –

Net exchange gains 7,234 11,679

Others (836) –

4,619 6,559

8. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 1,838 2,366
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax:

– PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) 15,960 14,988

– Hong Kong Profits Tax 7,250 7,402

– Macau Complementary Tax 164 –

– Taiwan Income Tax 9,993 10,427

33,367 32,817

(Over)underprovision in prior years:

– PRC EIT (498) (185)

– Hong Kong Profits Tax – (435)

– Taiwan Income Tax 409 452

(89) (168)

Deferred tax (note 21) 4,678 7,948

37,956 40,597

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT 

Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. The Group’s subsidiaries that are tax residents in 

the PRC are subject to the PRC dividend withholding tax of 5% for those non-PRC tax resident immediate holding 

companies registered in Hong Kong, when and if undistributed earnings are declared to be paid as dividends out of 

profits that arose on or after 1 January 2008.

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group were qualified as Small Low-Profit Enterprise, under the relevant tax 

regulations in the PRC, which were entitled to a preferential income tax rate that was calculated in accordance 

with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. Under the two-tiered 

profits tax rates regime, the first RMB1,000,000 of the taxable income of qualified entities are taxed at 5% (2022: 

2.5%), and the taxable income above RMB1,000,000 and less than RMB3,000,000 are taxed at 5% (2022: 5%).

In addition, a subsidiary of the Group in the PRC has been accredited as High and New Technology Enterprise by 

the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality and relevant authorities on 14 December 2022 

for a term of three years from 2022 to 2025, and it was subject to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 15%). The qualification as a High and New Technology Enterprise will 

be subject to review by the relevant tax authorities in the PRC for every three years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the 

qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits 

of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate 

of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the 

first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above 

HK$2,000,000.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at progressive rate ranging from 3% to 9% on the estimated assessable 

profit below or equal to Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 300,000 and at 12% on the estimated assessable profits above 

MOP300,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. In addition, a special complementary tax incentive 

was provided to the effect that the tax-free income threshold was increased from MOP32,000 to MOP600,000 with 

the estimated assessable profit above MOP600,000 being taxed at 12% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 

2022.

Taiwan Income Tax is calculated at 20% of the estimated assessable profit when such amount is above New 

Taiwan dollar 120,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Withholding tax of 21% is imposed on 

dividends declared in respect of profits earned by Taiwan subsidiaries that are received by non-Taiwan resident 

entities. Under the relevant regulations in Taiwan, a corporate surtax of 5% is imposed on earnings of subsidiaries in 

Taiwan not distributed in the following year.

The Company incorporated in Cayman Islands is not subject to income tax or capital gain tax under the law of 

Cayman Islands. In addition, dividend payments are not subject to withholding tax in the Cayman Islands.

The group entities established in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) are not subject to income tax or capital gain tax under 

the law of BVI.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 184,548 176,074

Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 46,137 44,019

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,278 2,273

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,570) (1,775)

Tax effect of share of profit of associates (744) (1,231)

Tax effect of different tax rates of group entities operating 

in other jurisdictions (7,687) (6,247)

Income tax at concessionary tax (6,723) (5,612)

Withholding tax 7,052 9,621

Overprovision in respect of prior years (89) (168)

Others 302 (283)

Income tax expense for the year 37,956 40,597

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB32,732,000 (2022: RMB11,727,000) 

available for offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of approximately 

RMB32,732,000 (2022: RMB11,727,000) of such losses as at 31 December 2023. The tax losses will be expired at 

various time within a period of five years from the year of origination.
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 11)

Fees 648 618

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 3,379 3,379

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 106 105

Performance related bonus 1,661 1,301

Equity-settled share-based payments 2,554 1,911

8,348 7,314

Other staff costs

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4,176,166 3,546,852

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 711,206 653,037

Equity-settled share-based payments 5,140 8,511

4,892,512 4,208,400

Total staff costs 4,900,860 4,215,714

Auditor’s remuneration 2,885 2,970

Depreciation of property and equipment 6,251 6,128

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,636 31,582

Amortisation of intangible assets 6,688 5,572

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 725 152

Research and development costs recognised as an expense 5,668 5,469

COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 16) – (441)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised government grants by deducting from the related 

expenses in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies which mainly related to Employment Support Scheme provided 

by the Hong Kong government.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable during the year for their services rendered to the entities comprising the 

Group are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and other 

benefits

Retirement 

benefit 

scheme 

contributions

Performance 

related bonus

Equity-settled 

share-based 

payments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note vi)

Executive director (Note i):

CUI Zhihui – 3,379 106 1,661 1,834 6,980

Non-executive directors 

(Note ii): – – – – – –

Darryl E GREEN (Note iii) – – – – – –

Colin Patrick Alan JONES 

(Note iv) – – – – – –

John Thomas MCGINNIS – – – – 120 120

ZHANG Yinghao – – – – 120 120

ZHAI Feng – – – – 120 120

Independent non-executive 

directors (Note v):

Thomas YEOH Eng Leong 216 – – – 120 336

WONG Man Lai Stevie 216 – – – 120 336

Victor HUANG 216 – – – 120 336

648 3,379 106 1,661 2,554 8,348
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and other 

benefits

Retirement 

benefit 

scheme 

contributions

Performance 

related bonus

Equity-settled 

share-based 

payments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note vi)

Executive director (Note i):

CUI Zhihui – 3,379 105 1,301 1,505 6,290

Non-executive directors 

(Note ii):

Darryl E GREEN (Note iii) – – – – 58 58

John Thomas MCGINNIS – – – – 58 58

ZHANG Yinghao – – – – 58 58

ZHAI Feng – – – – 58 58

Independent non-executive 

directors (Note v):

Thomas YEOH Eng Leong 206 – – – 58 264

WONG Man Lai Stevie 206 – – – 58 264

Victor HUANG 206 – – – 58 264

618 3,379 105 1,301 1,911 7,314

Notes:

(i) The executive director’s emoluments shown above were for his services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group and the capacity as the chief executive of the Company.

(ii) The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, if 

applicable.

(iii) Darryl E GREEN resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 29 June 2023.

(iv) Colin Patrick Alan JONES was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 29 June 2023.

(v) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

(vi) The performance related bonus are determined based on the performance of the director on a discretionary basis.
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year include one director (2022: one director), details of 

whose remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022: 

four) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 6,759 8,828

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 384 409

Performance related bonus 5,785 4,180

Equity-settled share-based payments 1,501 1,724

14,429 15,141

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose emolument fell within 

the following bands is as follows:

2023 2022

No. of 

employees

No. of 

employees

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 3 –

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 – 3

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 – –

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 – –

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 1 –

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 – 1

4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or chief executive officer of the Company or the 

five highest paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group 

or as compensation for loss of office during both years. Neither of the chief-executive officer, nor directors of the 

Company nor the five highest paid individual waived any emoluments during both years.

During the year, certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees were granted share options  

and RSUs, in respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme and RSU Scheme of the 

Company. Details of the share option scheme and RSU Scheme are set out in note 29 to the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.
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13. DIVIDENDS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, a final dividend of HK$0.37 per ordinary share in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2021, in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$76.8 million (equivalent to approximately 

RMB62.3 million), was declared and paid in July 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an interim dividend of HK$1.60 per ordinary share in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2022, in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$332 million (equivalent to approximately 

RMB283.9 million), was declared and paid in September 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a final dividend of HK$0.12 per ordinary share in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2022, in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$24.9 million (equivalent to approximately 

RMB22.8 million), was declared and paid in July 2023.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend of HK$0.31 per ordinary share in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2023, in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$64.3 million (equivalent to approximately 

RMB58.1 million), has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the 

shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming general meeting.
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 

following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 

(profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 126,476 118,606

Number of shares

2023 2022

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

basic earnings per share 202,390,509 205,984,822

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: 

Unvested RSUs 551,949 109,543

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

diluted earnings per share 202,942,458 206,094,365

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 

calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share have been adjusted for the effect of certain shares held by the 

trustee pursuant to the RSU Scheme.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 did not assume 

the exercise of share options granted by the Company because the exercise prices of those options were higher 

than the average market prices for shares of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 

improvements Buildings

Furniture 

and fixtures

Computer 

equipment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2022 20,191 1,835 4,609 18,666 45,301

Additions 3,453 – 671 2,570 6,694

Disposals (2,179) – (270) (1,080) (3,529)

Exchange adjustments 188 – 88 197 473

At 31 December 2022 21,653 1,835 5,098 20,353 48,939

Additions 816 – 162 2,353 3,331

Disposals (2,232) – (1,170) (4,609) (8,011)

Exchange adjustments (10) – 23 87 100

At 31 December 2023 20,227 1,835 4,113 18,184 44,359

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2022 14,003 1,110 2,750 12,865 30,728

Provided for the year 2,834 87 673 2,534 6,128

Eliminated on disposals (2,056) – (242) (1,079) (3,377)

Exchange adjustments 187 – 68 193 448

At 31 December 2022 14,968 1,197 3,249 14,513 33,927

Provided for the year 2,944 87 636 2,584 6,251

Eliminated on disposals (1,740) – (963) (4,583) (7,286)

Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 62 – 8 2 72

Exchange adjustments (19) – 14 74 69

At 31 December 2023 16,215 1,284 2,944 12,590 33,033

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2023 4,012 551 1,169 5,594 11,326

At 31 December 2022 6,685 638 1,849 5,840 15,012

The above items of property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per 

annum:

Leasehold improvements 20% or shorter of lease term

Buildings 5%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Computer equipment 20% – 331/3%
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold 

land and 

buildings

RMB’000

As at 31 December 2023

Carrying amount 40,134

As at 31 December 2022

Carrying amount 55,848

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Depreciation charge 27,636

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Depreciation charge 31,582

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,067 1,262

Total cash outflow for leases 31,236 39,074

Additions to right-of-use assets 13,930 43,835

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group leases various office premises for its operations. Lease contracts 

are entered into for fixed term of two months to five years (2022: two months to five years). Lease terms are 

negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the 

lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and 

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the 

portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense 

disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB39,847,000 (2022: RMB55,872,000) are recognised with related 

right-of-use assets of approximately RMB40,134,000 (2022: RMB55,848,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease 

agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the 

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
Leases committed

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not enter into any new leases that are not yet commenced.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in note 27.

Rent concessions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no rent concessions were provided by the lessors. During the year 

ended 31 December 2022, lessors of certain office premises provided rent concessions to the Group through rent 

reductions ranging 5% to 100% over two to ten months. These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence 

of COVID-19 pandemic and met all of the conditions in IFRS 16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient 

not to assess whether the changes constitute lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease payments due 

to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for the relevant leases of approximately RMB441,000 were recognised as 

negative variable lease payments.

17. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE 
ASSET
The movement of the goodwill of the Group is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 70,711 64,704

Acquisition of a subsidiary – 257

Disposal of a subsidiary (257) –

Exchange adjustments 979 5,750

At 31 December 71,433 70,711

IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 14,673 13,194

Impairment loss recognised in the year – 257

Eliminated on disposal of a  subsidiary (257) –

Exchange adjustments 208 1,222

At 31 December 14,624 14,673

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 56,809 56,038
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17. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE 
ASSET (Continued)
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives have been allocated 

to three (2022: four) individual cash-generating units (“CGUs”), comprising three (2022: four) subsidiaries in the 

Workforce Solutions segment. The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks (net of accumulated impairment 

losses, if any) allocated to these units are as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Goodwill:

– Manpower Services (Hong Kong) Limited (“Manpower Services HK”) 30,779 30,341

– Xi’an Foreign Enterprise Service Co., Ltd.*

西安外國企業服務有限公司 (“Xi’an Fesco”) 2,610 2,610

– Event Elite Production and Promotion Limited (“Event Elite”) 23,420 23,087

– Shanghai Pingehuo Technology Co., Ltd. (“PGH”) – –

Trademarks:

– Event Elite 32,789 32,323

89,598 88,361

* For identification purposes only

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their major underlying assumptions are summarised 

below:

The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on a value in use calculation. Their recoverable 

amounts are based on certain similar key assumptions including discount rates and revenue growth rates. Their 

value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering 

a 5-year period (2022: 5-year). Cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3% 

growth rate (2022: 3%). This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed 

the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. For the 

year ended 31 December 2023, the pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash flows from PGH, Manpower 

Services HK, Xi’an Fesco and Event Elite are N/A (2022: 44.4%), 17.15% (2022: 17.5%), 16% (2022: 16%) and 

21.0% (2022: 23.1%), respectively.

Cash flow projections during the budget period for the CGUs are also based on management’s estimation of cash 

inflows/outflows including gross revenue, gross margin, operating expenses and working capital requirements 

during the budget period. The assumptions and estimations are based on the CGU’s past performance, 

management’s expectations of the market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the management of the Group determines that there is no 

impairment on Manpower Services HK, Event Elite and Xi’an Fesco.
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17. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE 
ASSET (Continued)
Due to the continuing unfavourable market conditions, PGH faced a lower than expected demand for flexible 

staffing services in blue collar section, its financial performance was less satisfactory than expected. Therefore, the 

recoverable amount of PGH was lower than its carrying amount and impairment losses of approximately Nil (2022: 

RMB257,000), RMB72,000 (2022: Nil) and RMB1,707,000 (2022: RMB4,863,000) were recognised on goodwill, 

property and equipment and other intangible assets with definite useful lives, respectively, in relation to PGH during 

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in PGH had been 

determined based on a value in use calculation. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of 

its 51.1% equity interest in PGH to the former non-controlling shareholder.

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks
Customers

 relationships Softwares Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2022 29,584 12,558 36,525 78,667

Additions – – 8,094 8,094

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary 

(note 31) – – 7,300 7,300

Exchange adjustments 2,739 1,163 – 3,902

At 31 December 2022 32,323 13,721 51,919 97,963

Additions – – 7,791 7,791

Disposals – – (4,232) (4,232)

Exchange adjustments 466 197  – 663

At 31 December 2023 32,789 13,918 55,478 102,185

AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2022 – 10,884 – 10,884

Charge for the year – 1,758 3,814 5,572

Impairment loss recognised in the year 

(note 17) – – 4,863 4,863

Exchange adjustments – 1,079 – 1,079

At 31 December 2022 – 13,721 8,677 22,398

Charge for the year – – 6,688 6,688

Impairment loss recognised in the year 

(note 17) – – 1,707 1,707

Exchange adjustments – 197 – 197

At 31 December 2023 – 13,918 17,072 30,990

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2023 32,789 – 38,406 71,195

At 31 December 2022 32,323 – 43,242 75,565



MANPOWERGROUP GREATER CHINA LIMITED164

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:

Customers relationships 5 years

Softwares 10 years

Trademarks are considered by the management as having indefinite useful lives as they can be renewed at minimal 

cost and are expected to contribute indefinitely to the Group’s net cash inflows. They are not amortised but subject 

to an annual impairment test and whenever there is any impairment indicator. Particulars of the impairment testing is 

disclosed in note 17.

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of investments in associates 27,851 23,851

Share of post-acquisition profits and other comprehensive income, 

net of dividends received 8,018 5,931

35,869 29,782

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of company

Country of 

incorporation/

operation

Proportion of ownership 

interest held by the Group

Proportion of voting rights 

held by the Group

Principal 

activities

2023 2022 2023 2022

上海金盞企業管理有限公司
Shanghai Jinzhou Enterprise 

Management Co., Ltd.*

PRC 34% 34% 34% 34% Human resource services

北京萬智國際人力資源服務
有限公司 (formerly known as

北京萬智國際人力資源
有限公司)

Beijing Wanzhi International 

Human Resources Service

Co., Ltd.*

PRC 35% 35% 35% 35% Human resource services

匯智盛華（瀋陽）人力資源
服務有限公司
Huizhishenghua (Shenyang) 

Human Resources 

Services Co., Ltd.*

PRC 20% 20% 20% 20% Human resource services
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Name of company

Country of 

incorporation/

operation

Proportion of ownership 

interest held by the Group

Proportion of voting rights 

held by the Group

Principal 

activities

2023 2022 2023 2022

南京盛華領航企業管理
諮詢有限公司
Nanjing Shenghua Linghang 

Enterprise Management 

Consultancy Co., Ltd.*

PRC 34% 34% 34% 34% Human resource services

中瑞方勝人力資源科技
（北京）有限公司

(formerly known as

中瑞方勝金融服務外包
（北京）有限公司)

ZhongRui Fangsheng Human 

Resources Technology 

(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“ZhongRui 

Fangsheng”) (Note i)

PRC 45% 45% 45% 45% Human resource services

盛邁寶（上海）科技有限公司
Shengmaibo (Shanghai) 

Technology Co., Ltd.* 

(“Shengmaibo”) (Note ii) 

PRC 34% N/A 34% N/A Human resources services

深圳中邁信息技術有限公司
Shenzhen Zhongmai 

Information Technology 

Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongmai”) 

(Note ii) 

PRC 34% N/A 34% N/A Human resources services

上海萬寶弘裕人力資源
有限公司
Shanghai Wanbaohongyu 

Human Resources 

Co., Ltd.* (“Wanbaohongyu”) 

(Note iii) 

PRC 20% N/A 20% N/A Human resources services

* For identification purposes only

Notes:

(i) The Group has the right to appoint one out of three directors on the board of ZhongRui Fangsheng. The directors of the Group 

consider that the Group can exercise significant influence over ZhongRui Fangsheng and it is therefore classified as an associate 

of the Group. The amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition was approximately RMB8.7 million (2022: RMB8.7 million) which 

was included in the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in that associate.

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent third party for investment of 

34% equity interest in Shengmaibo for a consideration of RMB3,400,000 and completed the transaction by June 2023. The Group 

has the right to appoint one out of three directors on the board of Shengmaibo. The directors of the Company considered that the 

Group can exercise significant influence over Shengmaibo and it is therefore classified as an associate of the Group. Shengmaibo 

holds 100% equity interest in Zhongmai. Accordingly, the Group indirectly holds 34% equity interest in Zhongmai.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has entered into an agreement with an independent third party for investment 

of 20% equity interest in Wanbaohongyu for a consideration of RMB600,000 and completed the transaction by June 2023. The 

Group has the right to appoint one out of three directors on the board of Wanbaohongyu. The directors of the Group consider that 

the Group can exercise significant influence over Wanbaohongyu and it is therefore classified as an associate of the Group.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

The Group’s share of profits and total comprehensive income 2,978 4,926

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI
The amount represents unlisted equity investments in the PRC.

In December 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with a former non-controlling shareholder to dispose of 

the Group’s 40.5% equity interest in Reach Human Resource Service (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.* (廣州市銳旗人力資
源服務有限公司) (“Guangzhou Reach”), a subsidiary which carried out the Group’s operation under the brand of 

“ReachHR” in the PRC, at a consideration of RMB20,250,000. The disposal was completed on 12 December 2018, 

on which date control of Guangzhou Reach passed to the acquirer. Upon such disposal, the Group holds 19.5% 

equity interest in Guangzhou Reach and does not have control or significant influence in Guangzhou Reach. The 

Group accounts for such equity investments as equity instruments at FVTOCI at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of 

the Company have elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that 

recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the 

Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in 

the long run.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value loss of RMB746,000 (2022: Nil) was recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

* For identification purposes only
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon during the current 

and prior years:

ECL

provision

Accrued 

payroll 

expenses

Withholding 

tax on 

undistributed 

profits

Other 

intangible 

assets Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 1,979 2,542 (6,423) (14,704) 2,989 (13,617)

(Charge) credit to profit or loss (766) (316) (9,621) 63 2,692 (7,948)

Release upon distribution of 

profits from a subsidiary – – 6,743 – – 6,743

Exchange adjustments – (34) (320) (249) 23 (580)

At 31 December 2022 1,213 2,192 (9,621) (14,890) 5,704 (15,402)

Credit (charge) to profit or loss 180 (124) (7,052) 293 2,025 (4,678)

Release upon distribution of 

profits from a subsidiary – – 9,688 – – 9,688

Exchange adjustments – 33 (69) 156 (256) (136)

At 31 December 2023 1,393 2,101 (7,054) (14,441) 7,473 (10,528)

Under the EIT Law of PRC and relevant laws and regulations in Taiwan, withholding tax is imposed on dividends 

declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards and Taiwan subsidiaries, 

that are received by non-local resident entities. During the year ended 31 December 2023, deferred tax liabilities of 

RMB7,052,000 (2022: RMB9,621,000) has been provided for in respect of the temporary differences arising from 

the undistributed profits of Taiwan subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated 

financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries 

in aggregate amounting to RMB342.4 million (2022: RMB283.4 million) as at 31 December 2023, as the Group 

is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 863,853 681,439

Less: allowance for credit losses (8,031) (6,496)

Total trade receivables 855,822 674,943

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 49,500 42,827

Consideration receivables (Note) 8,168 10,018

Total trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 913,490 727,788

Analysed as:

– Non-current 25,474 27,499

– Current 888,016 700,289

913,490 727,788

Note: The outstanding consideration receivables from the disposal of Guangzhou Reach of RMB9,191,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022: 

RMB11,489,000) will be settled by instalments by December 2027 and were, accordingly, to be adjusted for the effect of the time 

value of money using an effective interest rate of 4.9% per annum. Such consideration receivables are recorded on the consolidated 

statement of financial position of the Group as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables:

– Non-current 5,977 7,827

– Current 2,191 2,191

8,168 10,018

As at 31 December 2023, included in trade receivables of approximately RMB1,243,000 (2022: RMBNil) are traded-

related amounts due from associates.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers, net of allowance for credit losses,  

amounted to approximately RMB647,197,000.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the 

invoice date:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0–30 days 763,713 634,919

31–60 days 38,727 18,652

61–90 days 17,362 9,204

Over 90 days 36,020 12,168

855,822 674,943

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying 

amount of approximately RMB94,896,000 (2022: RMB36,383,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set in note 33.

23. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) A SHAREHOLDER/RELATED COMPANIES/NCI 
SHAREHOLDERS
The amount due from a related company (which is an associate of the Company) of approximately RMB3,497,000 

(2022: Nil) at 31 December 2023 is non-trade related, unsecured, carries interest at 6% per annum and repayable 

on demand.

The remaining amounts due from related companies (which are subsidiaries of a shareholder of the Company) of 

approximately RMB309,000 (2022: RMB296,000) at 31 December 2023 are trade related, unsecured, non-interest 

bearing and repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2022, the amounts due from NCI Shareholders were non-trade related, unsecured, carried interest 

ranging from 2% to 5% per annum and repayable on demand.
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23. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) A SHAREHOLDER/RELATED COMPANIES/NCI 
SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
The following is an ageing analysis of amounts due from related companies (trade related) at the end of the reporting 

period, presented based on the invoice date:

Amounts due from 

related companies

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0–30 days 105 292

31–60 days 48 –

61–90 days 77 –

Over 90 days 79 4

309 296

Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from related companies are set out in note 33.

The amount due to a shareholder of approximately RMB7,986,000 (2022: RMB7,872,000) at 31 December 2023 

are non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The remaining amount due to a shareholder of approximately RMB2,868,000 (2022: RMB2,708,000) and the 

amounts due to related companies of approximately RMB1,299,000 (2022: RMB510,000) at 31 December 2023 

are trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of amounts due to a shareholder and related companies (trade related) at the 

end of the reporting period, presented based on the invoice date:

Amount due to 

a shareholder

Amounts due to 

related companies

2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

0–30 days 1,037 921 1,047 510

31–60 days 828 763 – –

61–90 days 611 890 96 –

Over 90 days 392 134 156 –

2,868 2,708 1,299 510
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24. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER 
THREE MONTHS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Restricted bank deposits represent bank deposits which are restricted for surety bonds issued to the Group by 

banks (see note 34) for service contracts as requested by customers. As at 31 December 2023, the restricted 

bank deposits carried interest ranging from 0.5% to 1.4% (2022: 0.92%) per annum. The restricted bank deposits 

amounted to approximately RMB231,000 and RMB48,778,000 will be released in October 2024 and January 2027, 

respectively.

Time deposits with original maturity over three months of approximately RMB228,705,000 (2022: RMB183,710,000) 

represent fixed deposits with maturity more than three months from the date of acquisition which carried interest at 

prevailing market rate of 3.04% (2022: 3.03%) per annum as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances carried interest at prevailing market rates of 0.005% to 3.40% (2022: 

0.005% to 3.40%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 33.

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 12,745 13,339

Accrued payroll and other expenses 655,121 574,572

Other tax payables 28,374 32,795

696,240 620,706

The following is an aged analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting period, presented based on the 

invoice date:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0–30 days 12,601 13,265

31–60 days – 7

61–90 days 144 67

12,745 13,339

As at 31 December 2023, included in trade and other payables of approximately RMB2,473,000 (2022: 

RMB976,000) is trade-related amount due to an associate and RMB100,000 (2022: RMBNil) is non-trade related 

amount due to an associate.
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The Group requires advanced payments from certain customers mainly from flexible staffing services. When the 

Group receives advanced payments before the service commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the 

commencement of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the 

advanced payments. All of the contract liabilities at the end of the reporting period were recognised as revenue in 

subsequent year.

At 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to approximately RMB33,331,000.

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year 25,280 25,110

Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years 11,614 20,753

Within a period of more than two years but not more than five years 2,953 10,009

39,847 55,872

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown 

under current liabilities (25,280) (25,110)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown 

under non-current liabilities 14,567 30,762

Rental deposits were approximately RMB8.2 million (2022: RMB8.3 million) as of 31 December 2023. During the 

year ended 31 December 2023, approximately RMB0.5 million (2022: RMB3.3 million) was paid for lease liabilities.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 3.37% to 4.75% (2022: 

3.37% to 4.90%).
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28. SHARE CAPITAL

Par value

Number of 

shares Amount

Shown in the

consolidated 

financial 

statements

HK$ RMB’000

Ordinary shares

Authorised:

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 

and 31 December 2023 HK$0.01 1,520,000,000 15,200,000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2022 HK$0.01 207,500,000 2,075,000 1,830

Exercise of share options HK$0.01 5,000 50 –*

At 31 December 2022 and 2023 HK$0.01 207,505,000 2,075,050 1,830

* Less than RMB1,000.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(i) Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 5 June 

2019 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 5 

June 2029, subjected to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the board of directors. 

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees, including 

directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained 

outstanding under the Scheme was 6,824,375 (2022: 10,253,625), representing 3.3% (2022: 4.9%) of the 

shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be 

granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue immediately 

upon completion of the global offering of the shares of the Company, without prior approval from the 

Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted 

and may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period up to date of offer is not permitted to exceed 

an aggregate 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the 

Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors 

in excess of an aggregate 0.1% of the Company’s share in issue in the 12-month period up to and including 

the date of offer and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the 

Company’s shareholders.

The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the board of directors in its absolute 

discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. The exercise 

price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price 

of the Company’s shares on the date of offer, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five business 

days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(i) Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

On 20 September 2019, the Company granted 3,862,000 share options at exercise price of HK$10.94 per 

share option (“2019 Share Options”), which are accepted by the grantees, to subscribe for an aggregate of 

3,862,000 shares under the Scheme. On 9 April 2021, the Company modified the vesting conditions of the 

2019 Share Options. After the modification, the 2019 Share Options shall be vested on 20 September 2022 

conditionally upon fulfillment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Group’s audited 

revenue or adjusted net profit. The incremental fair value will be expensed over the remaining vesting periods.

On 8 April 2020, the Company granted 3,967,000 share options at exercise price of HK$8.76 per share option 

(“2020 Share Options”), which are accepted by the grantees, to subscribe for an aggregate of 3,967,000 

shares under the Scheme. The 2020 Share Options shall be vested on 8 April 2023 conditionally upon 

fulfillment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Company’s audited net profit. On 9 April 

2021, the Company modified certain terms of the 2020 Share Options. After the modification, 50% of the 

2020 Share Options and 50% of the 2020 Share Options shall be vested on 7 April 2022 and 7 April 2023, 

respectively, conditionally upon fulfillment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Group’s 

audited revenue or adjusted net profit. The incremental fair value will be expensed over the remaining vesting 

periods.

On 9 April 2021, the Company granted 3,858,000 share options at exercise price of HK$10.00 per share 

option (“2021 Share Options”), which are accepted by the grantees, to subscribe for an aggregate of 

3,858,000 shares under the Scheme. The 2021 Share Options shall be vested in two tranches, among which, 

1,929,000 share options (the “Tranche 1 Share Options”) granted shall be vested on 8 April 2022 and another 

1,929,000 share options (the “Tranche 2 Share Options”) granted shall be vested on 8 April 2023, respectively, 

conditionally upon fulfillment of the performance targets based on the growth rate of the Company’s audited 

revenue or adjusted profit.

On 31 March 2022, the Company granted 3,930,000 share options at exercise price of HK$8.61 per share 

option (“2022 Share Options”), which are accepted by the grantees, to subscribe for an aggregate of 3,930,000 

shares under the Share Options Scheme. The 2022 Share Options shall be vested in two tranches, among 

which, 1,965,000 Share Options (the “2022 Tranche 1 Share Options”) granted shall be vested on 30 March 

2023 and another 1,965,000 Share Options (the “2022 Tranche 2 Share Options”) granted shall be vested on 

30 March 2024 subject to below vesting conditions:

2022 Tranche 1 Share Options

(i) 25% of Tranche 1 Share Options shall be vested on 30 March 2023 with no performance targets 

requirement;

(ii) 75% of Tranche 1 Share Options shall be vested on 30 March 2023 conditionally upon fulfilment of the 

performance targets based on the growth rate of the Group’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit.

2022 Tranche 2 Share Options

(i) 25% of Tranche 2 Share Options shall be vested on 30 March 2024 with no performance targets 

requirement;

(ii) 75% of Tranche 2 Share Options shall be vested on 30 March 2024 conditionally upon fulfilment of the 

performance targets based on the growth rate of the Group’s audited revenue or adjusted net profit.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(i) Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

The following tables disclose movements of the Company’s share options:

2023

Number of share options

Exercise
price

Date of
grant

Outstanding
at 1 January

2023
Forfeited

during year

Outstanding
at

31 December
 2023

Directors HK$10.94 20 September 2019 150,000 – 150,000
HK$8.76 8 April 2020 281,250 (56,250) 225,000
HK$10.00 9 April 2021 375,000 (75,000) 300,000
HK$8.61 31 March 2022 400,000 (50,000) 350,000

Employees HK$10.94 20 September 2019 1,474,500 (372,000) 1,102,500
HK$8.76 8 April 2020 1,855,750 (640,000) 1,215,750
HK$10.00 9 April 2021 2,452,125 (863,625) 1,588,500
HK$8.61 31 March 2022 3,265,000 (1,372,375) 1,892,625

10,253,625 (3,429,250) 6,824,375

Exercisable at the end of the year 3,750,125 5,542,875

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 9.39 9.27 9.45

2022

Number of share options

Exercise
price

Date of
grant

Outstanding
at 1 January

2022
Granted

during year
Exercised

during year
Forfeited

during year

Outstanding
at

31 December
 2022

Directors HK$10.94 20 September 2019 200,000 – – (50,000) 150,000
HK$8.76 8 April 2020 300,000 – – (18,750) 281,250
HK$10.00 9 April 2021 400,000 – – (25,000) 375,000
HK$8.61 31 March 2022 – 400,000 – – 400,000

Employees HK$10.94 20 September 2019 2,238,000 – – (763,500) 1,474,500
HK$8.76 8 April 2020 2,523,000 – (5,000) (662,250) 1,855,750
HK$10.00 9 April 2021 3,300,000 – – (847,875) 2,452,125
HK$8.61 31 March 2022 – 3,530,000 – (265,000) 3,265,000

8,961,000 3,930,000 (5,000) (2,632,375) 10,253,625

Exercisable at the end of the year – 3,750,125

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 9.87 8.61 8.76 9.83 9.39

The estimated fair values of the options granted on 20 September 2019, 8 April 2020, 9 April 2021 and 
31 March 2022 were approximately RMB4,370,000, RMB3,762,000, RMB5,703,000 and RMB5,066,000, 
respectively. In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2022, the weighted 
average share price of the date of exercise was HK$8.76.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(i) Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2022

Share Options

Exercise price HK$8.61

Expected volatility 38.05%

Expected life 4-5 years

Risk-free rate 1.80%-1.97%

Expected dividend yield 4.30%

Exercise multiple 2.2-2.8

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of comparable companies as an estimate. 

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects 

of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately RMB1,937,000 (2022: RMB6,572,000) for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions 

used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an 

option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

(ii) RSU Scheme of the Company
The Company’s RSU Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 June 2021 for the primary 

purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees. The RSU Scheme will be valid and effective 

for a period of ten years commencing on 10 June 2021.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the RSU Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs 

that have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the RSU Scheme) shall not exceed 2.5% of 

the number of shares in issue from time to time.

The Company has entered into a trust deed with the trustee for the purpose of facilitating the purchase and 

holding of shares of the Company and the administration of the RSU Scheme. During the year ended 31 

December 2021, the Company purchased 871,105 shares of the Company’s own ordinary shares in the 

market through the trustee of the Company’s RSU Scheme, at prices ranging from HK$8.91 to HK$9.49 per 

share for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$6,792,000.

On 10 June 2021, an aggregate of 780,000 RSUs (“2021 June RSU Awards”) were granted to directors and 

eligible employees pursuant to the RSU Scheme, representing 0.38% of the shares of the Company in issue 

at that date. The fair value of the RSUs granted is measured with reference to the closing price of the ordinary 

shares of the Company at the grant date. The 2021 June RSU Awards shall be vested conditionally over 36 

months from the grant date. The 2021 June RSU Awards will be satisfied, upon the satisfaction or waiver of all 

the relevant vesting conditions, by existing shares of the Company to be acquired by the trustee through on-

market purchases.

On 9 September 2021, an aggregate of 91,105 RSUs (“2021 September RSU Awards”) were granted to 
directors pursuant to the RSU Scheme, representing 0.044% of the shares of the Company in issue at that 
date. The fair value of the RSUs granted is measured with reference to the closing price of the ordinary shares 
of the Company at the grant date. The 2021 September RSU Awards shall be vested conditionally over 36 
months from the grant date. The 2021 September RSU Awards will be satisfied, upon the satisfaction or 
waiver of all the relevant vesting conditions, by existing shares of the Company to be acquired by the trustee 
through on-market purchases.



Annual Report 2023 177

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(ii) RSU Scheme of the Company (Continued)

On 31 March 2022, an aggregate of 1,031,000 RSUs (“2022 March RSU Awards”) were granted to directors 

of the Company and eligible employees pursuant to the RSU Scheme, representing 0.5% of the shares of 

the Company as at the date. The fair value of the RSUs granted is measured with reference to the closing 

price of the ordinary shares of the Company at the grant date. The 2022 March RSU Awards shall be vested 

conditionally over 36 months from the grant date. The 2022 March RSU Awards will be satisfied, upon the 

satisfaction or waiver of all the relevant vesting conditions, by existing shares of the Company to be acquired 

by the trustee through on-market purchases.

On 30 March 2023, an aggregate of 2,492,000 RSUs (“2023 March RSU Awards”) were granted to directors 

of the Company and eligible employees pursuant to the RSU Scheme, representing 1.2% of the shares of 

he Company as at that date. The fair value of the RSUs granted is measured with reference to the closing 

price of the ordinary shares of the Company at the grant date. The 2023 March RSU Awards shall be vested 

conditionally over 12 to 36 months from the grant date. The 2023 March RSU Awards will be satisfied, upon 

the satisfaction or waiver of all the relevant vesting conditions, by existing shares of the Company to be 

acquired by the trustee through on-market purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company purchased 27,750 shares (2022: 4,213,750) of the 

Company’s own ordinary shares in the market through the trustee of the RSU Scheme, at prices ranging from 

HK$5.45 to HK$6.00 per share (2022: HK$7.80 to HK$9.29 per share) for an aggregate consideration of 

approximately RMB148,000 (2022: RMB29,745,000).

As at 31 December 2023, 5,112,605 (2022: 5,084,855) of the Company’s own ordinary shares are held by the 

trustee.

The following tables disclose movements of the Company’s RSUs:

Number of restricted share units

Date of grant

Outstanding

at 1 January

2023

Granted

during year

Forfeited

during year

Outstanding

at 

31 December

2023

Directors 10 June 2021 130,000 – – 130,000

9 September 2021 91,105 – (13,015) 78,090

31 March 2022 291,000 – (13,000) 278,000

30 March 2023 – 812,000 (36,000) 776,000

Employees 10 June 2021 521,000 – (162,000) 359,000

31 March 2022 701,000 – (313,000) 388,000

30 March 2023 – 1,680,000 (368,000) 1,312,000

1,734,105 2,492,000 (905,015) 3,321,090
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(ii) RSU Scheme of the Company (Continued)

Number of restricted share units

Date of grant

Outstanding

at 1 January

2022

Granted

during year

Forfeited

during year

Outstanding

at 

31 December

2022

Directors 10 June 2021 130,000 – – 130,000

9 September 2021 91,105 – – 91,105

31 March 2022 – 291,000 – 291,000

Employees 10 June 2021 637,000 – (116,000) 521,000

31 March 2022 – 740,000 (39,000) 701,000

858,105 1,031,000 (155,000) 1,734,105

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately RMB5,757,000 (2022: RMB3,850,000) for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 in relation to RSUs granted by the Company.

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plan

(a) The PRC

The Group’s full-time employees in the PRC are covered by a government sponsored defined contribution 

pension scheme, and are entitled to a monthly pension from their retirement dates. The PRC Government 

is responsible for the pension liability to these retired employees. The Group is required to make annual 

contributions to the retirement plan at a rate of 12% to 20% (2022: 12% to 20%) of employees’ salaries, which 

are charged to profit or loss as an expense when the contributions are due.

(b) Hong Kong

The Group participates in a pension scheme, which was registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance (the “MPF Ordinance”), for all its employees in Hong Kong. The mandatory provident fund 

scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) is a defined contribution scheme and is funded by contributions from employers 

and employees according to the provisions of the MPF Ordinance.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the MPF Scheme are each set at 5% of the employees’ 

salaries up to a maximum of HK$1,500 since 1 June 2014 per employee per month. The Group’s contributions 

to the MPF Scheme are fully and immediately vested to the employees once they are paid.

(c) Taiwan

According to the Labor Pension Act in Taiwan, for employees who are hired on or after 1 July 2005, an 

employer is required to contribute each month an amount equivalent to at least 6% of each employee’s 

monthly salary into the employee’s personal pension fund account at the Bureau of Labor Insurance. The 

employees may also voluntarily contribute up to 6% of their monthly salaries to the personal pension fund 

account.

The Taiwan defined contribution scheme was established under trust with the assets of the funds held 

separately from those of the Group by independent trustees.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Contribution Plan (Continued)

(d) Macau

Eligible employees in Macau are covered by a government-mandated defined contribution plan pursuant to 

which a fixed amount of retirement benefit would be determined by the Macau Government. Contributions are 

generally made by both employees and employers by paying a fixed amount on a monthly basis to the Social 

Security Fund managed by the Macau Government. The Group funds the entire contribution and has no further 

commitments beyond its monthly contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes in the PRC, 

Hong Kong and Taiwan and charged to profit or loss, which represent contributions payable to the schemes by the 

Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes are approximately RMB711,312,000 (2022: RMB653,142,000).

Defined Benefit Plan

(a) Hong Kong

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying 

employees in Hong Kong upon retirement, subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the 

following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) × 2/3 × Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of LSP shall not exceed HK$390,000. This 

obligation is accounted for as a post -employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPF Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s mandatory MPF 

contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible Offset Amount”), for 

the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement’).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazette on 17 June 2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits 

derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect 

on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to 

introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP 

payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/

negative returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP 

obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP. On the other hand, the accrued benefits 

derived from the Group’s voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-transition can continue to be used to 

offset pre- and post-transition LSP.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

(b) Taiwan

A subsidiary of the Group in Taiwan also participates in a defined benefit retirement scheme for its eligible 

employees in Taiwan (the “Taiwan Scheme”). Under the Taiwan Scheme, the employees are entitled to 

retirement benefits calculated on the basis of the length of service and average monthly salaries before the 

attainment of a retirement age of 65. The employer contributes amounts equal to 2% of the employees’ total 

monthly salary and no contribution is required from the employee. The assets of the Taiwan Schemes are held 

under a government-run trust separate from those of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the 

Company assessed the present value of the defined benefits obligations based on an actuarial valuation of plan 

assets performed by an independent professionally qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The plan in Taiwan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk 

and salary risk.

Investment risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 

determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan 

asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has a relatively 

balanced investment in equity instruments and debt instruments. Due to the long-term 

nature of the plan liabilities, the board of the pension fund considers it is appropriate 

that a reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity instruments 

to leverage the return generated by the fund.

Interest rate risk A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be 

partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

Salary risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to 

the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan 

participants will increase the plan’s liability.

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2023 2022

% %

Discount rate 1.38 1.50

Expected rate of long-term salary increases 4.00 4.00

The actuarial valuation showed that the market value of plan assets at 31 December 2023 was approximately 

RMB1,884,000 (2022: RMB1,829,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets represented 193% (2022: 

178%) of the benefits that had accrued to members.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of 

these defined benefit plans are as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Past service cost 16 –

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 15 9

Interest income on plan assets (27) (12)

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss 4 (3)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability:

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions 17 (129)

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments (99) (104)

Gain on plan assets (11) (129)

Income tax related to actuarial losses from remeasurement of 

defined benefit obligations 19 72

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other 

comprehensive income (74) (290)

Total (70) (293)

The expense for the year has been included in salaries, bonus and pension expenses. The remeasurement of the 

net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive income.

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in 

respect of the plan is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fair value of plan assets 1,884 1,829

Present value of funded obligations (977) (1,027)

Net asset arising from defined benefit obligations 907 802
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations in the current year were as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 1,027 1,268

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions 17 (129)

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments (99) (104)

Past service cost 16 –

Benefits paid (16) –

Interest expense 15 9

Exchange differences 17 (17)

At 31 December 977 1,027

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets in the current year were as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 1,829 1,708

Gain on plan assets (excluding interest income on plan assets) 11 129

Benefits paid (16) –

Interest income 27 12

Exchange differences 33 (20)

At 31 December 1,884 1,829

The fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category, are as follows:

Fair value of plan assets

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank deposits 294 299

Equity instruments 875 853

Debt instruments 518 480

Others 197 197

At 31 December 1,884 1,829
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Plan (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the actual return on plan assets was approximately RMB27,000 (2022: 

RMB12,000).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rate and expected 

salary increase. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 

respective assumptions occurring at the end of reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

• If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by 

approximately RMB35,000 (increase by approximately RMB37,000) (2022: decrease by approximately 

RMB39,000 (increase by approximately RMB41,000)).

• If the expected salary growth increases (decreases) by 0.25%, the defined benefit obligation would increase 

by approximately RMB36,000 (decrease by approximately RMB34,000) (2022: increase by approximately 

RMB37,000 (decrease by approximately RMB38,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 

obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the 

assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has 

been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that 

applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 

position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 19 January 2022, the Group acquired 51.1% equity interest in PGH, which is engaged in flexible staffing 

business, by capital contribution of RMB7,665,000 into PGH to complement the Group’s flexible staffing business. 

This acquisition was completed on 21 January 2022 and had been accounted for using the acquisition method.
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31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Consideration transferred

RMB’000

Cash 7,665

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB324,000 had been excluded from the consideration transferred and had 

been recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2022, within the “administrative expenses ” line 

item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

RMB’000

Trade and other receivables 8,466

Bank balances and cash 20

Intangible assets 7,300

Trade and other payable (1,245)

14,541

The receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables) with a fair value of RMB8,466,000 at the 

date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of RMB8,466,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the 

contractual cash flows not expected to be collected amounted to nil.
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31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in PGH (48.9%) recognised at the acquisition date were measured by reference to the 

proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of PGH and amounted to approximately RMB7,133,000.

The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was RMB257,000. None of the goodwill arising on the 

acquisition was expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 7,665

Add: non-controlling interests 7,133

Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired (14,541)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 257

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of PGH because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of PGH and 

some potential contracts which were still under negotiation with prospective new customers as at the date of 

acquisition. These benefits were not recognised separately from goodwill because they did not meet the recognition 

criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions was expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of PGH

RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired 20
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 

strategy remained unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes amount due to a shareholder (non-trade 

related) disclosed in note 23, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, 

comprising issued share capital and reserves.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Equity instruments at FVTOCI 8,959 9,705

Amortised cost 1,871,441 1,657,963

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 24,898 24,429

Lease liabilities 39,847 55,872

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, amount due to a shareholder, 

amounts due from (to) related companies, amounts due from NCI Shareholders, time deposits with original 

maturity over three months, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, lease liabilities and trade and 

other payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated 

with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit 

risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages 

and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective 

manner.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Inter-company balances of the Company and certain subsidiaries are denominated in US$ which are 

exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. 

However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging of significant 

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 

liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Inter-company balances

US$ 94,823 107,705 94,823 107,705

Sensitivity analysis

The foreign currency financial liabilities denominated in US$ are arising from group entities with HK$ as 

functional currency. As HK$ is pegged to US$, the foreign currency exchange risk is considered to be 

limited. For the entity having significant US$ financial assets where RMB is the functional currency, it has 

exposure to the foreign currency exchange risk to US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase in RMB against US$. 5% 

(2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 

possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 

currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for 

a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates decrease in post-

tax profit where RMB strengthens 5% (2022: 5%) against US$. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of RMB 

against US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the result.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Impact of US$ on profit/loss for the year (3,556) (3,427)

The directors of the Company considered the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent 

foreign exchange rate as the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the relevant years.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate amounts due from related 

Companies (see note 23 for details), time deposits with original maturity over three months (see note 24 

for details) and lease liabilities (see note 27 for details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest 

rate risk in relation to variable rate restricted bank deposits and bank balances (see note 24 for details).

Management has considered the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable 

rate restricted bank deposits and bank balances to be limited. 

The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest 

rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook.

(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its unquoted investments measured at FVTOCI. The 

Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure 

should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting 

date. Sensitivity analyses for equity instruments at FVTOCI, which are unquoted equity securities with fair 

value measurement categorised within Level 3, were disclosed in note 33c.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations resulting in 

financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables, 

other receivables, amounts due from related companies and NCI Shareholders, restricted bank deposits, time 

deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral 

or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model. Information about the 

Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if 

applicable, are summarised as below:
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 

credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically. Other 

monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts and 

sufficient allowance on doubtful debts are provided on timely manner. In this regard, the directors of the 

Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau 

and Taiwan, which accounted for 70% (2022: 65%), 18% (2022: 18%) and 12% (2022: 17%) of the total trade 

receivables as at 31 December 2023, respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the 

Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually or 

based on provision matrix. Except for items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for 

impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on different 

groups of customers which share common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ 

ability to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contract terms. Net impairment of approximately 

RMB2,213,000 (2022: RMB4,067,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are 

set out below in this note.

Other receivables, amounts due from related companies and NCI Shareholders

The directors of the Company have taken into account internal credit rating based on the historical default 

experience and credit quality and various external sources of actual and forecast economic information, as 

appropriate, in estimating the probability of default of each of the other financial assets occurring within their 

respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case. For the purpose of 

impairment assessment, the ECL of these financial assets is measured under 12m ECL and considered to be 

immaterial as the counterparties to these `financial assets have a high credit rating.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Restricted bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances

Credit risk on restricted bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank 

balances is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings 

assigned by international credit rating agencies generally. The Group assessed 12m ECL for restricted bank 

deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances by reference to information 

relating to probability of default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published by 

external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on restricted bank deposits, 

time deposits with original maturity over three months and bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on restricted bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over 

three months and bank balances placed in banks in which the counterparties are financially sound, the Group 

has no significant concentration of credit risk with exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal 

credit rating Description Trade receivables

Other financial 

assets

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default, does not have any past-due 

amounts and usually settled within credit period

Lifetime ECL

– not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Watch list Debtor with past-due amounts and frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL

– not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition 

through information developed internally or external resources (with past-due 

amounts within 1 year)

Lifetime ECL

– not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL 

– not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired (with past-due 

amounts over 1 year and no recent repayments)

Lifetime ECL

– credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL 

– not credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty 

and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL 

assessment:

Notes

External 

credit rating

Internal 

credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at 

amortised cost

Trade receivables 22 N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL

(provision matrix)

858,651 676,899

Loss (Note 1) Credit-impaired 5,202 4,540

863,853 681,439

Other receivables 22 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL 27,665 32,549

Amounts due from related 

companies

23 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL 3,806 296

Amounts due from NCI 

Shareholders

23 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL – 12,348

Restricted bank deposits 24 A- to A+

(2022: 

BBB+ to A+)

N/A 12m ECL 49,009 9,685

Time deposits with original 

maturity over three months

24 BBB+ to A-

(2022: A-)

N/A 12m ECL 228,705 183,710

Bank balances 24 BBB to AA+

(2022: 

BB+ to AAA)

N/A 12m ECL 706,434 744,432

Total 1,879,472 1,664,459

Notes:

1. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. 

Except for debtors with credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by 

internal credit rating.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

1. (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides 

information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL 

(not credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of approximately RMB5,202,000 as at 31 December 

2023 (2022: RMB4,540,000) were assessed individually.

2023 2022

Average 

loss rate

Gross trade 

receivables ECL

Average 

loss rate

Gross trade 

receivables ECL

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assessed based on provision matrix

Internal credit rating:

Low risk 0.2% 819,156 1,263 0.2% 661,211 1,454

Watch list 4.0% 39,495 1,566 3.2% 15,688 502

858,651 2,829 676,899 1,956

Assessed individually

Loss 100% 5,202 5,202 100% 4,540 4,540

863,853 8,031 681,439 6,496

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are 

adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by 

management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified 

approach.

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 2,099 7,362 9,461

Transfer to credit-impaired (700) 700 –

Impairment losses reversed (423) (2,059) (2,482)

Impairment losses recognised 980 5,569 6,549

Write-offs – (7,032) (7,032)

As at 31 December 2022 1,956 4,540 6,496

Transfer to credit-impaired (1,038) 1,038 –

Impairment losses reversed (856) (5,460) (6,316)

Impairment losses recognised 2,767 5,762 8,529

Write-offs – (678) (678)

As at 31 December 2023 2,829 5,202 8,031
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

1. (Continued)

All of the above impairment losses related to receivables arising from contracts with customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment loss of approximately RMB2,767,000 (2022: RMB980,000) was 

recognised for not-credit-impaired trade receivables and impairment allowance for trade receivables of approximately 

RMB6,316,000 (2022: RMB2,482,000) was reversed resulting from subsequent settlement. Impairment loss of approximately 

RMB5,762,000 (2022: RMB5,569,000) was made on credit-impaired debtors during the year ended 31 December 2023.

2. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balance is not past due and the internal credit rating is considered as low risk.

Liquidity risk
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an 

appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and 

long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

adequate reserves and banking facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and 

matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 

fluctuations in cash flows of the Group.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 

The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed 

using contractual rates of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to 

pay. The maturity date for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

Repayable on 

demand or 

less than 

1 year 1-5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – 12,745 – 12,745 12,745

Amount due to a shareholder – 10,854 – 10,854 10,854

Amounts due to related companies – 1,299 – 1,299 1,299

Lease liabilities 4.46 26,863 14,985 41,848 39,847

51,761 14,985 66,746 64,745
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

Repayable on 

demand or 

less than 

1 year 1-5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – 13,339 – 13,339 13,339

Amount due to a shareholder – 10,580 – 10,580 10,580

Amounts due to related companies – 510 – 510 510

Lease liabilities 4.61 27,035 31,928 58,963 55,872

51,464 31,928 83,392 80,301

c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values to various financial assets and 

financial liabilities.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring 

basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 

following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into 

which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the 

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market 

for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 

derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 

the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring 

basis (Continued)

Fair value as at

Financial assets 

31 December Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation 

techniques and 

key inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Relationship of 

unobservable inputs to 

fair value2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity investments 

classified as equity 

instruments at FVTOCI

8,959 9,705 Level 3 Income approach

– in this approach, the discounted 

cash flow method was used to 

capture the present value of the 

expected future economic benefits 

to be derived from the ownership 

of this investee, based on an 

appropriate discount rate.

Discount rate of 

18.47% 

(2022: 21.07%)

The higher the discount rate, the lower 

the fair value. A 1% increase in 

the discount rate, holding all other 

variables constant, would decrease 

the carrying amount of the equity 

investments by RMB353,000 

(2022: RMB88,000), vice versa.

There was no transfer among the different levels of the fair value hierarchy for both years.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Unlisted 

investments 

classified 

as equity 

instruments 

at FVTOCI

RMB’000

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 9,705

Fair value loss in other comprehensive income (746)

As at 31 December 2023 8,959

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their 

fair values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 

based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

(iv) Fair value measurement and valuation process

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent 

it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group may engage third party qualified valuers 

to perform the valuation or obtain relevant data from the banks or other relevant parties, if applicable. 

The finance department of the Company works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the 

appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets 

and liabilities are disclosed above.

34. SURETY BONDS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY
Certain customers of service contracts undertaken by the Group require the Group to issue guarantees for 

performance of contract works in the form of surety bonds.

The Group had outstanding performance bonds, for which certain restricted bank deposits are pledged (note 24), as 

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Issued by the banks 49,009 9,685
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35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 

flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Amount 

due to a 

shareholder

(non-trade 

nature)

Lease 

liabilities

Dividends 

payables Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 7,204 44,970 – 52,174

Financing cash flows – (37,812) (349,792) (387,604)

Non-cash changes

Interest expense recognised (note 8) – 2,366 – 2,366

Dividends declared – – 349,792 349,792

New leases entered – 43,835 – 43,835

Exchange adjustments 668 2,513 – 3,181

At 31 December 2022 7,872 55,872 – 63,744

Financing cash flows – (30,169) (31,385) (61,554)

Non-cash changes

Interest expense recognised (note 8) – 1,838 – 1,838

Dividends declared – – 31,385 31,385

New leases entered – 13,930 – 13,930

Disposal of a subsidiary – (1,417) – (1,417)

Exchange adjustments 114 (207) – (93)

At 31 December 2023 7,986 39,847 – 47,833
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the 

Group has entered into the following significant transactions with related parties:

Nature of transaction 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

A shareholder License fee expense 9,304 9,457

Information technology services expense 1 13

Manpower Employment Outlook Survey 

license fee expense 375 386

Related companies Flexible staffing service income 2,204 4,008

Flexible staffing service expense 12,771 835

Other HR services income 766 663

Other HR services expense 7 18

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 11,582 13,448

Post-employment benefits 123 260

Equity-settled share-based payments 2,311 2,535

14,016 16,243

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 

the performance of individuals and market trends.
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
General information of principal subsidiaries

Details of the principal subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company at the end of the reporting period are 

set out below.

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid capital/

registered capital

Equity interest attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

2023 2022

Directly held:

ManpowerGroup Greater 

China (BVI) Limited

BVI 

30 September 

2014

HK$334,296,674 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held:

萬寶盛華人力資源（中國）
有限公司

ManpowerGroup (China) 

Human Resources Co., Ltd.*^

Shanghai

18 March 2003

US$4,800,000 100% 100% Human resource services

萬寶盛華企業管理諮詢（上海）
有限公司

Manpower Enterprise 

Management Consulting 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*^

Shanghai

10 February 2012

RMB20,000,000

(2022:

RMB5,000,000)

100% 100% Human resource services

萬寶盛華信息科技（上海）
有限公司

Manpower Information 

Technology (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd.*^

Shanghai 

25 July 2014

RMB50,050,000

(2022:

RMB2,000,000)

100% 100% Human resource services

萬寶盛華睿信教育科技廣東
有限公司

Manpower Ruixin Education 

Technology Guangdong 

Co., Ltd.*^

Foshan 

18 August 2016

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Career training

萬寶瑞華人才管理諮詢（上海）
有限公司

Experis Management Consulting 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*^

Shanghai 

22 May 2012

RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Human resource services
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid capital/

registered capital

Equity interest attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

2023 2022

Indirectly held: (Continued)

萬寶瑞華人才管理諮詢（北京）
有限公司

Experis Management Consulting 

(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*^

Beijing 

12 January 2015

RMB500,000 100% 100% Human resource services

Xi’an Fesco# Xi’an 

29 May 1997

RMB2,000,000 60% 60% Human resource services

睿仕管理諮詢（上海）有限公司
Right Management Consulting 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*^

Shanghai 

20 January 2015

RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Out placement and 

leadership development 

services

萬寶瑞華人才管理諮詢（深圳）
有限公司

Experis Management Consulting 

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.^

Shenzhen 

8 May 2019

RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Human resource services

招才招單信息科技（上海）
有限公司^

Shanghai 

17 January 2020

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Consultancy services

萬寶簡斯（上海）智能科技
有限公司^

Jansis Intelligent Technology 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*

Shanghai 

6 March 2020

RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Consultancy services

Experis Management Consulting 

(Chengdu) Co., Ltd.^

Chengdu 

22 June 2022

RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Enterprise management 

consulting

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid capital/

registered capital

Equity interest attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

2023 2022

Indirectly held: (Continued)

ManpowerGroup Greater 

China (HK) Limited

Hong Kong 

8 October 2014

HK$299,558,242 100% 100% Investment holding

Manpower Services HK Hong Kong 

6 January 1997

HK$65,982,834 100% 100% Human resource services

ManpowerGroup Solutions 

Holdings Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong 

8 October 2014

HK$43,026,193 60% 60% Investment holding

Legal Futures (HK) Limited Hong Kong 

20 September 

2002

HK$10,000 100% 100% Executive recruitment 

consultancy service

Event Elite Hong Kong 

12 July 2000

HK$14,286 51% 51% Event Management Services

Manpower Services (Macau) 

Limited

Macau 

26 July 2007

MOP300,000 100% 100% Human resource services

Right Management Hong Kong 

Holdings Limited 

Hong Kong 

20 October 2014

HK$1 100% 100% Out placement and leadership 

development services

Manpower Outsourcing 

Services (Macau) Limited

Macau 

6 July 2017

MOP25,000 100% 100% Human resource services

萬寶華企業管理顧問股份
有限公司

Manpower Services (Taiwan) 

Co., Ltd.*

Taiwan 

23 July 1997

Ordinary shares

 TWD10,000,000

60% 60% Human resource services

* For identification purposes only
^ These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC.
# This subsidiary is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 

results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in 

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group that has material non-controlling 

interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation and 

principal place of 

business

Proportion of 

ownership interests 

and voting rights held by 

non-controlling interests

Profit allocated to 

non-controlling interests

Accumulated 

non-controlling interests

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ManpowerGroup Solutions 

Holdings Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong and Taiwan 40% 40% 17,345 16,663 91,542 73,271

Individually immaterial subsidiaries 

with non-controlling interests

2,771 208 17,579 22,603

20,116 16,871 109,121 95,874

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is 

set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ManpowerGroup Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited and its subsidiaries

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 369,413 294,780

Non-current assets 9,634 9,370

Current liabilities 143,140 111,351

Non-current liabilities 7,052 9,621

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 137,313 109,907

Non-controlling interests of ManpowerGroup 

Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited 91,542 73,271
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests 

(Continued)

ManpowerGroup Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited and its subsidiaries (Continued)

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 1,065,691 1,007,597

Expenses 1,022,328 965,945

Profit for the year 43,363 41,652

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 26,018 24,989

Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests of ManpowerGroup 

Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited 17,345 16,663

Profit for the year 43,363 41,652

Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 1,388 2,364

Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests of 

ManpowerGroup Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited 926 1,572

Other comprehensive income for the year 2,314 3,936

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 27,406 27,353

Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests of 

ManpowerGroup Solutions Holdings Hong Kong Limited 18,271 18,235

Total comprehensive income for the year 45,677 45,588

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 118,716 56,402

Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (46,677) 3,463

Net cash outflow from financing activities (38,259) (31,770)

Net cash inflow 33,780 28,095
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 264,960 264,960

Amounts due from subsidiaries 94,823 107,705

359,783 372,665

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other receivables 74 246

Bank balances and cash 4,579 7,827

4,653 8,073

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accruals 10,878 10,073

Amount due to a subsidiary 7,473 –

18,351 10,073

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (13,698) (2,000)

NET ASSETS 346,085 370,665

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital (see note 28) 1,830 1,830

Reserves 344,255 368,835

TOTAL EQUITY 346,085 370,665
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

Share 

premium

Shares held 

for RSU 

Scheme

Share-based

payments

reserve

(Accumulated 

losses)

retained 

profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 760,307 (6,792) 8,986 (37,615) 724,886

Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – – 9,415 9,415

Purchase of shares under RSU 

Scheme – (29,745) – – (29,745)

Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – – 10,423 – 10,423

Exercise of share options 48 – (8) – 40

Dividends paid (346,184) – – – (346,184)

At 31 December 2022 414,171 (36,537) 19,401 (28,200) 368,835

Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – – (9,300) (9,300)

Purchase of shares under RSU 

Scheme – (148) – – (148)

Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – – 7,694 – 7,694

Dividends paid (22,826) – – – (22,826)

At 31 December 2023 391,345 (36,685) 27,095 (37,500) 344,255

39. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group has no significant events after the end of the reporting period.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from continuing operations 5,303,592 4,588,460 3,968,874 3,222,631 3,041,513

Profit for the year from continuing 

operations 146,592 135,477 152,488 133,887 120,478

Profit for the year from discontinued 

operation – – – – –

Profit for the year 146,592 135,477 152,488 133,887 120,478

Profit for the year attributable to owners of 

the Company:

– from continuing operations 126,476 118,606 139,169 126,357 110,149

– from discontinued operation – – – – –

Profit for the year attributable to owners of 

the Company 126,476 118,606 139,169 126,357 110,149

Adjusted profit attributable to owners of 

the Company from continuing operations 135,079 131,771 145,686 136,200 134,975

As at 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets 310,418 279,587 257,936 274,748 259,207

Current assets 1,827,192 1,650,533 1,731,620 1,585,754 1,470,700

Total assets 2,137,610 1,930,120 1,989,556 1,860,502 1,729,907

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity 1,279,962 1,151,047 1,329,774 1,256,405 1,219,075

Non-current liabilities 41,519 55,273 40,382 52,758 57,909

Current liabilities 816,129 723,800 619,400 551,339 452,923

Total liabilities 857,648 779,073 659,782 604,097 510,832

Total equity and liabilities 2,137,610 1,930,120 1,989,556 1,860,502 1,729,907
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